## **Stony Brook University**



# OFFICIAL COPY

The official electronic file of this thesis or dissertation is maintained by the University Libraries on behalf of The Graduate School at Stony Brook University.

© All Rights Reserved by Author.

## Conversion of Vitamin A1 to Vitamin A2 and Its Involvement in the Response of Cultured Human Keratinocytes to UV Irradiation

A Dissertation Presented

by

Juliana lordanova Tafrova

to

The Graduate School

in Partial Fulfillment of the

Requirements

for the Degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

in

Oral Biology and Pathology

Stony Brook University

August 2008

Copyright by

Juliana lordanova Tafrova

2008

Stony Brook University

The Graduate School

Juliana lordanova Tafrova

We, the dissertation committee for the above candidate for the Doctor of Philosophy degree, hereby recommend Acceptance of this dissertation.

Marcia Simon, PhD Professor and Associate Dean for Graduate Studies Department of Oral Biology and Pathology Department of Dermatology

Soosan Ghazizadeh, PhD Associate Professor Department of Oral Biology and Pathology Department of Dermatology

Lorne B. Taichman, MD, PhD *Professor* Department of Oral Biology and Pathology Department of Dermatology

> Kathlyn Parker, PhD Professor Department of Chemistry

Bettie M. Steinberg, Ph.D. Chief Scientific Officer, The Feinstein Institute for Medical Research Dean, Elmezzi Graduate School of Molecular Medicine North Shore - LIJ Health System Chief, Division of Otolaryngology Research Long Island Jewish Medical Center

This dissertation is accepted by the Graduate School

Lawrence Martin Dean of the Graduate School

#### ABSTRACT OF THE DISSERTATION

Conversion of Vitamin A1 to Vitamin A2 and Its Involvement in the Response of Cultured Human Keratinocytes to UV Irradiation

by

Juliana lordanova Tafrova

Doctor of Philosophy

in

Oral Biology and Pathology

Stony Brook University

2008

This study focuses on the significance of Vitamin A1 to A2 conversion and its involvement in the response of human keratinocytes to UV irradiation. Previous work has shown that the Vitamin A system is a direct target of UV radiation and participates in the adaptive response of the cells. Human epidermal keratinocytes are unique in their ability to convert Vitamin A1 to Vitamin A2 retinoids. Even though retinol metabolism is studied extensively, little is known about this conversion. Even less is known about the biological role of this form of retinoid in epidermal cells.

For the first time in this work an *in vitro* conversion of Vitamin A1 to A2 was performed. This was achieved by using sonicates from normal human keratinocytes and SCC13. This converting activity showed enzymatic characteristics and the majority of it was recovered in the fraction containing mostly plasma membrane. Ketoconazole, a known inhibitor of p450 enzymes, inhibits the *in vivo* and *in vitro* conversion of Vitamin A1 to A2. Conversion of Vitamin A1 to A2 increases with progression of culture confluence.

The data presented shows that Vitamin A1 to A2 conversion is upregulated after UV irradiation. Vitamin A2 esters in cultured keratinocytes are more stable than Vitamin A1 esters under UV radiation. Vitamin A2 esters are capable of better protection of epidermal keratinocytes after UV irradiation to undergo apoptosis than Vitamin A1 esters. This was shown by using cell death detection ELISA plus assay and normal human foreskin keratinocytes.

It was demonstrated that Vitamin A2 acid is able to promote transcription of the responsive genes. Screening of 84 genes related to the p53 pathway was performed by using PCR - Based Gene Expression Profiling experiments. Also differential expression of FASLG gene was observed in presence of Vitamin A1 or A2 acids.

In conclusion the Vitamin A2 form of retinoids provides better protective functions than Vitamin A1 after UV irradiation. Also Vitamin A2 acid probably has a different role in promoting transcription of responsive genes than Vitamin A1 acid.

## With all my love, I dedicate this work to my family

#### TABLE OF CONTENTS

List of Figuresix
List of Tablesxiii
List of Abbreviationxiv
Acknowledgementsxvii
Introduction1
Aim of the Study9
Materials and Methods10
Cell culture10
Delivering of retinoid and <sup>3</sup> H-retinoid substrates to the cells
Preparation of whole cell sonicates for retinoid analysis and subcellular fractionation
Procedures for extraction of retinoids11
HPLC analysis of retinoids12
Permeabilization of plasma membrane (PM) with Digitonin12
Extraction and measurement of pyridine dinucleotides in SCC1312
Conditions for <i>in vitro</i> conversion of Vitamin A1 to A213
Isolation of plasma membrane (PM) ghosts by sucrose gradient centrifugation.13
Inhibition of A1-A2 conversion by ketoconazole14
UVA and UVB irradiation experiments14
Evaluation of apoptosis after UVA and UVB irradiations using cell death detection ELISA plus assay

Cloning of DR1, DR2 sequences into reporter plasmid pBLCAT2	16
Transfection of HaCaT cells	17
CAT reporter assay	18
Vitamin A1 and A2 acid uptake and metabolism experiments	18
Involucrin immunocytochemistry staining	19
PCR - Based Gene Expression Profiling experiments	19
Real - time two step RT – PCR	20
Statistical analysis	21
Chapter One	22
Assay Development and Characterization of the Vitamin A1 to Vi converting activity of cultured human Epidermal keratinocytes	tamin A2 22
A2/A1 ratio is greatest in SCC13 compared to SCC12b and NHEK	22
NADPH enhances Vitamin A1 to A2 conversion	23
An Assay for <i>in vitro</i> conversion of Vitamin A1 to A2	24
Characterization of the activity catalyzing conversion of Vitamin A1 to A2	225
Vitamin A1 to A2 converting activity associates with plasma membrane.	26
Ketoconazole, a known inhibitor of p450 enzymes, inhibits Vitamin A2 <i>in vivo</i> and <i>in vitro</i>	synthesis 27
Conversion of Vitamin A1 to A2 increases with progression confluence	of culture 28
Summary/Conclusions	29
Figures for Chapter One	30
Chapter Two	50
The effect of UVA and UVB radiation on Vitamin A2 and the Ability of V to protect Cells from UV-Induced Apoptosis	′itamin A2 50

Vitamin A2 esters are more resistant than Vitamin A1 esters to UVA or UVB radiation
Restoration of Vitamin A1 and A2 ester pools post-UV exposure51
Determination of the effect of UVA (15 J/cm <sup>2</sup> ) or UVB (0.4 J/cm <sup>2</sup> ) irradiation on the <i>in vitro</i> conversion of Vitamin A1 to A2 in cultured NHEK cells
UV exposure increases the <i>in vivo</i> and <i>in vitro</i> synthesis of Vitamin A252
Vitamin A2 limits UV-induced apoptosis more than does Vitamin A153
Summary/Conclusions54
Figures for Chapter Two55
Chapter Three
Analysis of the Capability of Vitamin A1 and A2 Acids to Alter Expression of Genes Participating in p53 Mediated UV Response
Purification of newly synthesized Vitamin A269
Newly synthesized and purified Vitamin A2 acid is functionally active70
Retinoid depleted NHEK take up and accumulate different levels of Vitamin A1 and A2 acids
Gene expression profiling of Vitamin A1 and A2 acid treated keratinocytes72
Summary/Conclusions74
Figures for Chapter Three75
Summary92
Discussion
Future Studies
References103

#### LIST OF FIGURES

#### Chapter one

Figure I - 1: Metabolism of Vitamin A1 alcohol in cultured NHEK and SCC cell lines
Figure I - 2: Effect of digitonin on the conversion of Vitamin A1 to A2 in SCC13 
Figure I - 3: Effect of NAD(P)H on the conversion of Vitamin A1 to A2 in digitonin treated cultures of SCC13
Figure I - 4a: In vitro Vitamin A1 to A2 conversion using sonicates of SCC34
Figure I - 4b: <i>In vitro</i> Vitamin A1 to A2 conversion using DO33 and human fibroblasts
Figure I – 5a: The identity of A2 products was confirmed by retention time upon HPLC separation
Figure I – 5b: Spectral matching of metabolites identified as A2 retinoids38
Figure I - 6: Vitamin A1 to A2 converting activity is a substrate a) and protein b) concentration dependent
Figure I - 7: Vitamin A1 to A2 <i>in vitro</i> conversion activity in plasma membrane ghosts
Figure I - 8: Plasma membrane ghosts stained with trypan blue42
Figure I – 9a: Effect of ketoconazole on Vitamin A2 accumulation <i>in vivo</i> in NHEK-O43
Figure I – 9b: Effect of ketoconazole on Vitamin A2 <i>in vitro</i> synthesis in NHEK-O
Figure I – 10a: Effect of ketoconazole on Vitamin A2 accumulation <i>in vivo</i> in SCC1345

Figure I – 10b: Effect of ketoconazole on Vitamin A2 <i>in vitro</i> synthesis in SCC1346
Figure I - 11: Influence of culture confluence on Vitamin A2/A1 ratio <i>in vivo</i> in cultured NHEK (A) and SCC (B) cell line47
Figure I - 12: Influence of culture confluence on <i>in vitro</i> Vitamin A1 to A2 conversion by NHEK-O
Figure I - 13: Influence of culture confluence on <i>in vitro</i> Vitamin A1 to A2 conversion by SCC13
Chapter two
Figure II – 1a: Vitamin A1 and A2 esters of cultured NHEK-O after exposure to UVA radiation
Figure II – 1b: Vitamin A1 and A2 esters of NHEK-O before and immediately after UVA (15J/cm <sup>2</sup> ) exposure
Figure II – 2a: Vitamin A1 and A2 esters of cultured NHEK-O after exposure to UVB radiation
Figure II - 2b: Vitamin A1 and A2 esters of NHEK-O before and immediately after UVB (0.4J/cm <sup>2</sup> ) exposure
Figure II - 3a: Destruction of <sup>3</sup> H-prelabeled Vitamin A1 and A2 esters in NHEK-O by UVA radiation
Figure 3b: Destruction of <sup>3</sup> H-prelabeled Vitamin A1 and A2 esters in NHEK-O by UVB radiation
Figure II - 4: Restoration of NHEK-O Vitamin A1 to A2 esters pool pot-UV exposure
Figure II - 5: <i>In vitro</i> conversion of Vitamin A1 to A2 in cultured NHEK-O after different time post exposure to UV radiation
Figure II - 6: Effect of UVA radiation on Vitamin A1 to A2 conversion63
Figure II - 7: Effect of UVB radiation on Vitamin A1 to A2 conversion
Figure II - 8: Accumulation of Vitamin A1 and A2 esters for 24h in cultured NHEK-F

Figure II - 10: Detection of nucleosomes in cytoplasmic fractions of cultured Chapter three Figure III - 1: Reverse- phase gradient HPLC resolution of the newly synthesized Figure III - 2: Reverse-phase gradient HPLC resolution of partially purified Vitamin A2 acid peak 3 from the previous separation on NovaPackC18 Figure III - 3: The purified Vitamin A2 acid was next resolved by HPLC using Nova-Pak HR C18 reverse phase column and identified as pure Vitamin A2 acid by retention time and spectral matching (A, B).....77 Figure III - 4: Plasmid pBLCAT2......78 Figure III - 5: Capabilities of vitamin A1 or A2 acids to promote transcription through DR1 regulatory sequences......79 Figure III - 6: Reverse- phase gradient HPLC resolution of <sup>3</sup>H-Vitamin A1 and A2 Figure III - 8: Involucrin expression of NHEK-F......82 Figure III - 9: NHEK-F treated with Vitamin A1 or A2 acid for different periods of Figure III - 10: Reverse- phase gradient HPLC resolution of <sup>3</sup>H-cellular and Figure III - 11: Uptake and metabolism of <sup>3</sup>H-Vitamin A1 and A2 acids by NHEK-F......85 Figure III - 12: Determination of RNA integrity......86 

Figure III - 13c: Vitamin A1 acid (0.25 nM) regulated gene expression	89
Figure III - 14: Gene expression in NHEK-F	

#### LIST OF TABLES

#### Chapter one

Table I - 1: Cofactors levels after treatment with digitonin in presence or absen of mediumNADPH.	ce 33
Table I - 2: The numbered peaks which correspond to the retention times authentic retinoidstandards	for 36
Table I - 3: Partial purification of the Vitamin A1 to A2 converting activity	40

#### **Chapter three**

Table III - 1: Chosen genes to be assessed by real time RT-PCR......90

#### LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

3T3	standard fibroblast cell line from Swiss mouse embryo tissue
5,6-epoxy-RP	5,6-epoxyretinyl palmitate
ABC complex	avidin—biotin—peroxidase enzyme complex
ABTS	2,2'-azino-bis(3-ethylbenzthiazoline-6-sulphonic acid
AP-1	activator protein 1
AR	anhydroretinol
ARAT	acyl CoA:retinol acyltransferase
BAI1	brain-specific angiogenesis inhibitor 1
Bax	Bcl2-associated X Protein
BCL-2	B-cell CLL/Lymphoma 2
BNL	Brookhaven National Laboratory
BPE	bovine pituitary extract
BSA	bovine serum albumin
CARM1	coactivator-associated arginine methyltransferase 1
CAT assay	chloramphenicol acetyltransferase assay
CBP/p300	creb-binding protein/histone acetyltransferase
CDK4	cyclin-dependent kinase 4
c-jun	mitogen-activated protein kinase 9
CRABP	cellular retinoic acid-binding proteins
CRBP	cellular retinol binding protein
CYP	cytochrome p450
DMEM	Dulbecco's modification of Eagle's medium
DMSO	dimethyl sulfoxide
DNA	deoxyribonucleic acid
DR	direct repeats
E2F1	E2F transcription factor 1

E2F3	E2F transcription factor 3
EDTA	ethylene diamine tetra acetic acid
ELISA	enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay
ESR1	estrogen receptor 1
FABP	fatty acid binding protein
FADD	Fas (TNFRSF6)-associated via death domain
FAD(H)	flavin adenine dinucleotide (reduced)
FasL (FASLG)	TNF superfamily, member 6
FasR	Fas receptor
FBS	fetal bovine serum
Gadd45	growth arrest and DNA damage-inducible protein 45
HaCaT	spontaneously immortalized human keratinocyte cell line
HEPES	4-(2-hydroxyethyl)-1-piperazineethanesulfonic acid
HPLC	high pressure liquid chromatography
IFNb	interferon, beta,
IL6	interleukin 6 (interferon, beta 2)
КВМ	keratinocytes basal medium
KGM	keratinocytes growth medium
LRAT	lecithin:retinol acyltransferase
MAPK	mitogen-activated protein (MAP) kinase
MMP	matrix metalloproteinases
NAD(H)	nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide (reduced)
NADP(H)	nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide (reduced)
NER	nucleotide excision repair
NFAT	nuclear factor of activated T cells
NHEK	human epidermal keratinocytes
NHEK-F	normal human foreskin keratinocytes
p53	tumor protein p53
PBS	phosphate buffered saline
PC	positive factor
PCR	polymerase chain reaction

РМ	plasma Membrane
PPAR	peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor
PRMT	protein arginine N-methyltransferase
PUVA	a combination of 8-methoxypsoralen and UVA radiation
RalDH	retinal dehydrogenases
RAR	retinoic acid receptor
RARE	retinoic acid response elements
RBP	retinol binding protein
RNA	ribonucleic acid
RoDH	retinol dehydrogenases
ROS	reactive oxygen species
RP	retinylpalmitate
RT	room temperature
RT-PCR	reverse transcriptase – polymerase chain reaction
RXR	retinoid X receptor
SA	specific activity
SCC	squamous cell carcinoma cell lines
SDR	short-chain dehydrogenase/reductase
SOCS	suppressors of cytokine signalling
SPF	sun protection factor
STAT	signal transducers and activator of transcription proteins
Stdev	standard deviation
TATA box	DNA sequence in the promoter region of most genes in
	eukaryotes and Archaea (Goldberg-Hogness box)
TP73	tumor protein p73
TRAIL	tumor necrosis factor ligand superfamily, member 10
UV	ultraviolet radiation
WAF1/CIP1/p21	cyclin-dependent kinase inhibitor-1A

#### ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like to thank my advisor Prof. Marcia Simon for her help and for her guidance in transforming me into an independent scientist, worker and thinker. From the beginning, Prof. Simon gave me a chance to be a part of the Living Skin Bank family. With her support I was able to study and develop my love and knowledge in the field of skin biology.

I would like to give my special recognition and thankfulness to my husband Dr. Stefan Tafrov for being there for me factually in every step with his infinite help, support and valuable advice.

Also I would like to thank Prof. Kathleen Parker and her graduate student Erik Stolarzewicz, Department of Chemistry, SUNY at Stony Brook for developing a procedure and performing the synthesis of Vitamin A2 acid.

I am thankful to Dr. Nelly Markova for her time and advice and for providing the pBLCAT2-DR5 plasmid.

I would like to thank Dr. Adriana Pinkas-Sarafova for her help and providing the standard curve for determining the cellular concentration of pyridine dinucleotides.

I am very grateful to Dr. Betsy Sutherland, Dr. John Sutherland and John Trunk for giving me the opportunities to perform my UV irradiations experiments in their laboratories in BNL. Also I especially appreciate their advice, support and understanding.

My thanks goes out to Dr. Jay Gao who was always there to provide me with constructive advice. Dr. Constantine Chipev's support and advice was always able to assist me in times of need.

From the moment I stepped in the world of tissue culture Gabriele Hatch was there to guide me and mother me through my journey. Alice Shih was always there to offer me help in the lab and guidance in real life situations. The spirit of Marie Barnouw made life in the lab enjoyable and pleasant. As graduate students, Nevena Karaman-Jurokovski and I shared memories and experiences.

I would like to thank Dr. Keith Randolph and Dr. Vladimir Jurokivski for introducing me to the world of retinoids and lipids.

#### INTRODUCTION

#### The Retinoids

The retinoids (Vitamin A analogs) are a large family of natural and synthetic compounds. Vitamin A1 alcohol (retinol) is the prototype of all other natural retinoids. It is composed of a  $\beta$ -inone ring, a polyprenoid side chain and a carbonyl end group (129). The association of Vitamin A with survival is well established. Postnatal Vitamin A deficiency is associated with immune deficiencies leading to morbid infection, with anemia, night blindness, and death. Retinoids also regulate embryonic development and thus in excess can be teratogenic.

Dietary sources of natural retinoids include carotenoids produced by plants and the long chain fatty acid esters of Vitamin A1 alcohol (retinyl esters) present in animal tissues. In the intestinal epithelium, carotenoids undergo oxidative cleavage to form Vitamin A1 aldehyde (retinal), which in turn is reduced to Vitamin A1 alcohol (25). The Vitamin A1 esters first undergo hydrolysis to produce Vitamin A1 alcohol and are then taken up by the intestinal epithelium. Vitamin A1 alcohol derived either from the carotenoids or from Vitamin A1 esters is esterified for transport via the lymphatics to the liver, which is the main Vitamin A1 storage site of the body. Transport into cells again requires ester hydrolysis. In the hepatocyte, Vitamin A1 alcohol is bound to retinol binding protein (RBP) and transported to the target tissues via the blood stream or transferred to Ito cells for storage as ester. Under Vitamin A1 sufficiency, RBP/retinol is bound to transthyretin and circulates at concentrations in the order of  $1-2 \mu M$  (14, 109). Specific receptors for the RBP/Vitamin A1 alcohol complex on the plasma membrane of target tissue help regulate uptake. Vitamin A1 acid (retinoic acid) is also present in the circulation but only at 4-14 nM bound to serum albumin (29, 32).

#### **Retinoids in the epidermis**

Epidermis is one of the many target tissues of Vitamin A1. Over 90% of the epidermis is composed of keratinocytes which form the stratified squamous epithelium necessary to protect underlying tissues. The active metabolite of Vitamin A1 alcohol, Vitamin A1 acid (retinoic acid), is a transcription factor ligand, which when bound to its nuclear receptors can positively or negatively regulate gene transcription. It plays critical roles in epithelial homeostasis and in keratinocyte differentiation which require a narrow nM concentration range of Vitamin A1 acid. Keratinocytes take up Vitamin A1 alcohol and Vitamin A1 acid from the circulation. Intracellularly, Vitamin A1 alcohol binds to cellular retinol binding protein (CRBP) which protects the alcohol from UV radiation and limits its metabolism to those enzymes that accept Vitamin A1 alcohol bound to CRBP as substrate (79). The majority of alcohol is sequestered as long chain fatty acid esters. The uptake and accumulation of Vitamin A1 acid is limited by its rapid metabolism in keratinocytes, intracellular binding proteins, and its depletion by dermal fibroblasts in tissue fluids (88).

Each of the three regions of Vitamin A1 alcohol are subject to modification: the polar end group which can be oxidized or esterified, the isoprene side chain which can be hydroxylated or isomerized and the β-ionone ring which can be desaturated or hydroxylated (Fig Introduction -1) (80, 81). In cultured keratinocytes, more than 90% of the total internal retinoids exist as esters (87) whose formation is catalyzed by the microsomal enzymes lecithin: retinol acyltransferase (LRAT) (52) and acyl CoA:retinol acyltransferase (ARAT) (125). ARAT accepts only free Vitamin A alcohol as substrate and at high CRBPI levels does not contribute significantly to the ester pool (43). Access of the Vitamin A alcohol requires the action of retinyl ester hydrolases. The oxidation of the polar end group occurs in two steps. First the alcohol is oxidized to Vitamin A1 aldehyde by microsomal retinol dehydrogenases (RoDH) and then the aldehyde is oxidized to Vitamin A1 acid (retinoic acid) by cytosolic retinal dehydrogenases (RaIDH) (77, 51). The aldehyde is readily reduced to the alcohol. In this way keratinocytes can increase the intracellular concentration of Vitamin A1 acid. In humans, ring desaturation at C3-C4 generates Vitamin A2 (3,4-didehydroretinol) and has only been demonstrated in keratinocytes (87; Fig. Introduction – 1. black arrow). This retinoid was first identified as a component of the livers of certain species of freshwater fish (104) and only later was discovered in humans (128). Because Vitamin A2 is not found in the circulation, but can be synthesized in epidermis and in cultured epidermal keratinocytes, it is believed that, in humans at least the only source of epidermal Vitamin A2 is its biosynthesis from Vitamin A1 (87, 122, 96). Keratinoyctes cannot reverse this reaction. Vitamin A2 is present in epidermis in both esterified and unesterified form. These two forms, together with a small amount of Vitamin A2 acid (3, 4 didehydroretinoic acid) can be observed in cultured human keratinocytes (87, 96). Although the enzymes that modify the terminal carbon and catalyze hydroxylation of the ring have been identified, little is known about the enzymes that catalyze ring desaturation. One of the goals of this work will be to characterize the enzymatic activity that is responsible for the conversion of Vitamin A1 to A2 in cultured human keratinocytes.



Fig I - 1: Molecular structure of the two Vitamin A families of endogenous retinoids (112)

#### Ultraviolet radiation (UV) radiation and its effects on the skin

Emissions from the sun include infrared, visible and UV radiation, proton particles, and heat. Solar UV radiation consists of three components – UVA (320 – 400 nM), UVB (280 – 320 nM), and UVC (200 – 280 nM) (67). Only UVC is prevented from reaching the Earth's surface by the ozone layer and the atmosphere that surrounds the Earth. UVA and UVB are responsible for the immense biological effects on the human body. UVB (6 %) represents only small portion of the total radiation while UVA (94 %) is the predominant fraction. UV radiation levels are influenced by sun elevation, latitude altitude, cloud cover and ground reflection (9).

Small amounts of UV radiation are beneficial and essential for the production of Vitamin D. UV radiation has also been used to treat hyperproliferative diseases (140). However, prolonged exposure to solar radiation may cause acute and chronic health effects. Acute exposure causes sunburn and tanning (60). Chronic exposure contributes to skin damage (photoaging and cancer), cataracts and immune suppression (67). UVB can penetrate the epidermis and to a lesser extent, the upper part of the dermis, while UVA radiation penetrates more deeply into dermis of human skin (114). UVB can be absorbed by proteins, nucleic acids and other macromolecules and cause direct damage to cells. UVA also causes indirect, cytotoxic and genotoxic effects by formation of oxidized radicals named sensitizers.

#### UV effects on Vitamin A1 alcohol and esters

In addition to their biological effects retinoids absorb UV radiation with a maximum from 326 to 383 nm (37, Fig Introduction – 1). UV exposure has been shown to decrease both Vitamin A1 alcohol and esters in skin (111, 127), and in so doing can induce local Vitamin A deficiency. Retinyl palmitate (RP) has been shown to be as efficient as commercial sunscreens with SPF 20 in preventing photobleaching and photooxidation of molecules encapsulated within liposomes (6) suggesting its potential usefulness as a sunscreen. Many cosmetics in fact contain retinoids either to protect the skin or to stimulate responses that will correct UV damage. Retinyl palmitate, which is more thermally stable than retinol, is found in over 600 cosmetic products (21). However, UV-induced photodecomposition of retinyl palmitate generates reactive oxygen species and lipid peroxides (21, 138, 47, 139). Lipid peroxidation in humans is associated with cancer, atherosclerosis, ischemia inflammation, liver injury, aging etc. (138). In one study it was found that UVA treatment of Jurkat T-cells in the presence of retinyl palmitate, or its decomposition products, anhydroretinol (AR) and 5,6epoxyretinyl palmitate (5,6-epoxy-RP) increases DNA fragmentation (141). Other studies with mouse lymphoma cells demonstrated that RP (69) and its decomposition products (68) in combination with UVA exposure are photomutagenic. However, photodecomposition products are non-genotoxic in bacterial assays (21).

Thus, even though Vitamin A and its derivative are used therapeutically against skin cancer, the role of dietary uptake of Vitamin A in UV induced carcinogenesis has been brought up. Exposure to UV radiation leads to photodecomposition of excess Vitamin A in the diet of hairless mice that has been shown to generate short-lived intermediates. These radicals could act as photosensitizers during cutaneous carcinogenesis (73).

Vitamin A1 acid (all-*trans* and 13-*cis*) in ethanol and dermatological cream preparations exposed to solar simulated light, UVA and visible light undergo isomerization and photolysis where the all-*trans* form of Vitamin A1 acid is more sensitive (117). Vitamin A1 alcohol and Vitamin A1 esters in different media undergo photodecomposition and generate reactive oxygen species (18) and have been found to decrease in concentration in the epidermis of hairless mice exposed to UVB and UVA (110, 111). These molecules cause lipid peroxidation leading to premature aging (photoaging) with induction of matrix metalloproteinases and inflammation as well as forming DNA adducts that can lead to photocarcinogenesis (43).

## Vitamin A2 retinoids (3,4-didehydroretinoids) are more stable under UV exposure

Vitamin A2 is found in the eye lens of the diurnal gecko Lygodactylus picturatus is bound to 1-cristallin, a protein closely related to another retinol binding protein CRBP I (95, 135). The protein complex Vitamin A2/ 1-cristallin absorbs short wave length radiation leading to the proposal that not only does improve the optical quality but it also protects the gecko's retina from the harmful UV radiation (102). Additional studies have shown that Vitamin A2 alcohol is more stable and is depleted more slowly than Vitamin A1 after UV radiation of cultured human keratinocytes and melanocytes (3). Phototherapy of patients with chronic renal failure and healthy control treated with UVA (7.9 J/cm<sup>2</sup>) and UVB (1.3 J/cm<sup>2</sup>) showed reduction in the epidermal Vitamin A1 and no change of Vitamin A2 alcohol (13). Vitamin A2 depletion under UV radiation in rabbit skin in vivo and in human skin in vitro is less compared to the Vitamin A1 depletion (12). Together, the data support the conclusion that Vitamin A2 is protective as a photostable retinoid. It is also possible that these retinoids exert their effect by acting as antioxidants due to their physiological properties and their capabilities to guench oxygen free radicals and singlet oxygen (102).

Another goal of this work will be to test and compare the ability of Vitamin A1 and A2 to protect epidermal keratinocytes from undergoing apoptosis after UV irradiation.

#### **Biological effect of UV radiation**

Many of the biological effects of UV radiation on sun exposed tissues are initiated by the triggering of cell signal pathways that lead to alteration in gene expression (44). Solar UV radiation triggers several different cell signal transduction pathways and involves a number of proteins and cell structures. The UV response includes activation of different protein kinases (42, 56), transcription factors (27, 30) and cell membrane receptors to induce a variety of biological effects. After UV exposure the skin releases a number of growth factors, cytokines and receptor ligands that can act in paracrine or autocrine fashion to activate receptors on target cells. As a result the intracellular signaling pathways are activated, some of which initiate the program for apoptotic cell death. UV induced cell death by apoptosis is considered to be a natural protective mechanism that removes damaged keratinocytes and lessens the risk of accumulating damage that results in malignant transformation (7).

Cell death after UV radiation could be the consequence of reactive oxygen species (ROS), severe DNA damage and/or death receptor activation (57). UV induced apoptosis is a highly complex process where the precise molecular events involved in the triggering of apoptotic death of keratinocytes are still unclear. Some studies point out that low dose UV radiation sensitizes the cells to TRAIL induced apoptosis (86). Other studies distinguish between three different apoptotic events. Immediate apoptosis that is triggered by singlet oxygen ( $O_2$ ) or superoxide anions ( $O_2^-$ ) and results in mitochondrial proapoptotic signal activation. Intermediate apoptosis which is induced by DNA damage and leads to either, AP-1 induced FasL upregulation and initiation of the intermediate apoptotic mechanism, or p53 induced Bax upregulation, which triggers the creation of channels in the mitochondrial membrane and cytochrome *c* release into the cytoplasm (40).

#### Central role of p53 in UV radiation response

The p53 pathway responds to a variety of intrinsic or extrinsic stress signals. UV radiation is one of the many detrimental events that trigger cellular responses orchestrated by the p53 protein. The wild type p53 gene is also called "guardian of the genome", for its role in preventing the accumulation of genomic alterations (28). Keratinocytes regulate its activity by changing the total amount of the p53 protein in the cells and by introducing posttranslational modifications such as acetylation or phosphorylation at specific sites in the p53 molecule. These posttranslational modifications are necessary for the protein to become stabilized and active, and thus to fulfill its biochemical and cellular functions (20). One important function of p53 is transcriptional activation or repression of downstream target genes. For this purpose, a tetramer of activated p53 proteins binds promoters of p53 responsive genes and activates or represses their activities.

The skin has specialized mechanisms to protect it from the damaging effects of UV radiation including cell cycle arrest to allow DNA repair and apoptosis to eliminate cells whose damage is too severe to repair. The p53 tumor suppressor gene codes for a DNA-binding protein that regulates the expression of numerous genes involved in each of these processes. For example, an important mediator of the G1 arrest is WAF1/CIP1/p21, which is a target gene of p53. p21 prevents the cyclin kinase-mediated phosphorylation of the

retinoblastoma protein, which is an essential step for the G1/S transition to proceed (7). p53 also plays a role in nucleotide excision repair (NER) that is one of the main pathways for repair of the UV-induced DNA damage. Components of the p53 pathway, in particular Gadd45, contribute appreciably to DNA repair. Recent studies showed that Gadd45 binds to UV-damaged chromatin, perhaps facilitating the access to the regions of DNA damage. The p53-associated nucleotide excision repair response may therefore be mediated at the level of chromatin accessibility to sites of DNA damage (108). Finally, p53 regulates UV induced apoptosis of keratinocytes by inducing transcription of genes involved in different stages of the apoptotic signal transduction. In addition, p53 mediates mitochondria dependent apoptosis through direct interaction with the mitochondrion itself and/or with members of the BCL-2 family of apoptosis regulating proteins (133).

There is high frequency of p53 gene mutations in many human cancers (45). Studies have shown an extreme sensitivity of p53-/- and +/- mice to tumor induction by UV radiation. This is another indication that p53 plays a critical role in protecting the cells against UV induced carcinogenesis. It supports the concept that detection of p53 mutations can serve as an early marker for or risk factor of skin cancer development (50).

#### Vitamin A1 acid plays a role in the signaling response after UV radiation

Retinoids are frequently used for treatment of photoaged skin. Vitamin A1 acid helps to protect human skin against such damage (23). On the other hand it was demonstrated that Vitamin A1 acid does not function as a sunscreen but most probably as a transcriptional regulator (27). This conclusion was based on clinical studies in which human volunteers were exposed to UV and redness compared after 1 minimal erythema dose on pretreated and untreated sites; the effect of Vitamin A1 acid is not by absorbing the UV radiation (70). It has been shown that UV radiation up regulates AP-1 and *in vivo* induces AP-1 – regulated matrix - degrading MMPs genes in human skin. Application of Vitamin A1 acid on the skin inhibits activation of AP-1 and thus reduces the induction of MMPs by UV radiation (34). It may antagonize UV activation of AP-1 by inhibiting induction of the c-jun protein that is executed by posttranscriptional modifications (35).

Vitamin A1 acid exerts its transcriptional effects as a ligand for heterodimeric nuclear retinoid receptors. The diverse activity of retinoids is primarily mediated by two families of nuclear retinoic acid receptors, the RARs and RXRs. Each family is composed of three members,  $\alpha$ ,  $\beta$ , and  $\gamma$ . Ligand – receptor complexes are formed upon binding of the ligand to these receptors. These complexes can bind to the retinoic acid response elements (RAREs) in the promoter region of the target genes which then recruit other proteins over the promoter. This triggers upregulation of the transcription from the target gene. On the other hand after binding with the ligand, both RARs and RXRs can inhibit expression of certain genes by antagonizing transcriptional activity of other receptors such as the activator protein-1 complex (19). The predominant retinoid receptors in human skin such as RAR $\alpha$ , RAR $\gamma$  and RXR $\alpha$  are rapidly down regulated in cultured human keratinocytes after UVB irradiation, which can cause alteration in the retinoid signaling (4, 16).

It has been shown that cells pretreated with  $1\mu$ M Vitamin A1 acid before UVB irradiation undergo massive apoptosis compared to control cells that have not been pretreated with Vitamin A1 acid (74). In these cells the mRNA and the protein level of the p53 and several caspases that participate in the apoptotic response were strongly upregulated. Over expression of p53 by itself does not induce apoptosis. Importantly experimental evidence indicates that the proapoptotic activity of retinoids depends on the presence of wild-type p53 (74). Currently there is no developed model for the interaction between p53 and the retinoids although the experimental data suggests that there is active cross talk between these two major signaling pathways.

#### Vitamin A2 acid - ligand for retinoic acid receptors

*In vitro* and *in vivo* studies have shown that Vitamin A2 acid has biological potency similar to that of Vitamin A1 acid (2, 91, 119). It is biologically active and is found in the chicken limb (118) and in certain mammalian tissue (122, 123). In order to understand better the mechanism of action of Vitamin A2 acid its interaction with cellular retinoic acid-binding proteins (CRABP), RARs and RXRs were studied in several model systems. The results showed that Vitamin A2 acid binds with comparable affinity as Vitamin A1 acid to all of the aforementioned proteins; Vitamin A2 acid binds RXR $\alpha$  with somewhat higher affinity than the Vitamin A1 acid. Evaluation of the transcriptional activation potential of Vitamin A2 acid showed that this retinoid induced RAR $\alpha$ -mediated transcription to the same magnitude as the Vitamin A1 acid. In comparison to Vitamin A1 acid, Vitamin A2 acid produced a 2- to 3-fold higher activation of the transcription mediated by RXR $\alpha$  homodimers, as well as RAR $\beta$ -RXR $\alpha$  heterodimers (100). These results suggest that the biological activity of retinoids in the skin is complex and may be achieved by the activity of both Vitamin A1 and A2 acids.

Based on the data obtained to date, it is reasonable to think that Vitamin A1 and A2 acids could build and shape the UV response of the skin cells jointly. It is also reasonable to expect that in some cases they could generate similar phenotypes and in other cases they could generate different features or traits. One of the goals of my thesis is to compare the impact of both Vitamin A1 acid and Vitamin A2 acid on the expression of genes that participate in the cellular response to UV radiation. As p53 protein plays a central role in this response, to test the hypothesis that Vitamin A2 retinoids differentially regulate keratinocyte response to irradiation, gene expression profiling was carried out on p53 related genes.

#### AIM OF THE STUDY

The long term goal of this work was to better understand the biological functions of the Vitamin A2 retinoids. In humans, these retinoids are selectively synthesized and accumulate in epidermal keratinocytes. Because the epidermis is subject to UV induced damage and because these retinoids are more stable to photodecomposition than the Vitamin A1 retinoids, we postulate that they offer better protection to the skin from the harmful effects of UV radiation than do the Vitamin A1 retinoids. We also postulate that Vitamin A2 acid functions as a transcription factor ligand *in vitro* and together with Vitamin A1 acid regulates the response of the epidermal cells to UV irradiation.

To determine the validity of the hypothesis

- 1. An assay for *in vitro* conversion of Vitamin A1 to A2 was developed and used to assess the interaction of UV with retinoid metabolism.
- 2. The ability of Vitamin A1 and A2 retinoids to protect keratinocytes against UV-induced apoptosis was compared.
- 3. Differences between the ability of Vitamin A1 and A2 acid to regulate genes responsive to UV were measured by gene expression profiling of p53 responsive genes as proof of concept.

#### MATERIALS AND METHODS

#### Cell culture

Normal human epidermal keratinocytes (strain NHEK-O or D033), normal human foreskin keratinocytes (NHEK-F), human epidermal squamous cell carcinoma cell lines (SCC13 and SCC12b) and HaCaT cell line were used for all experiments. For some of the experiments, keratinocytes were grown in submerged culture utilizing  $\gamma$ -irradiated mouse 3T3 feeder cells as described by Rheinwald and Green, 1975 (92). The cells were grown in a modified basal medium consisting of a 3:1 (v/v) mixture of Dulbecco's minimum essential medium and Ham's F-12 medium containing adenine (1.8 x 10<sup>-4</sup> M), penicillin (1.7 x 10<sup>-4</sup> M), streptomycin (6.9 x  $10^{-5}$  M), hydrocortisone (1.1 x  $10^{-6}$  M), insulin (8.6 x  $10^{-7}$ M), epidermal growth factor (1.6 x  $10^{-9}$  M), and cholera toxin (1 x  $10^{-7}$  M). This medium also contains 5% fetal bovine serum (FBS) (HyClone, Logan, UT). This medium will be referred to as 3 – 1 medium in this work. Primary keratinocytes of passage less than five were plated at a density of  $2 \times 10^3$ /cm<sup>2</sup> into dishes or flasks containing lethally irradiated 3T3 cells at a density of  $11 \times 10^{3}$ /cm<sup>2</sup>. The cells were incubated at 37°C in a humidified 7 % CO<sub>2</sub> incubator. The cells were supplemented with fresh medium every other day until 3-4 days post-confluence for UV radiation experiments and up to 7 days for *in vitro* assay development. For maintenance of stock cultures and for experiments, keratinocytes were passaged at approximately 70% confluence. They were detached from the flasks by treatment with trypsin, 0.1 % and 5 x  $10^{-4}$  M EDTA (ethylene diamine tetra acetic acid). For some experiments the cells were grown in KGM which was prepared by supplementing KBM medium (Clonetics, Walkersville, MD) with penicillin, and streptomycin (100 units and 100  $\mu$ g/ml), hydrocortisone (0.4  $\mu$ g/ml), insulin (5  $\mu$ g/ml), epidermal growth factor (10 ng/ml), cholera toxin (1.2 x 10<sup>-10</sup> M). and bovine pituitary extract (BPE) (Clonetics, Walkersville, MD) with final concentration of 2 ml/l. For maintenance of stock cultures and for experiments. keratinocytes were passaged at approximately 70 % confluence. They were detached from the flasks by treatment with trypsin, 0.1 % and 5 x  $10^{-4}$  M EDTA. For neutralization of the trypsin was used soybean trypsin inhibitor (Sigma, St Louis, MO) in final concentration of 1 mg/ml.

#### Delivering of retinoid and <sup>3</sup>H-retinoid substrates to the cells

Vitamin A1 alcohol ([11,12-<sup>3</sup>H(N)]-all-trans-retinol), 44.4 Ci/mmol, and Vitamin A1 acid ([11,12-<sup>3</sup>H(N)]-all-trans-retinoic acid), 44.4 Ci/mmol, were purchased from PerkinElmer Life and Analytical Sciences, Boston, MA. Vitamin

A1 alcohol (all-trans-retinol) and Vitamin A1 acid (all-trans-retinoic acid) was purchased from Sigma, St Louis, MO.

All retinoids were stored in dark under argon at - 80° C for long-term storage or - 20° C for shorter less than several months of storage. The retinoids were handled under amber fluorescent lighting (GE F-40 Gold) (Bulbtronics Inc., Farmingdale, NY). The necessary amount of retinoid or <sup>3</sup>H - retinoid substrates were freshly purified by reverse phase HPLC and dried under a stream of argon. At the delivery time the retinoid were dissolved into 50  $\mu$ l dimethyl sulfoxide (DMSO) and added to a sterile 10 mg/ml solution of fatty acid free bovine serum albumin (BSA), which was used after 10 time dilution in the desired media. This way of delivering of retinoids was used for both – 3 – 1 and KGM medium. The cells were supplemented with freshly prepared medium every other day for the duration of the experiments.

## Preparation of whole cell sonicates for retinoid analysis and subcellular fractionation

Cells at the desired growth stage were washed twice with calcium and magnesium-free phosphate buffered saline, pH7.4 (PBS). After the last wash the cells were scraped off the plastic surface for retinoid analysis or trypsinized for *in vitro* assay analysis, and transferred to 15 ml sterile plastic centrifuge tubes. After centrifugation at 3000 rpm (Beckman GPKR centrifuge) at 4 °C the cells were resuspended in 1.2 ml PBS for retinoid analysis or 400  $\mu$ l homogenate buffer (0.01 M potassium phosphate buffer, pH 7.25, 280 mM sucrose, and 10 % glycerol) for *in vitro* assays. The cells were sonically disrupted using 20 bursts for retinoid analysis and two times 12 bursts each for *in vitro* assay analysis at 50 watts of output from a Branson Sonifer. Protein concentrations were determined by using Bio-Rad Protein Assay kit (Bio-Rad Life Sciences, Hercules, CA) with fatty acid-free bovine serum albumin (Sigma, St Louis, MO) as a standard.

#### **Procedures for extraction of retinoids**

For extraction of retinoids after the termination of the *in vitro* reactions I used the Bligh and Dyer extraction procedure (15). In brief the reaction was stopped by adding 2 ml of 100 % methanol, extracted with 2 ml of 100 % chloroform and the final separation of the organic and aqueous layers were achieved by addition of 1ml water. After 20 minutes centrifugation at 3000 rpm (Beckman GPKR centrifuge) the organic phase was placed into a new tube and dried under argon. The retinoids were dissolved in ethanol and evaluated by HPLC.

For the extraction of retinoids from whole cell homogenates I used the Barua extraction protocol (10). The cells were prepared as described above. After the sonic disruption, 1ml from sonicates was used for the extraction with ethanol, ethyl acetate, hexanes and water as described (10). After the separation of the organic and the aqueous phases by centrifugation at 3000 rpm (Beckman GPKR centrifuge) for 20 minutes the organic phase was transferred to a new tube and dried under argon. After that the retinoids were dissolved in ethanol and evaluated by HPLC.

#### HPLC analysis of retinoids

Retinoids were extracted as described above and resolved by reversephase HPLC which utilizes gradient elution and detection by a photodiode array as previously described (87), but using a Waters 2996 photodiode array detector equipped with automated injection. A NovaPackHRC18 column (Waters, Milford, MA) was used for retinoid separation with a flow rate of 1ml/minute. For purification of Vitamin A2 acid a semi-preparative NovaPackC18 column with flow rate 4ml/minute and SunFireC18 column with flow rate of 1ml/minute were used. For all three columns the mobile phase gradient system described by Barua (11) was utilized. This gradient system is able to resolve retinoid acids, alcohols and esters present in keratinocytes. The gradient consists of 15 minutes linear gradient from 10 mM ammonium acetate in methanol: water (68:32) to methanol: dichloromethane (4:1) followed by a 15 minutes hold. Column elutes was monitored at 326 nm for mass determination. Radiolabeled retinol and its metabolites were measured by in-line scintillation counting. The identity of the retinoid peaks was determined by comparing the retention times and spectra of each peak to authentic retinoid standards.

#### Permeabilization of plasma membrane (PM) with Digitonin

SCC13 was grown in submerged culture as described above till 7 days post confluence. At the day of the experiment the cells were washed twice with PBS. After that two different ways of treatment with Digitonin (Sigma, St Louis, MO) were tested. In the first type of experiments the cells were first incubated for 10 minutes at 4°C with different concentrations of Digitonin in 75 mM potassium acetate, 2.5 mM magnesium acetate, 1.8 mM calcium chloride, and 25 mM HEPES, pH 7.2 After that they were washed twice with PBS and supplemented with <sup>3</sup>H Vitamin A1 alcohol (25 nM; 10,000 dpm/pmol) in 3 – 1 medium and incubated for 1 hour at 37°C. In the second type of experiment, the cells were pulsed first with <sup>3</sup>H Vitamin A1 alcohol (25 nM; 10,000 dpm/pmol) in 3 – 1 medium and incubated for 1hour at 37°C. After the labeling the cells were washed twice with PBS and permeabilized by incubation in PBS buffer containing different concentrations of Digitonin for 10 minutes at 4°C. In both type of experiments after the treatment the cells were washed twice with PBS. The cells were detached from the solid support by incubation in PBS/EDTA solution for 15 minutes, harvested by scraping and analyzed by HPLC.

#### Extraction and measurement of pyridine dinucleotides in SCC13

The pyridine dinucleotides were extracted and analyzed according to the procedure described previously by Klaidman et al. (55) and Pinkas-Sarafova et al. (85). SCC13 cell pellets were homogenized in chilled buffer containing 60 mM

KOH, 200 mM KCN, and 1mM bathophenanthroline at 100  $\mu$ l buffer per 10 mg wet cells. The homogenate was centrifuged in a microcentrifuge at 14,000 rpm for 15 minutes at 4°C to remove the mitochondria. The supernatant was rapidly extracted with chloroform/isoamylalcohol (24:1) several times until minimal precipitate was visible at the interface of buffer and chloroform. The aqueous phase was passed through a 0.45  $\mu$ m Ultrafree-MC filtration device (Millipore, Billerica, MA) by centrifugation at 5000 rpm (Beckman GPKR centrifuge) for 10 minutes at 4°C to remove any residual DNA and protein contaminations. Then the aqueous phase was diluted 1:1 or 1:3 with mobile phase to reduce the pH before loading onto the HPLC column.

To measure the content of pyridine dinucleotides I used an YMC-PACK ODS-AQ, 5  $\mu$ m, 250 x 4.6 mm, reverse-phase C-18 column (Waters, Milford, MA). The fluorescent detector from Waters was set up on excitation wavelength 330 nm and emission was detected at 460 nm. The mobile phase consisted of 0.2 M ammonium acetate, pH 6.9, and 4% methanol.

To prepare a standard, the four cofactors (six different amounts from 6.5 to 500 ng each) were mixed in the presence of cyanide buffer, incubated for 5 minutes at room temperature, and extracted 4 times with chloroform/isoamylalcohol (24:1), as described for the sample. The standard curve was made based on 20 different injections for each standard point and the deviation of the single points was 13-18% (courtesy of Dr. Pinkas-Sarafova). Prior to each set of experiments the detection sensitivity of the instrument was verified for three points of the standards that were injected and analyzed on the HPLC.

#### Conditions for in vitro conversion of Vitamin A1 to A2

Keratinocytes were grown in 3 – 1 medium until the desired time postconfluence. The cells were washed two times with PBS, harvested by trypsinization and sonically disrupted in homogenation buffer (potassium phosphate pH 7.25 containing 280 mM sucrose and 10% glycerol). 100-200  $\mu$ g protein/ 200  $\mu$ l reaction was used. The buffer for assay was 100 mM Tris-HCl pH 7.4 containing 2 mM CaCl<sub>2</sub>, 1.5 mM MgCl<sub>2</sub>, and 2 mM NADPH. <sup>3</sup>H-Vitamin A1 alcohol was used as a substrate for the reaction with specific activity 10,000 dpm/pmol. The necessary amount of the substrate was dried under stream of argon, dissolved in DMSO (2.5%) and bovine serum albumin (BSA) (1mg/ml) and added to the reaction mix. The reaction was carried out in 37°C for 1hour. After the incubation period the retinoids were extracted using the Bligh and Dyer extraction procedure and analyzed by HPLC.

### Isolation of plasma membrane (PM) ghosts by sucrose gradient centrifugation

Plasma membrane ghosts were isolated according the procedure described in Atkinson, P.H., and Summers, D.F., (8). In brief, ten days post confluent SCC13 cultures  $(1.0 \times 10^8)$  harvested by trypsinization and followed

centrifugation at 3000 rpm (Beckman GPKR centrifuge) were resuspended in 20 times cells volume of 10 mM potassium phosphate buffer, pH 7.25. The salt concentration in the hypotonic buffer kept below 50mM to enhance cell disruption. The cells were allowed to swell 10 minutes on ice and then were ruptured with three to five strokes of a glass tissue homogenizer. The level of cell disruption was evaluated by phase microscope observation and the homogenization was continued for five more strokes if needed. Excessive homogenization was avoided because it could cause fragmentation of the plasma membrane ghosts or rupture of the nuclei. Immediately after the cells were disrupted, 0.1 volumes of 30 mM MgCl<sub>2</sub>, 100 mM NaCl were added to the cell homogenate to stabilize the nuclei. The nuclei and the remaining whole cells were removed by centrifugation at 1500 rpm (Beckman GPKR centrifuge) for 30 secunds. The pellet was resuspended in four times its volume in 10 mM potassium phosphate buffer, pH 7.25, 3 mM MgCl<sub>2</sub>, 10 mM NaCl and centrifuged again at 1500 rpm (Beckman GPKR centrifuge) for 10 seconds. The two combined supernatants, a volume of approximately 10 ml, contained most of the whole ghosts, and the pellet contained the nuclei and unbroken cells. The supernatant was divided into four aliquots of 2.5 ml each and layered onto discontinuous sucrose gradients composed of 15 ml of 30 % w/w sucrose over 5 ml of 45 g w/w sucrose, both in 10 mM potassium phosphate buffer. The gradients were centrifuged at 7000 x g for 20 minutes in a Sorvall (HB4 rotor) centrifuge. The plasma membrane ghosts were observed as a white opaque layer at the 30% to 45% sucrose interface, and were carefully removed with a syringe and 14 gauge cannula. To verify the purity of the isolated membrane ghosts, a small aliquot of the preparation was stained with Trypan blue and observed on phase contrast microscope. The preparation contained exclusively whole membrane ghosts or large fragments of plasma membrane.

#### Inhibition of A1-A2 conversion by ketoconazole

NHEK-O and SCC13 were grown in 3 - 1 medium as described above till 2 days post confluence. For the *in vivo* experiments the cells were pretreated with the inhibitor for 1hour followed by pulse labeling of the cell with <sup>3</sup>H- Vitamin A1 alcohol (25 nM; 10,000 dpm/pmol). After a 24 hours treatment with the inhibitor and the <sup>3</sup>H- Vitamin A1 alcohol the cells were harvested by scraping and retinoids were extracted using Barua extraction method and analyzed by HPLC as described above. For the *in vitro* experiments the cells were harvested by trypsinisation and sonically disrupted. The *in vitro* conversion of Vitamin A1 to A2 was performed as described above in presence of different concentrations of ketoconazole. The retinoid metabolites were extracted using the Bligh and Dyer extraction procedure and analyzed by HPLC.

#### UVA and UVB irradiation experiments

For UVA irradiation, a black light blue fluorescent lamp (40W T12 BLB, General Electric Co., Fairfield, CT) with the emission spectrum of 300 nm - 400

nm and a maximum at 366 nm was used. Radiation below 320 nm was eliminated by a UV32 filter (HOYA Corporation Optics Division, Fremont CA) positioned in front of the samples. For UVB irradiation, a Full Spectrum - 20 lamp (F20T12/FS, Westinghouse Lighting Corp., Philadelphia, PA) with the emission spectrum of 275 nm – 350 nm and a maximum at 310 nm was used. The emission below 300 nm was eliminated by UV30 filter (HOYA Corporation Optics Division, Fremont CA) positioned in front of the samples. UVA and UVB radiation produced by the two sources was monitored with a Jagger meter (49) calibrated versus a Molectron PR200 pyroelectric radiometer (Molectron Corporation, Sunnyvale, CA). The irradiance (intensities) measured in  $\mu$ A was calculated into J/m<sup>2</sup>/sec (UVA – 18.61  $\mu$ A = 1 J/m<sup>2</sup>/sec, UVB – 100  $\mu$ A = 1 J/m<sup>2</sup>/sec) and used to determine the irradiation time for different doses.

Normal human keratinocytes and squamous cell carcinoma keratinocytes from the SCC13 cell line were used for all the experiments. The cells were grown in p-60 cell culture dishes submerged in 3 – 1 culture medium as described above until they reached 3-4 days post-confluence. For a typical experiment, the cells were transported to Brookhaven National Laboratory (BNL) for irradiation. All cells were transported in containers provided by BNL in accordance with the safety standards for work with human cells. During transportation, the cells were kept warm in a 7 % CO<sub>2</sub> atmosphere. Before the experiments the cells were washed three times with 3 ml PBS, covered with 2 ml PBS and exposed to a single dose of UVA or UVB radiation. The UV radiation absorption and transmission of the PBS solution was measured by a Hewlett Packard Model 8452A Diode Array Spectrophotometer with 2 nm resolution between 190 to 820 nm range. The measurements did not show any significant UV absorption in the range that was used for the irradiations. The transmission for the same range was 100%. After the irradiation with the desired dose, the PBS was replaced with medium and the cells were transported back to SUNY at Stony Brook. The cells were grown in 3:1 medium for an additional 24 hours in a humidified 7 % CO<sub>2</sub> incubator, harvested by trypsinization and subjected to *in vitro* analyses. For the in vivo studies, after the cells were transported back to SUNY at Stony Brook, cells were pulsed labeled with radioactive <sup>3</sup>H-vitamin A1 alcohol (25 nM; 10,000 dpm/pmol), incubated for 24 hours in a humidified 7% CO<sub>2</sub> incubator at 37°C and then harvested and evaluated by HPLC.

For the cell death assays normal human keratinocytes from foreskin were grown for several passages in serum-free KGM medium to deplete completely the internal content of retinoids. The cells with depleted retinoid content were plated in 6 wells plates in densities of  $1.66 \times 10^5$  per well. The cells were supplemented with a fresh medium every other day until four days post confluence. 24 hours before the irradiations, the cells were supplemented with a medium containing either 0.1  $\mu$ M Vitamin A1 alcohol or 0.1  $\mu$ M vitamin A2 alcohol or no retinoids in case of the control. The medium contained also 1.5 mM Ca<sup>++</sup> and 0.5  $\mu$ M ketoconazole. Before the irradiations the cells were washed three times with PBS, and 1 ml PBS was placed over the cells. They were then irradiated with a single dose of UVB (0.5 J/cm<sup>2</sup> or 0.6 J/cm<sup>2</sup>) or UVA (35 J/cm<sup>2</sup> or 40 J/cm<sup>2</sup>) radiation. After the irradiations the PBS was replaced with medium.

The cells were transported the same way as described above to SUNY at Stony Brook and incubated for 16 hours in a humidified 7% CO<sub>2</sub> incubator at 37°C. The cells were harvested by trypsinization and were assayed for cell death using cell death detection ELISA plus assay.

## Evaluation of apoptosis after UVA and UVB irradiations using cell death detection ELISA plus assay

Apoptosis after UVA and UVB irradiations was detected using the Cell Death Detection ELISA<sup>plus</sup> kit (Roche-Applied Science, Indianapolis, IN), according to the manufacturer's procedure. In brief, after harvesting, the cells were counted and 5000 cells were used for each assay. They were resuspended into 200  $\mu$ l Lysis Buffer and incubated for 45 minutes at room temperature. After that, the lysates were centrifuged at 200 x g for 10 minutes. 20ul from the supernatant was transferred into streptavidin coated micro plates for analysis. After adding 80 µl of the immunoreagent, the plates were incubated with gentle shaking (300 rpm) for 2 hours at 24°C and then were washed 3 times with incubation buffer and developed with ABTS solution for approximately 20 minutes. The reaction was stopped with ABTS stop solution. All the solutions and reagents were provided in the kit. The blank was measured at 405 nm against ABTS solution plus ABTS stop solution and the reference wavelength was at 490 nm. The protection function of the retinoids is expressed as extend of reduction of the enrichment of mono- and oligonucleosomes released into the cytoplasm (extent of reduction of apoptosis) and was calculated using the following formula:

Absorbance of the UV irradiated sample (supplemented with retinoids)

Reduction of apoptosis =

Absorbance of the UV irradiated control (no retinoids)

#### Cloning of DR1, DR2 sequences into reporter plasmid pBLCAT2

The retinoic acid response elements (RARE) DR1 and DR2 sequences were introduced (the motif is repeated three times) in to the plasmid vector pBLCAT2 by cloning between the HindIII and Xbal restriction enzymes sites. Double strand DNA for the DR1 and DR2 elements were obtained by synthesizing and annealing of oligonucleotide sequences that harbor the following elements: the response element sequence; the needed restriction enzyme sequences, flanking the RARE sequence; each oligonucleotide sequence starts and ends with 4 unrelated nucleotides to facilitate the restriction enzyme digestion of the final double stranded (ds) DNA product. The oligonucleotides were synthesized by Sigma – Genosys. Dr. N. Markova from our laboratory kindly provided a construct harboring the RARE DR5 sequence in the plasmid pBLCAT2 cloned similarly between the HindIII and Xbal restriction sites. The sequences of the oligonucleotides used in this study are shown in below.

DR1 DR1	GGAGAAGCTTGGGGTCAAAGGTCAAAGGTCATCTAGACTGC
reverse	GCAGTCTAGATGACCTTTGACCCCAAGCTTCTCC
DR2 DR2	GGAGAAGCTTGGGGTCATGGGGTCATGGGGTCATCTAGACTGC
reverse	GCAGTCTAGATGACCCCATGACCCCAAGCTTCTCC
DR5 DR5	GGAGAAGCTTGGTTCACCGAAAGTTCACTCGGGAGGGTTCACCGAAAGTTCACTCAGACTGC
reverse	GCAGTCTGAGTGAACTTTCGGTGAACCCTCCCGAGTGAACTTTCGGTGAACCAAGCTTCTCC

The corresponding forward and reverse oligonucleotides were dissolved in water and equimolar amounts were mixed, denaturated by heating and allowed to anneal by slowly cooling the mix. The resulting dsDNA was desalted through Chroma spin columns (Clontech, Mountain View, CA). The dsDNA for each RARE and the vector were cut with HindIII and Xbal restriction enzymes (New England BioLabs, Inc., Ipswich, MA). The short dsDNA for each RARE element were purified using QIAquick Nucleotide Removal Kit (QIAGEN, Valencia, CA). The vector DNA was purified by electrophoresis through 0.8 % agarose gel and extracted from the gel by MinElute Gel Extraction Kit (QIAGEN, Valencia, CA). It is possible that vector molecules cut only by one of the restriction enzymes during ligation to self-anneal and produce undesirable background. To decrease this possibility the vector was subject to dephosphorylation by Calf Intestinal Phosphatase (New England BioLabs, Inc., Ipswich, MA) and subsequent purification. The digested dsDNA were ligated to the digested and dephosphorylated vector using Rapid DNA Ligation Kit (Roche-Applied Science, Indianapolis, IN). The resulting ligation products were transformed into chemically competent E. coli cells (One Shot TOP 10 Competent Cells, Invitrogen Life Technologies, Carlsbad, CA). From each ligation mix five independent single colonies were chosen for further analysis. Each clone was independently amplified and plasmid DNA was isolated using QIAprep Spin Miniprep Kit (QIAGEN, Valencia, CA). The correctness of the anticipated RARE element was verified by DNA sequencing. Purified plasmid DNA from each clone was prepared and the introduced DNA sequenced by the DNA Sequencing facility, Stony Brook University. The sequence of the inserted DNA was compared to the RARE sequence and correct clones were identified. From each correct clone plasmid DNA was isolated using the HiSpeed Plasmid Purification Midi Kit (QIAGEN, Valencia, CA). These plasmid DNAs were introduced into keratinocyte cells by transfection.

#### Transfection of HaCaT cells

HaCaT cells were grown in serum free KGM medium for several passages in order to deplete completely their internal content of Vitamin A1 acid and Vitamin A2 acid. These cells were seeded into 6 wells plates at density of 1 x 10<sup>6</sup> cells per well and fed with KGM. Four hours after seeding they were at 90 % confluence and at that time they were transfected with the constructed plasmids (pBLCAT2 vector containing DR1, DR2 or DR5 sequences respectively) using Lipofectamine Reagent and PLUS Reagent both from Invitrogen Corporation,
Carlsbad, CA. For each transfection, 1  $\mu$ g of plasmid DNA was diluted into 100  $\mu$ l KBM and pre-complex with 8  $\mu$ l PLUS reagent. The mixture was incubated for 15 minutes at room temperature. After the 15 minutes incubation for each transfection 4  $\mu$ l Lipofectamine Reagent was diluted into 100  $\mu$ l KBM and added to the pre-complex DNA. The solution was incubated at room temperature for an additional 15 minutes. While complexes were forming the cells were washed 2 times with PBS and 800  $\mu$ l fresh KBM medium was added. After the DNA-PLUS-Lipofectamine Reagent complexes were formed they were added to the cells. The cells were incubated with the DNA complexes for 4 hours at 37°C in a humidified 7 % CO<sub>2</sub> incubator. After the last incubation the medium was removed and the cells were shocked for 2 minutes with 1 ml 15 % glycerol in PBS. The glycerol was replaced with KGM supplemented with 10 nM or 100 nM Vitamin A1 acid; 10 nM or 100 nM Vitamin A2 acid or 1 mg/ml BSA. The cultures were incubated 40 hours at 37°C in a humidified 7 % CO<sub>2</sub> incubator and the nalyzed by CAT reporter assay.

### CAT reporter assay

The cells were washed two times with PBS and lysed with 5 x Reporter Lysis Buffer (Promega, Madison, WI) according to the manufacturer's procedure. The lysates were transferred into microcentrifuge tubes and incubated for 10 - 15 minutes at 65°C. The extracts were centrifuged at 13000 rpm (Maraton Micro A microfuge, Fisher Scientific) for 10 minutes and the supernatant was transferred into new tubes and assayed. The protein content into the samples was measured using Bio-Rad Protein Assay (Bio-Rad Life Sciences, Hercules, CA) with fatty acid-free bovine serum albumin (Sigma, St Louis, MO) as a standard. The CAT assay was performed as follows: In a 5 ml scintillation vial I mixed 100  $\mu$ l H<sub>2</sub>O. 50 µl from the cell extract and 100 µl CAT detection solution (0.3 M Tris, HCL, pH 8, 3 mM chloramphenicol, 25 µM Acetyl CoA and 1 µl Acetyl Coenzyme A, [Acetyl-<sup>3</sup>H]-, CAT Assay Grade with a specific activity 200 mCi/mmol (PerkinElmer Life and Analytical Sciences, Boston, MA). The mixture was carefully overlaid with 2 ml scintillation fluid Econofluoro-2 (PerkinElmer Life and Analytical Sciences, Boston, MA.). The samples were incubated at 37°C for 4 hours and then counted using liquid scintillation counter (LKB Wallac, 1214 Rackbeta, Gaithersburg, MD). For measuring the background as a control I used extracts prepared from untransfected cells.

#### Vitamin A1 and A2 acid uptake and metabolism experiments

For these experiments normal human foreskin keratinocytes (NHEK-F) were grown at 37° C in a humidified 7% CO<sub>2</sub> incubator for several passages in serum-free KGM medium to exhaust completely the internal content of Vitamin A1 and A2 retinoids. The retinoid depleted cells were plated in p-100 plates in densities of 5 x  $10^5$  cells per well and were incubated in KGM and were fed every other day until one day postconfluence. At that point the cells were supplemented with medium containing 1.5 mM Ca<sup>++</sup>. 24 hours post addition of Ca<sup>++</sup> the cells

were pulsed with 1  $\mu$ M of radiolabel <sup>3</sup>H-Vitamin A1 or 1  $\mu$ M of radiolabel <sup>3</sup>H-Vitamin A2 acid or 0.25  $\mu$ M of radiolabel <sup>3</sup>H-Vitamin A1 acid with specific activity of 30 dpm/pmole. The retinoids were delivered to the cells using BSA as a carrier to final albumin concentration of 1mg/ml. The cells were allowed to uptake and metabolize the labeled retinoids for 2, 6, and 24 hours at 37° C in a humidified 7% CO<sub>2</sub> incubator. After the incubation period the cells were washed two times with PBS and harvested by trypsinization. The cell suspension was centrifuged at 3000 rpm (Beckman GPKR centrifuge) for 5 minutes at 4° C. The cell pellet was resuspended into 1 ml PBS and sonically disrupted using 20 bursts of a Branson Sonifer. Protein concentrations were determined using the Bio-Rad Protein Assay kit with fatty acid-free bovine serum albumin as a standard. The radiolabel <sup>3</sup>H-Vitamin A1 and A2 acids were extracted using Bligh and Dyer extraction procedure and were evaluated by HPLC.

### Involucrin immunocytochemistry staining

For these experiments NHEK-F were grown at 37° C in a humidified 7% CO<sub>2</sub> incubator for several passages in KGM to deplete the internal content of Vitamin A1 and A2 retinoids. These cells were then plated onto 6 well glass slides (Lab-Tek Chamber Slide System, Nalge Nunc Int., Rochester, NY) at densities of 1.5 x 10<sup>5</sup> cells per well. The cells were grown in KGM and fed every other day until one day postconfluence. At that point replicate wells were incubated either with low or high calcium (1.5 mM Ca<sup>++</sup>) KGM. In parallel NHEK-F were grown in 3 – 1 medium until two days post-confluence as a positive control. The cells were washed with PBS two times. For immunohistochemistry, cultures were fixed in methanol for 10 minutes at -20° C, washed twice with PBS, and then incubated with 0.3% H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> in PBS for 30 minutes at room temperature (RT). The cells were then rinsed twice with PBS and blocked with a 10% goat serum solution in PBS for 30 minutes at RT. After decanting the blocking solution, rabbit anti-human involucrin antibody (prepared by Dr. Marcia Simon) at a dilution of 1:5000 in 10% goat serum solution in PBS was added, and the slides were incubated in a moist chamber overnight at 4°C. The next day the cells were washed with PBS three times and incubated with peroxidase rabbit IgG (Vectastain ABC kit, Burlingame, CA) in 1% BSA for 1hour at RT, washed with PBS three times and incubated with ABC complex provided in the Vectastain ABC kit for 30 minutes at RT. The cells were rinsed with tap water and briefly counterstained with hematoxylin. They were mounted with BioGenex aqueous mounting medium (BioGenex Laboratories, San Ramon, CA).

### PCR - Based Gene Expression Profiling experiments

For these experiments normal human foreskin keratinocytes (NHEK-F) were grown at  $37^{\circ}$  C in a humidified 7% CO<sub>2</sub> incubator for several passages in serum-free KGM medium to deplete completely the internal content of Vitamin A1 and A2 retinoids. The retinoid depleted cells were plated in p-100 plates in densities of 5 x 10<sup>5</sup> per well and were incubated in KGM and fed every other day

until one day post-confluence. At that point the cells were supplemented with medium containing 1.5 mM Ca<sup>++</sup>. For assessment of retinoid uptake, cultures replicate cultures were supplemented with 0.25 µM <sup>3</sup>H-Vitamin A1 acid, 1.0 µM <sup>3</sup>H-Vitamin A1 acid or 1.0 µM <sup>3</sup>H-Vitamin A2 acid for 2, 6, or 24 hours. Retinoids were delivered bound to BSA with a final BSA concentration of 1 mg/ml. For gene expression profiling, cultures were incubated at 37°C for 4 hours in high calcium KGM supplemented with non-labeled 0.25 nM Vitamin A1 acid, 1.0 nM Vitamin A1 acid, 1.0 nM Vitamin A2 acid, or with retinoid-free BSA. After the incubation period the cells were harvested by trypsinization, counted and  $3 \times 10^6$ cells were used for total RNA extraction. For this purpose was used RNeasy Mini Kit (QIAGEN Inc., Valencia, CA) according to the manufacturer's recommendations. Quantification of the RNA was determined by absorbance at 260 and 280 nm using a UV spectrophotometer. The quality and integrity of the samples were verified by electrophoresis of 1µg of the total RNA on 2 % agarose gel. RNA was visualized by ethidium bromide (0.5 µg/ml) staining. Samples (2 µg) were reverse transcribed using RT First Strand Kit (SuperArray Bioscience Corp., Frederick, MD) and cDNA templates were used to determine the gene expression profile of 84 pathway focused genes using the RT Profiler PCR Array System (SuperArray Bioscience Corp., Frederick, MD) according to the manufacturers' recommendations. Real - time PCR and detection was performed using the Applied Biosystems 7300 Real - Time PCR System (Applied Biosystems, Foster City, CA). Data was obtained by performing a two-step cycling program. First step consists of one cycle for 10 minutes at 95°C. The second step consists of 40 cycles: 15 seconds at 95°C followed by 1 minute at 60°C. A melting curve program was performed immediately after the above cycling program in order to generate a first derivative dissociation curve for each well in the entire plate using the instrument's software. The analysis of the data was performed using the free software provided by the manufacturer (PCR Array Data Analysis Web Portal: http://www.superarray.com/pcrarraydataanalysis.php, SuperArray Bioscience Corp., Frederick, MD).

### Real - time two step RT - PCR

The total RNA that was used for PCR - Based Gene Expression Profiling experiments was used to perform real-time two steps RT – PCR experiments. From the total RNA I synthesized cDNA by reverse transcription using QuantiTect Reverse Transcription Kit (QIAGEN Inc., Valencia, CA) according to the manufacturer's recommendations. The synthesized cDNA templates were used to further verify the gene expression profile of 12 genes that showed change in the expression levels in the experiments described above. The primers for the chosen genes were purchased from QIAGEN (QuantiTect Primer Assay, QIAGEN Inc., Valencia, CA). The real-time PCR reactions were assembled and the amplification and the detection of the PCR products were performed using the QuantiTect SYBR Green PCR Kit (QIAGEN Inc., Valencia, CA) and the DNA Engine Opticon System (Bio-Rad, Hercules, CA) according to the manufacturer's recommendations. The cycling program consists of two steps. First step – 1 cycle for 15 minutes at 95°C and the second step – 40 to 48 cycles: 30 seconds at 94°C, 30 seconds at 55°C, 1 minute at 72°C. A melting curve program was performed immediately after the above cycling program in order to generate a first derivative dissociation curve for each sample and dilution series by using the instrument's software. The data was analyzed by using the relative quantification method described by Michael W. Pfaffl (84).

### **Statistical analysis**

Statistical significance (p < 0.05) was determined using a student's t-test.

### **CHAPTER 1**

### ASSAY DEVELOPMENT AND CHARACTERIZATION OF THE VITAMIN A1 TO VITAMIN A2 CONVERTING ACTIVITY OF CULTURED HUMAN EPIDERMAL KERATINOCYTES

### A2/A1 ratio is greatest in SCC13 compared to SCC12b and NHEK

Because there can be strain to strain differences in the ability of cultured human epidermal keratinocytes to convert Vitamin A1 alcohol to Vitamin A2, prior to assay development a strain with high conversion ability was sought. For this purpose two NHEK (NHEK-O and D033) and two SCC cell lines (SCC12b and SCC13) were screened for their capacity to convert Vitamin A1 to A2. Cultures were grown in 3 - 1 medium and at one week post-confluence were labeled for 24-hours with <sup>3</sup>H-Vitamin A1 alcohol. Retinoids were extracted, resolved by reverse-phase HPLC and identified by retention time with in-line scintillation counting. Shown in Figure I – 1 are the results presented as a pmol/mg cell protein.

Both the NHEKs and SCC cell lines esterified Vitamin A1 and A2 alcohols with long chain fatty acids. Vitamin A oleate and palmitate (18:1, 16:0) were the predominant Vitamin A1 and A2 esters (3,4-didehydroretinyl esters) in all cell lines. Consistent with previous studies and with differences in Lecithin Retinol Acyl Transferase (LRAT) expression (52, 87), the NHEKs converted more than 97% of the Vitamin A1 taken up to retinylester. They also produced 2 to 5 times more A1 esters than the SCCs, and both NHEK strains accumulated 2-3 times more Vitamin A1 esters than A2 esters. The SCC cultures esterified only 67-82% of the Vitamin A1 taken up and converted a higher percentage of Vitamin A1 to Vitamin A2 (alcohol and ester combined), making the SCC lines preferred candidates for assay development.

A number of differences were found between the SCC cell lines, although both had nearly equivalent levels of Vitamin A1 and A2 alcohols. First, SCC12b had nearly equivalent Vitamin A1 and A2 esters, while SCC13 had 2.5 fold more Vitamin A2 ester than A1 ester. Second, the total ester level in SCC13 was 5-fold greater than SCC12b. Therefore, SCC13 was used to develop the *in vitro* conversion assay.

### NADPH enhances Vitamin A1 to A2 conversion

Desaturation typically requires a complex of membrane bound enzymes that employ molecular oxygen and NAD(P)H as a cofactor (113). As formation of Vitamin A2 requires ring desaturation, it is possible that a similar mechanism is employed and that the same cofactors are required. Therefore, in order to determine the feasibility of converting Vitamin A1 to A2 *in vitro*, co-factor requirements were first assessed. In these experiments conversion was measured in SCC13 permeabilized with digitonin, which is a non–ionic detergent commonly used to solubilize membrane bound proteins. It replaces cholesterol in membranes, and disrupts their integrity. It selectively permeabilizes plasma membranes leaving nuclei intact due to differences in their cholesterol content (83).

The concentration of digitonin required to permeabilize the plasma membrane without causing loss of internal retinoids was first determined. SCC13 was grown to one week post confluence, washed with PBS and incubated for 10 minutes at 4°C with two different concentrations of digitonin (100  $\mu$ g/ml and 300  $\mu$ g/ml). <sup>3</sup>H-Vitamin A1 alcohol in 3:1 medium was then added and the cultures were incubated for 1h at 37°C after which cells were harvested, and retinoids were extracted and analyzed. To measure loss of cellular retinoids due to digitonin treatment, retinoid analyses were carried out on cultures that were first incubated with <sup>3</sup>H-Vitamin A1 alcohol for 1h at 37°C, and then washed two times with PBS and incubated with digitonin (100 and 300  $\mu$ g/ml) for 10 minutes at 4°C.

As shown in Figure I – 2 A, B, when cells were permeabilized with increasing concentrations of digitonin and then incubated with <sup>3</sup>H-Vitamin A1 alcohol they progressively lost the ability to convert Vitamin A1 to A2. In cultures incubated with 0, 100, and 300 µg/mL digitonin, the percent conversion was 57, 29, and 8, respectively. The loss of Vitamin A2 formation was not due to reduced substrate Vitamin A1 alcohol, which was found at higher concentrations with both digitonin treatments; cultures treated with 300 µg/mL digitonin had twice as much Vitamin A1 as non-treated cultures. The amount of Vitamin A1 esters was not changed by the treatments. However, Vitamin A1 aldehyde levels increased in the digitonin treated cells and showed concentration dependency (Fig I – 2 B). As NAD(P) is required for the conversion of Vitamin A1 aldehyde to alcohol, this data suggests that the increase in plasma membrane permeability caused an increase in the ratio of NAD(P)H.

When cultures were incubated with <sup>3</sup>H-Vitamin A1 alcohol first and then subjected to 100  $\mu$ g/mL digitonin, no significant difference in retinoid status was detected (Figure I – 2 C, D). These cultures did not accumulate Vitamin A1 aldehyde and generated Vitamin A2 retinoids. However, in cultures incubated with 300  $\mu$ g/mL digitonin, a small, but significant loss of Vitamin A2 retinoids was observed and Vitamin A1 aldehyde levels increased (Figure I – 2 D). Therefore, to prevent loss of cellular retinoids into the media, the concentration of digitonin must be kept under 300  $\mu$ g/mL.

As disruption of the plasma membrane caused a decrease in conversion of Vitamin A1 to A2, in the next series of experiments addition of FAD/FADH, NAD/NADH, and NADP/NADPH were tested for the ability to restore activity. SCC13 was cultured to five days post-confluence and treated with digitonin (200  $\mu$ g/ml) in presence or absence of cofactors (2 mM). As before, after the digitonin treated cultures were supplemented with 3 – 1 medium containing <sup>3</sup>H Vitamin A1 alcohol in presence or absence of these cofactors. After 1hour at 37°C retinoids were extracted and analyzed. Cultures not exposed to digitonin served as control.

In this set of experiments (Fig I – 3), the cultures accumulated more Vitamin A1 and A2 alcohol and more Vitamin A1 aldehyde (52% versus 74%) than those presented in Figure I – 2. However, the same trends were seen. Namely, digitonin treatment caused a reduction in conversion of <sup>3</sup>H-Vitamin A1 to <sup>3</sup>H-Vitamin A2; changes in Vitamin A1 aldehyde did not reach statistical significance. Addition of NAD, FAD, or FADH was without effect, and incubations with NADH did not significantly change the retinoid pattern. However, NADPH partially restored the ability of permeabilized cells to convert <sup>3</sup>H-Vitamin A1 to A2 (Fig I - 3). The amount of <sup>3</sup>H-Vitamin A2 in digitonin-treated cells was 74% lower than control whereas the amount of <sup>3</sup>H-Vitamin A2 in digitonin-treated cells supplemented with NADPH was 45% lower.

The cellular concentration of pyridine dinucleotides was next measured in order to determine whether addition of NADPH actually restored normal levels of this co-factor. As shown in Table I - 1, in non-permeabilized cells the levels of NAD, NADH, NADP, and NADPH were 0.692, 0.035, 0.046, and 0.132/10mg wet cells, respectively. Digitonin treatment caused a drop in all pyridine dinucleotides except for NADP. The levels of NAD, NADH and NADPH decreased to 0.299, 0.012, and 0.017/10mg wet cells, respectively. In incubations with 2 mM NADPH, the cellular content of NADPH increased but not to normal levels. The concentration of NAD, NADP and NADPH increased to 0.348, 0.187, and 0.050/10mg wet cells, respectively. The elevated levels of NADP and NAD suggest that oxidation and dephosphorylation of NADPH occurs under the experimental conditions and limits recovery of NADPH. This may explain in part why the converting activity of vitamin A1 to A2 could not be fully restored. However, other required factors may also have been lost from the permeabilized cells and the enzyme(s) responsible for the conversion may have been altered or damaged by the procedure.

### An Assay for in vitro conversion of Vitamin A1 to A2

The next step was to partially purify the activity by fractionating disrupted cells and assaying fractions for their ability to convert vitamin A1 to A2 in presence of the 2 mM NADPH. SCC13 grown until one week post-confluence in 3 – 1 medium was harvested, sonically disrupted and fractionated by step centrifugation into four fractions (1). The first fraction was the pellet collected by centrifugation at 3000 rpm (Beckman GPKR centrifuge) which should contain nuclei, cytoskeleton, large pieces of plasma membrane and whole undisrupted

cells. The second fraction was the pellet collected by centrifugation at 17500 rpm (Sorvall centrifuge – SS-34 rotor) which should contain mitochondria, lysosomes, peroxisomes and smaller pieces of the plasma membrane. The third fraction was the pellet collected by centrifugation at 40,000 rpm (ultracentrifuge, 100,000 x g) and contains microsomes and small vesicles, and the fourth was the supernatant which comprises the cytosol with ribosomes and large macromolecules. Only the first and the second fractions showed enzymatic activity. For optimizing assay conditions the second fraction (17500 rpm pellet) was used to avoid contamination of undisrupted cells, which can generate false or misleading results.

Different buffer conditions and salts were tested for their ability to improve the *in vitro* conversion of Vitamin A1 to A2. The optimal buffer for sonic disruption was found to be potassium phosphate pH 7.25 containing 280 mM sucrose and 10% glycerol, and the optimal buffer for assay was found to be 100 mM Tris-HCI pH 7.4 containing 2 mM CaCl<sub>2</sub>, 1.5 mM MgCl<sub>2</sub>, and 2 mM NADPH using 100-200 mg protein per 200 µl reaction. In vitro Vitamin A2 synthesis using the 17500 rpm fraction from SCC13 is shown in Figure I – 4a. This fraction was able to convert almost 50% of the substrate into Vitamin A2 during the 1-h incubation period (Figure I – 4a, A). No conversion was seen in the boiled control (Figure I – 4a, B). The retinoids identified by retention time are numbered 1-11 and are identified in Table I – 2. The ratio of A2/A1 in comparable cultures of SCC13 was 1.7 – 2.0. Reactions for *in vitro* conversion of Vitamin A1 to A2 were also carried out with the 17500 rpm fraction of sonically disrupted NHEK-O (Figure I – 4b, A) and sonically disrupted normal human dermal fibroblasts (Figure I – 4b, B). The latter serves as control since fibroblasts do not catalyze this reaction (88). Similar to findings in culture, the 17500 rpm fraction of NHEK converted less Vitamin A1 to A2 (13%) than did SCC13 and the 17500 rpm fraction of normal dermal fibroblast fraction did not convert any Vitamin A1 to A2.

In order to confirm the identity of the synthesized Vitamin A2 products spectral matching was carried out. For this purpose retinoids extracted from ten pooled reactions with 17500 rpm fraction of SCC13 sonicates were separated by HPLC (Figure I – 5a) and peaks with the retention times of Vitamin A2 alcohol and Vitamin A2 esters were analyzed with photodiode array detection (Figure I – 5b). The spectra of the *in vitro* synthesized A2 products matched the spectra and the retention time of authentic standards.

### Characterization of the activity catalyzing conversion of Vitamin A1 to A2

To confirm that the conversion was catalyzed enzymatically, substrate saturation and protein dependency was evaluated. SCC13 grown in 3 - 1 medium to one week post-confluence was harvested, sonically disrupted and a 17500 rpm fraction was isolated for the *in vitro* reactions. <sup>3</sup>H-Vitamin A1 alcohol at 0.58 to 74 nM was used as substrate in 200 µl reactions containing 1 mg protein/ml. As shown in Figure 1 - 6A, the reaction is linear up to 4.6 nM and approaches V<sub>max</sub> about 80 nM. (Figure 1 - 6a). The dependence of the *in vitro* reaction on the enzyme concentration was also confirmed by evaluating

reactions using increasing amounts  $(0.12 - 0.78 \text{ mg}/200 \mu\text{l}: \text{reaction volume})$  of the 17500 rpm fraction. The reaction was linear up to 0.8 mg/200  $\mu$ l: reaction volume (Figure I – 6b). As the reaction is heat sensitive, can be substrate saturated and is protein dependent, the conversion is enzyme catalyzed.

### Vitamin A1 to A2 converting activity associates with plasma membrane

In an attempt to identify the subcellular location of the converting activity fractions were prepared from cells sonically disrupted and from cell disrupted using a homogenizer. As shown in Table I – 3 A, in the sonically disrupted cells about 50% of the activity was recovered in the first fraction (3000 rpm pellet). By microscopic observation this fraction comprised large fragments of plasma membrane and non-fragmented cells. The second fraction (17500 rpm pellet) contained only 15.85% of the activity and had the highest specific activity. By microscopic observation this fraction comprised membrane fragments. The supernatant which contains microsomes and cytosol had the lowest specific activity. However, this fraction has about 60% of the total cell protein and by calculation has about 23% of the converting activity. Whether this fraction also contains contaminating plasma membrane fragments was not determined.

In the homogenized preparations, almost 96% of the activity was recovered into the first fraction (3000 rpm pellet) (Table I – 3 B), suggesting that the activity may be associated with the plasma membrane. Therefore plasma membrane ghosts were prepared from one week post-confluent cultures of SCC13 using procedures described by Atkinson and Summers (8). Four fractions were assayed. Fraction 1 is the homogenate that is prepared after cells are osmotically swollen and disrupted with a Dounce homogenizer. Fraction 2 is the diluted homogenate from which nuclei and unbroken cells have been removed by centrifugation. Fractions 3 and 4 were obtained after zonal centrifugation of fraction 2 through a discontinuous sucrose gradient. Fraction 3 is the material which did not move through the 30% sucrose solution and Fraction 4 is the material that was recovered from the interface of the 30% and 45% sucrose solutions. It is Fraction 4 that contains the plasma membrane ghosts (Figure I – 7).

As shown in Figure I – 7 A, Fraction 1 converted about 50% of the <sup>3</sup>H-Vitamin A1 alcohol to <sup>3</sup>H-Vitamin A2 alcohol and ester. The specific activity (SA) of the Vitamin A1 to A2 converting enzyme(s) was 1.028 pmol/h/mg protein. Fraction 2 had a SA of only 0.256 pmol/h/mg protein, although its ability to generate <sup>3</sup>H-Vitamin A1 esters remained high (Figure I – 7 B) and Fraction 3 had the same SA (0.278 pmol/h/mg protein) and its ability to generate <sup>3</sup>H-Vitamin A1 esters was retained (Figure I – 7 C). Only Fraction 4 with an SA of 1.235 pmol/h/mg protein showed enrichment of the conversion activity with concomitant reduction in retinoid esterification activity (Figure 1 – 8 D). The data suggests that at least one Vitamin A1 to A2 conversion activity is associated with the plasma membrane and that its location is distinct from the enzyme(s) responsible for Vitamin A1 and A2 esterification. Plasma membrane ghosts stained with trypan blue are shown in Figure I – 8.

## Ketoconazole, a known inhibitor of p450 enzymes, inhibits Vitamin A2 synthesis *in vivo* and *in vitro*

Torma (121) previously demonstrated that ketoconazole treatment of skin organ culture reduced its ability to synthesize Vitamin A2 from Vitamin A1 alcohol. The concomitant reduction in substrate Vitamin A1 alcohol confounded interpretation of this result. However, in light of the role of cytochrome p450 enzymes in a number of other desaturase reactions, it seemed likely that the reduction in Vitamin A2 synthesis was due to reduced enzyme activity rather than reduced substrate availability (103, 89, 78). Therefore, in the next set of experiments the impact of ketoconazole on Vitamin A1 to A2 conversion was evaluated in NHEK-O and SCC13 cultures and in sonicates prepared from these cultures where substrate availability is not limiting.

In cultures of NHEK-O incubated with 0.5 µM ketoconazole the level of <sup>3</sup>H-Vitamin A2 in NHEK-O was reduced about 60%; no further reductions were detected in cultures exposed to 5 or 10  $\mu$ M ketoconazole (Figure I – 9a). What were observed at the higher ketoconazole concentrations were increases in  $^{3}$ H-Vitamin A1 retinoids most of which were esters. As the control cultures (0  $\mu$ M ketoconazole) contain 20.81 ( $\pm$  1.61) pmol/mg <sup>3</sup>H-Vitamin A1 and 3.54 ( $\pm$  0.29) pmol/mg <sup>3</sup>H-Vitamin A2, the increase in <sup>3</sup>H-Vitamin A1cannot be accounted for the reduction in <sup>3</sup>H-Vitamin A2. In vitro analysis of NHEK-O sonicates also demonstrated that ketoconazole inhibited <sup>3</sup>H-Vitamin A2 synthesis (Figure I – 9b). In vitro, inhibition was concentration dependent and increased from about 15% inhibition at 0.5  $\mu$ M ketoconazole to > 90% at 10  $\mu$ M ketoconazole. In contrast to the *in vivo* results, ketoconazole (0.5-10 µM) reduced rather than increased <sup>3</sup>H-Vitamin A1 ester levels by 15-30% during the reaction. This difference is not unexpected as many enzymes catalyze Vitamin A1/A2 alcohol esterification and Vitamin A1/A2 ester hydrolysis not all of which are likely to be active in the in vitro assay.

In cultures of SCC13 incubated with 0.5  $\mu$ M ketoconazole the level of <sup>3</sup>H-Vitamin A2 was reduced by about 75%. At 5-10  $\mu$ M ketoconazole <sup>3</sup>H-Vitamin A2 levels were reduced by about 90% (Figure I – 10a). Similar to the results obtained with NHEK-O, <sup>3</sup>H-Vitamin A1 levels increased. However, in SCC13, the increase may be largely due to the inhibition of <sup>3</sup>H-Vitamin A1 conversion to <sup>3</sup>H-Vitamin A2. Control cultures contain 4.79 (± 1.11) pmol/mg <sup>3</sup>H-Vitamin A1 and 7.36 (± 0.41) pmol/mg <sup>3</sup>H-Vitamin A2 of which 7.1 (± 0.48) pmol/mg are esters. By inhibiting conversion 90%, the A1 ester content should increase to about 11.9 pmol/mg and be detected as a 2.4 fold increase in <sup>3</sup>H-Vitamin A1. *In vitro*, 0.5  $\mu$ M ketoconazole inhibited <sup>3</sup>H-Vitamin A1 conversion to <sup>3</sup>H-Vitamin A2 by about 75% and 5-10  $\mu$ M ketoconazole conversion inhibited conversion by about 80% (Figure I – 10b). Again *in vivo* ketoconazole treatment resulted in a reduction in <sup>3</sup>H-Vitamin A1 esters. The reduction was somewhat greater (40-50%) than that observed with NHEK-O (15-30%) perhaps reflecting differences between NHEK-O and SCC13 expressed enzymes.

Taken together the data support the postulate that p450 enzymes contribute to Vitamin A1 conversion to Vitamin A2. The data also suggests that ketoconazole impacts Vitamin A1/A2 alcohol esterification and/or Vitamin A1/A2 ester hydrolysis.

# Conversion of Vitamin A1 to A2 increases with progression of culture confluence

In preliminary experiments with SCC13 the cellular content of Vitamin A2 was found to increase in post-confluent cultures. To determine whether this is a general property of epidermal keratinocytes, the impact of culture confluence on Vitamin A2 was studied using two normal epidermal keratinocyte strains (NHEK-O and D033) and two transformed cell lines (SCC12b and SCC13). Cultures were grown in 3 – 1 medium to 1, 3 or 5 days post-confluence at which time media was supplemented with <sup>3</sup>H vitamin A1 alcohol. After incubation for 24h retinoids were analyzed. As shown in Figure I – 11, the <sup>3</sup>H-Vitamin A2 levels increased with post-confluence in all cultures. In NHEK-O, D033, and SCC13, <sup>3</sup>H-Vitamin A2 levels increased from 3-4 pmol/mg at one day post-confluence to 6-7 pmol/mg at five days post-confluence, and in SCC12b, <sup>3</sup>H-Vitamin A2 levels increased from 0.5 pmol/mg to 2.1 pmol/mg. An increase in the ratio of <sup>3</sup>H-Vitamin A2: <sup>3</sup>H-Vitamin A1 with culture confluence was observed for both normal and transformed cell; the fractional increase was less in NHEK due to the abundance of <sup>3</sup>H-Vitamin A1 esters.

To investigate if changes in Vitamin A2 levels were the result of increased conversion activity, *in vitro* assays were carried out with sonicates prepared from one to five day post-confluent cultures of NHEK-O and SCC13. As shown in Figures I – 12 a linear increase in the rate of <sup>3</sup>H-Vitamin A2 synthesis was observed for using NHEK-O sonicates resulting in a 7 fold increase in the A2 retinoids. As substrate Vitamin A2 alcohol levels increased, more Vitamin A2 ester was synthesized. Vitamin A1 ester synthesis did not change. Similar results were obtained with SCC13 (Figure I – 13). Namely, a linear increase in the A2 retinoids. Synthesis of the Vitamin A2 esters also increased with increasing levels of Vitamin A2 alcohol. In contrast to NHEK-O, in SCC13 enhanced esterification activity was noted in cultures grown to 5 and 7 days post confluence.

Taking into account the results obtained using *in vivo* and *in vitro* assessments, it is clear that the growth stage of the human keratinocytes plays a major role in the A1 to A2 conversion. It suggests that one or more enzymes participating in the desaturation of the  $\beta$ -ionone ring of Vitamin A1 is under differentiation control.

### SUMMARY/CONCLUSIONS

- An *in vitro* assay of the Vitamin A1 conversion to Vitamin A2 catalyzed by keratinocyte extracts was developed and was used to determine the plasma membrane association of the involved enzymes.
- Similar to other desaturases, NADPH and P450 linked enzymes appear to promote the desaturation of the β-ionone ring of Vitamin A1.
- Vitamin A2 synthesis is enhanced in differentiated cultures suggesting a critical role in differentiating keratinocytes.

### FIGURES FOR CHAPTER ONE



	NHEK-O		DO33		SCC12b	SCC13		
Vitamin A	pmol/mg	stdev	pmol/mg	stdev	pmol/mg	stdev	pmol/mg	stdev
A2 alcohol	0.06	0.04	0.17	0.07	1.02	0.08	1.20	0.04
A1 alcohol	0.28	0.09	0.28	0.11	1.14	0.04	1.08	0.06
A1 aldehyde	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.12	0.14
A2 ester (16:1; 14:0)	1.91	0.26	1.46	0.60	0.53	0.01	0.82	0.07
A1 ester (16:1; 14:0)	5.48	0.49	2.52	1.00	0.52	0.04	0.42	0.08
A2 ester (18:1; 16:0)	4.53	0.88	3.43	1.41	1.78	0.10	6.16	0.75
A1 ester (18:1; 16:0)	12.85	1.22	6.19	2.47	1.90	0.22	2.19	0.14
A2 ester (18:0)	0.31	0.09	0.39	0.15	0.07	0.00	1.07	0.04
A1 ester (18:0)	1.19	0.20	0.16	0.08	0.10	0.02	0.39	0.02
Total A2 esters	6.76	1.19	5.28	2.16	2.37	0.11	8.05	0.86
Total A1 esters	19.53	1.88	8.86	3.54	2.53	0.27	3.00	0.23
Vitamin A2	6.82	1.23	5.44	3.36	3.75	0.03	9.25	0.83
Vitamin A1	19.80	1.94	9.20	2.23	3.39	0.31	4.21	0.32
A2/A1	0.34	0.05	0.59	0.03	0.92	0.11	2.20	0.03
% conversion into A2	25.62		37.16		47.69		68.71	

Fig I - 1: Metabolism of Vitamin A1 alcohol in cultured NHEK and SCC cell lines

Cultures were grown in 3 – 1 medium until one week post-confluence, and incubated for 24h with 25 nM <sup>3</sup>H-Vitamin A1 alcohol. Cellular <sup>3</sup>H-retinoids were extracted, separated by reverse-phase HPLC and identified by retention time with in-line scintillation counting. Shown in the bar graph are the <sup>3</sup>H-Vitamin A1 and A2 alcohols and esters in the different cell lines. Shown in the table is cellular content of the <sup>3</sup>H-Vitamin A1 and A2 retinoids. Data represent the average ± standard deviation (stdev) for two - three experiments each with duplicate samples (n = 4-6).



DA1

∎ A2

stdev

0.26

0.12

0.06

0.21

0.60

0.48

300

300

mean

2.1

3.7

1.3

13.0

13.3

33.4

### Fig I - 2: Effect of digitonin on the conversion of Vitamin A1 to A2 in SCC13

One week post-confluent cultures of SCC13 were treated with digitonin and then pulsed with <sup>3</sup>H-Vitamin A1 alcohol in 3 – 1 medium for 1h (A, B) or pulsed with <sup>3</sup>H-Vitamin A1 alcohol in 3 – 1 medium for 1h and then treated with digitonin (C,D). Cellular <sup>3</sup>H-retinoids were extracted, resolved by reverse-phase HPLC and identified by retention time with inline scintillation counting. Shown in the bar graphs are the total content of <sup>3</sup>H-Vitamin A1 (open bars) and <sup>3</sup>H-Vitamin A2 retinoids (closed bars). The content of <sup>3</sup>H-Vitamin A1 and its metabolites are listed in the Table. Data represent the average ± standard deviation for two experiments each with duplicates samples (n = 4).



Digitonin [µg/ml]	0		200		200		200	
Cofactor [2mM]					NADH		NADPH	
Vitamin A [pmol/plate]	mean	stdev	mean	stdev	mean	stdev	mean	stdev
A2 alcohol	9.07	1.90	1.91	0.10	2.94	0.06	4.47	1.27
A1 alcohol	8.60	1.19	14.13	0.91	15.27	2.29	11.08	1.80
A1 aldehyde	4.23	3.42	6.05	0.80	8.54	3.86	4.47	1.37
A2 esters	12.66	3.63	3.81	0.76	5.01	0.99	7.65	3.02
A1 esters	11.78	1.03	15.22	3.69	15.40	4.77	14.00	1.42
Total Vitamin A	46.35	5.00	41.12	4.46	47.16	4.25	41.66	6.13

### Fig I - 3: Effect of NAD(P)H on the conversion of Vitamin A1 to A2 in digitonin treated cultures of SCC13

Five days post-confluent cultures were treated with digitonin and then pulsed with <sup>3</sup>H-Vitamin A1 alcohol in 3 – 1 medium for 1h in presence or absence of 2mM NADH or NADPH. Cellular retinoids were extracted, resolved by reverse-phase HPLC, and identified by retention time with in-line scintillation counting. Shown in the bar graphs are the total cellular content of <sup>3</sup>H-Vitamin A1 (open bars) and <sup>3</sup>H-Vitamin A2 retinoids (closed bars). Shown in the tables are cellular content of each metabolite of <sup>3</sup>H-Vitamin A1. Data represent the average ± standard deviation for two – three experiments each with duplicate samples, (n = 4 – 6).

NADPH (mM)	0	0	2
Digitonin (mg/ml)	0	200	200
NAD			
(nmol/10mg wet cells)	0.692	0.299	0.348
NADH			
(nmol/10mg wet cells)	0.035	0.012	0.007
NADP			
(nmol/10mg wet cells)	0.046	0.051	0.187
NADPH			
(nmol/10mg wet cells)	0.132	0.017	0.050

### Table I - 1: Cofactors levels after treatment with digitonin in presence or absence of medium NADPH

Five days post-confluent cultures were treated with digitonin incubated for 1h with 3 - 1 medium in presence or absence of 2mM NADPH. After the incubation period the cultures were harvested and the internal content of each cofactor was measured.









**Fig I - 4b:** *In vitro* Vitamin A1 to A2 conversion using DO33 and human fibroblasts One week post-confluent cultures of DO33 grown in 3 – 1 medium (A) and human fibroblasts grown in DMEM supplemented with 10% FBS (B) were harvested, sonically disrupted and the 17,500 rpm fraction used for *in vitro* assay of A1 to A2 conversion. Retinoid were extracted, resolved by reverse-phase HPLC and identified by retention time with in-line scintillation counting. The arrows indicate Vitamin A2 metabolites and the red numbers indicate the retention times of authentic standards listed in Table – 2. Peak number 4 corresponds to substrate Vitamin A1 alcohol.

1	Vitamin A2 acid	3, 4 didehydroretinoic acid
2	Vitamin A1 acid	retinoic acid
3	Vitamin A2 alcohol	3, 4 didehydroretinol
4	Vitamin A1 alcohol	retinol
5	Vitamin A1 aldehyde	retinaldehyde
6	Vitamin A2 ester (16:1; 14:0)	3, 4 didehydroretinyl palmitoleate and 3, 4 didehydroretinyl myristate
7	Vitamin A1 ester (16:1; 14:0)	retinyl palmitoleate and retinyl myristate
8	Vitamin A2 ester (18:1; 16:0)	3, 4 didehydroretinyl oleate and 3, 4 didehydroretinyl palmitate
9	Vitamin A1 ester (18:1; 16:0)	retinyl oleate and retinyl palmitate
10	Vitamin A2 ester (18:0)	3, 4 didehydroretinyl stearate
11	Vitamin A1 ester (18:0)	retinyl stearate

Table I - 2: The numbered peaks which correspond to the retention times for authentic retinoid standards



### Fig I – 5a: The identity of A2 products was confirmed by retention time upon HPLC separation

One week post-confluent SCC13 cells grown in 3 – 1 medium were harvested, sonically disrupted and *in vitro* assayed using 17500 rpm fraction as described in the Methods. Ten individual reactions were combined and the retinoids were extracted and analyzed by reverse-phase HPLC. Noted by the black arrows are the correct retention times of Vitamin A2 metabolites (alcohol – left panel and esters – right panel).

Vitamin A2 alcohol



Vitamin A2 esters





The spectra of retinoids identified as Vitamin A2 alcohol and Vitamin A2 esters were analyzed by photodiode array. The correct absorption spectrum for Vitamin A2 alcohol (upper panel) and ester (lower panel) confirms identification.



### Fig I - 6: Vitamin A1 to A2 converting activity is a substrate a) and protein b) concentration dependent

One week post-confluent SCC13 cells grown in 3 - 1 medium were harvested, sonically disrupted and *in vitro* assayed using 17500 rpm fraction as described in the Methods. The *in vitro* reactions were performed with varying substrate (A) and the protein (B) concentrations. The retinoid metabolites were extracted and analyzed by reverse-phase HPLC. Data represent the average for two experiments each with duplicate samples (n = 4).

39

	total protein (mg)	pmol A2/ mg protein	total A2 (pmol)	Recovery (%)
Cell sonicate	104.19	0.46	47.63	100
3000 rpm	32.98	0.77	25.31	53.14
17,500 rpm	6.06	1.25	7.55	15.85
17500 rpm supernatant	63.43	0.17	10.90	22.89

#### В

	total protein (mg)	pmol A2/ mg protein	total A2 (pmol)	Recovery (%)
Cell homogenate	129.00	0.39	50.31	100.00
3000 rpm	109.76	0.42	45.67	95.88
17,500 rpm	5.34	0.21	1.14	2.39
17500 rpm supernatant	37.80	0.04	1.62	3.41

### Table I - 3: Partial purification of the Vitamin A1 to A2 converting activity

One week post-confluent SCC13 cells grown in 3 - 1 medium were harvested and either sonically disrupted (A) or homogenized (B). Fractions were prepared by centrifugation and *in vitro* assayed as described in the Methods. The retinoid metabolites were extracted, separated by reverse-phase HPLC, and detected by retention time with in-line scintillation counting. Data represent the average  $\pm$  standard deviation for two experiments each with duplicate samples, (n = 4).

Α



**Fig I - 7: Vitamin A1 to A2** *in vitro* conversion activity in plasma membrane ghosts Ten days post-confluent cultures of SCC13 grown in 3 - 1 medium were harvested, disrupted by homogenization, and fractionated. *In vitro* A1 to A2 conversion assays were carried out with homogenate prior to removal of unbroken cells and nuclei (Panel A, Fraction 1), homogenate after removal of unbroken cells and nuclei (Panel B, Fraction 2), and the two fractions obtained from centrifugation through a sucrose step gradient. Fraction 3 (Panel C) is four times enriched in Vitamin A1 transacetylation activity. Fraction 2 (Panel D) contains plasma membrane ghosts with Vitamin A1 to A2 converting activity with partial enrichment of specific activity. Arrows indicate Vitamin A2 metabolites. Data in the table represent the average  $\pm$  standard deviation of two experiments each with duplicate samples, (n = 4).



Fig I - 8: Plasma membrane ghosts stained with trypan blue 10  $\mu$ l aliquot of Fraction 4 (Shown in the Figure – 7, Panel D) was taken and stained with trypan blue for microscopic observation as described in Methods.



Fig I – 9a: Effect of ketoconazole on Vitamin A2 accumulation *in vivo* in NHEK-O Two day post-confluent cultures of NHEK-O were pretreated with the indicated concentrations of ketoconazole for 1h and then incubated for an additional 24h with 25 nM <sup>3</sup>H-Vitamin A1 alcohol in presence of increasing concentrations of ketoconazole. Cellular <sup>3</sup>H-retinoids were extracted, resolved by reverse-phase HPLC and identified by retention time with in-line scintillation counting. The A1 content at 0  $\mu$ M ketoconazole was 20.67 (±1.6), and the A2 content at 0  $\mu$ M ketoconazole was 3.55 (±0.3). Data represent the average ± standard deviation for two experiments each with duplicate samples, (n = 4). Ketoconazole significantly (☆) inhibited <sup>3</sup>H-Vitamin A2 synthesis (p<0.05).



#### Fig I – 9b: Effect of ketoconazole on Vitamin A2 *in vitro* synthesis in NHEK-O

Cells were grown in 3 – 1 medium until two days post-confluence, harvested by trypsinisation, sonically disrupted and *in vitro* assayed with increasing concentrations of ketoconazole as described in the Methods. The retinoid metabolites were extracted and analyzed by reverse-phase HPLC. Shown are of <sup>3</sup>H-Vitamin A1 and A2 metabolites. The control that equals to 1 has Vitamin A2 alcohol - 0.03±0.02, A2 esters - 0.14±0.01, and A1 esters - 1.71±0.01 pmol/mg protein. Data represents the average ±standard deviation for two experiments, (n = 4). Ketoconazole (5 and 10 µM) significantly (☆) inhibited <sup>3</sup>H-Vitamin A2 synthesis (p<0.05).



Fig I – 10a: Effect of ketoconazole on Vitamin A2 accumulation *in vivo* in SCC13 Two day post-confluent cultures of SCC13 were pretreated with the indicated concentrations of ketoconazole for 1h and then incubated for an additional 24h with 25 nM <sup>3</sup>H-Vitamin A1 alcohol in presence of increasing concentrations of ketoconazole. Cellular <sup>3</sup>H-retinoids were extracted, resolved by reverse-phase HPLC and identified by retention time with in-line scintillation counting. The A1 content at 0  $\mu$ M ketoconazole was 4.57 (±1.11), and the A2 content at 0  $\mu$ M ketoconazole was 7.37 (±0.42). Data represents the average ± standard deviation for two experiments each with duplicate samples, (n = 4). Ketoconazole significantly (☆) inhibited <sup>3</sup>H-Vitamin A2 synthesis (p<0.05).



Fig I – 10b: Effect of ketoconazole on Vitamin A2 *in vitro* synthesis in SCC13 Cells were grown in 3 – 1 medium until two days post-confluence, harvested by trypsinisation, sonically disrupted and *in vitro* assayed with increasing concentrations of ketoconazole as described in the Methods. The retinoid metabolites were extracted and analyzed by reverse-phase HPLC. Shown are of <sup>3</sup>H-Vitamin A1 and A2 metabolites. The control that equals to 1 has Vitamin A2 alcohol- 0.05±0.01, A2 esters - 0.06±0.003, and A1 esters - 0.40±0.005 pmol/mg protein. Data represents the average ± standard deviation for two experiments each with duplicate samples, (n = 4). Ketoconazole significantly (\*) inhibited <sup>3</sup>H-Vitamin A2 synthesis (p<0.05).





	days post-confluence	1	1			5	
		pmol/mg	stdev	pmol/mg	stdev	pmol/mg	stdev
NHEK-O	A2 alcohol	0.01	0.02	0.05	0.02	0.03	0.04
	A1 alcohol	0.13	0.12	0.22	0.04	0.21	0.18
	Total A2 esters	3.85	1.09	4.97	1.15	6.31	1.98
	Total A1 esters	28.45	9.46	28.07	6.28	26.36	6.10
	% convercion	11.91		15.06		19.27	
DO33	A2 alcohol	0.10	0.04	0.10	0.02	0.26	0.01
	A1 alcohol	0.37	0.09	0.14	0.03	0.39	0.03
	Total A2 esters	2.87	1.12	3.61	0.57	6.36	0.45
	Total A1 esters	11.77	4.28	8.55	0.83	11.23	0.52
	% convercion	19.61		29.92		36.15	
SCC12b	A2 alcohol	0.05	0.03	0.16	0.17	0.72	0.18
	A1 alcohol	0.70	0.46	0.73	0.73	1.90	0.33
	Total A2 esters	0.48	0.14	1.72	0.38	1.36	0.59
	Total A1 esters	3.13	0.54	6.75	0.67	2.68	1.60
	% convercion	11.98		19.80		31.42	
SCC13	A2 alcohol	0.38	0.01	0.50	0.04	0.66	0.06
	A1 alcohol	1.23	0.09	1.16	0.10	0.70	0.02
	Total A2 esters	2.89	0.27	4.88	0.44	5.77	0.68
	Total A1 esters	10.27	1.20	11.00	0.99	5.90	1.75
	% convercion	22.17		30.66		48.92	

## Fig I - 11: Influence of culture confluence on Vitamin A2/A1 ratio *in vivo* in cultured NHEK (A) and SCC (B) cell lines

Cultures were grown in 3 – 1 medium until 1, 3 or 5 days post-confluence, incubated for 24h with 25nM <sup>3</sup>H-Vitamin A1 alcohol. Cellular <sup>3</sup>H-retinoids were extracted, resolved by HPLC and identified by retention time and in-line scintillation counting. Shown in the figures is increased Vitamin A2/A1 ratio with advancement of culture confluence. Shown in the table are cellular content of different types of <sup>3</sup>H-Vitamin A1 and A2 retinoids in the different cell lines. Data represents the average ± standard deviation for two – three experiments each with duplicate samples, (n = 4 – 6).



Days post- confluence	1		2		3		4		5	
	pmol/h/mg	stdev								
Vitamin A2 alcohol	0.009	0.001	0.039	0.008	0.068	0.020	0.137	0.022	0.217	0.100
Vitamin A2 esters	0.121	0.012	0.240	0.022	0.310	0.029	0.466	0.032	0.724	0.207
Vitamin A1 esters	1.687	0.169	2.229	0.029	1.567	0.056	1.598	0.132	1.868	0.371
Vitamin A1	1.687	0.169	2.229	0.608	1.567	0.029	1.598	0.074	1.868	0.209
Vitamin A2	0.130	0.013	0.279	0.308	0.378	0.030	0.604	0.049	0.941	0.054
% conversion	7.13		11.13		19.45		27.41		33.51	

### Fig I - 12: Influence of culture confluence on *in vitro* Vitamin A1 to A2 conversion by NHEK-O

NHEK-O was grown in 3 - 1 medium and harvested at post-confluence as indicated. Cells were then sonically disrupted and *in vitro* assayed as described in the Methods, and cellular <sup>3</sup>H-retinoids were extracted, resolved by HPLC and identified by retention time and in-line scintillation counting. Shown in the figure is increase in Vitamin A2 as a function of culture confluence. The level of <sup>3</sup>H-Vitamin A1 metabolites are given in the table. Data represents the average ± standard deviation for two – three experiments each with duplicate samples, (n = 4 - 6).



Days post- confluence	1 2		3			4	4 5			
	pmol/h/mg	stdev								
Vitamin A2 alcohol	0.031	0.000	0.088	0.009	0.072	0.009	0.038	0.016	0.196	0.021
Vitamin A2 esters	0.037	0.002	0.075	0.007	0.082	0.009	0.215	0.019	0.135	0.001
Vitamin A1 esters	0.334	0.035	0.343	0.034	0.344	0.032	0.785	0.109	0.568	0.033
Vitamin A1	0.334	0.05	0.343	0.08	0.344	0.06	0.785	0.09	0.568	0.00
Vitamin A2	0.068	0.00	0.162	0.02	0.153	0.02	0.253	0.04	0.331	0.02
% conversion	16.85		32.11		30.85		24.38		36.85	

### Fig I - 13: Influence of culture confluence on *in vitro* Vitamin A1 to A2 conversion by SCC13

SCC13 was grown in 3 – 1 medium and harvested at post-confluence as indicated. Cells were then sonically disrupted and *in vitro* assayed as described in the Methods, and cellular <sup>3</sup>H-retinoids were extracted, resolved by HPLC and identified by retention time and in-line scintillation counting. Shown in the figure is the increase in Vitamin A2 as a function of culture confluence. The level of <sup>3</sup>H-Vitamin A1 metabolites are given in the table. Data represents the average ± standard deviation for two – three experiments each with duplicate samples, (n = 4 – 6).

### **CHAPTER 2**

### THE EFFECT OF UVA AND UVB RADIATION ON VITAMIN A2 AND THE ABILITY OF VITAMIN A2 TO PROTECT CELLS FROM UV-INDUCED APOPTOSIS

Vitamin A2 has been proposed to serve as a better filter against UV radiation than Vitamin A1 and to be more resistant to UV-induced modifications. To verify differences in the stability of Vitamin A1 and A2 within the microenvironment of the keratinocyte, and to determine whether Vitamin A2 better protects keratinocytes against UV damage, the impact of UV on retinoid status and the impact of Vitamin A2 on UV-induced apoptosis were measured.

# Vitamin A2 esters are more resistant than Vitamin A1 esters to UVA or UVB radiation

The stability of Vitamin A1 and A2 esters was compared in cultured keratinocytes irradiated with different doses of UVA or UVB. Keratinocytes (NHEK-O) were grown in 3 – 1 medium to 3-4 days post confluence and then incubated with <sup>3</sup>H-Vitamin A1 alcohol for 24 hours. Cultures were then rinsed with PBS, irradiated either with UVA (0, 1.25, 2.5, and 5 J/cm<sup>2</sup>) or UVB (0, 0.12, 0.24, 0.3, and 0.4 J/cm<sup>2</sup>) and then immediately harvested. After extraction, retinoids were resolved by HPLC and analyzed spectrophotometrically and by in-line scintillation counting. At the doses chosen no difference in viability was detected by staining with trypan blue or propidium iodide (data not shown).

As shown in Figure II – 1a A, B, increasing doses of UVA resulted in a loss in both Vitamin A1 and A2 esters. The loss of the A1 esters was greater and at only  $1.25 \text{ J/cm}^2$ , there was a 50% reduction of each A1 ester and only a 19% reduction of each A2 ester. The chromatogram shown in Figure II – 1b B, shows the remaining retinoids after a 5.0 J/cm<sup>2</sup> dose of UVA in which the levels of A1 and A2 esters were comparable but low. Similar to the results with UVA, decreases in ester mass were obtained with increasing doses of UVB (Figure II – 2a A, B). At 0.12 J/cm<sup>2</sup> there was a 50% reduction of each A1 ester, which compares to a 25% reduction of the A2 ester peak comprising oleate and palmitate esters and a 14% reduction of the A2 ester peak comprising palmitoleate and myristate esters. The chromatogram shown in Figure II – 2b B, shows the remaining retinoids after a 0.4 J/cm<sup>2</sup> dose of UVB in

which the levels of the A1 and A2 esters are comparable. Non-irradiated cultures served as control and their retinoid content is shown for comparison.

The newly synthesized, <sup>3</sup>H-retinoid pools also decreased with increasing doses of UVA (Figure II – 3a) and UVB (Figure II – 3b). As expected, controls demonstrate that during this time the cells took up and metabolized <sup>3</sup>H-Vitamin A1 alcohol mostly to Vitamin A1 (Peaks 7, 9, 11) and A2 esters (Peaks 6, 8) with little substrate <sup>3</sup>H-retinol (Peak 4) remaining. In all treatments, the irradiated cultures generated a retinoid with same retention time as Vitamin A2 alcohol (Peak 3), and in cultures irradiated with 0.4 J/cm<sup>2</sup> UVB, a retinoid with the retention time of Vitamin A2 stearate (Peak 10) was found. This retinoid was not detected in the control cells or in the cells irradiated with the lower two doses. In addition in UVB irradiated cultures after all doses a small peak with retention time corresponding to that of Vitamin A1 acid was detected (Peak 2). The quantity of the peaks with retention times of Vitamin A2 alcohol, and Vitamin A1 acid was too low to verify identity by spectral matching. Even higher doses of UVB (0.6-0.65 J/cm<sup>2</sup>), that were found to lead to cell shrinkage and presumably apoptosis did not destroy completely the A2 esters (data not shown).

### Restoration of Vitamin A1 and A2 ester pools post-UV exposure

The purpose of the next experiment was to determine the time required to restore internal pools of Vitamin A1 and Vitamin A2 esters after UVA or UVB irradiation of cultured keratinocytes. Keratinocytes (NEHK-O) were again grown in 3 - 1 medium till 3 - 4 days post confluence. The cells were washed with PBS and irradiated with a single dose of  $15 \text{ J/cm}^2$  UVA or  $0.4 \text{ J/cm}^2$  UVB radiation. Cultures were fed with 3 - 1 medium and harvested after 1, 2, 3, 4 and 6 days with feeding every other day. Retinoids were extracted, resolved by HPLC and identified by retention time and spectral matching.

After exposure to 15 J/cm<sup>2</sup> of UVA, Vitamin A2 ester pool recovered more slowly than Vitamin A1 ester pool (Fig II – 4 A). More than six days to completely restore the internal ester pools. After UVB treatment (0.4 J/cm<sup>2</sup>) Vitamin A1 and A2 ester pools reach control levels by day 3 – 4 post-irradiation, most likely due to the esters remaining after irradiation (Fig II – 4 B). Initially Vitamin A1 esters recover with faster rate than A2 esters, possibly reflecting the requirement for substrate Vitamin A1 for biosynthesis of Vitamin A2 and its esters. The cells continue to accumulate esters and by the 6<sup>th</sup> day they have about 50% more Vitamin A1 and Vitamin A2 esters.

# Determination of the effect of UVA (15 J/cm<sup>2</sup>) or UVB (0.4 J/cm<sup>2</sup>) irradiation on the *in vitro* conversion of Vitamin A1 to A2 in cultured NHEK cells

The impact of UVA and UVB on the *in vitro* conversion of Vitamin A1 to A2 was next measured. Cultures were grown as described above and were again irradiated with a single dose of UVA ( $15 \text{ J/cm}^2$ ) or UVB ( $0.4 \text{ J/cm}^2$ ). After irradiation cultures were fed with fresh 3 – 1 medium and incubated for 4 hours, 24 hours and 48 hours after the exposure. The *in vitro* Vitamin A1 to A2 conversion assay was

performed with the sonically disrupted cell prepared from irradiated or non-irradiated cultures. The *in vitro* reactions were performed for 1 hour as described in the "Methods" section after which retinoids were extracted and analyzed by HPLC with in-line scintillation counting.

As shown in Figure II – 5 A, the rate of Vitamin A2 synthesis was 22 - 33% greater in extracts prepared from UVA irradiated cultures compared to control. The increase in activity was seen as early as 4 hours after UVA exposure. An increase in conversion activity was also observed in extracts prepared from UVB treated cultures. The 4 hours, 24 hours, and 48 hours extracts were 30%, 83% and 36% greater than control (Figure II – 5 B). These extracts also catalyzed more esterification of both Vitamin A1 alcohol and Vitamin A2 alcohol, indicating a broader impact on retinoid metabolism. For analysis 24 hours post UV exposure was used for experiments that follow.

### UV exposure increases the *in vivo* and *in vitro* synthesis of Vitamin A2

The next phase in my study was designed to determine whether the effect of UVA and UVB on the *in vitro* conversion of Vitamin A1 to A2 was also observed *in vivo*. Three to four days post confluent cultures of NHEK-O were treated as before with a single dose of 15 J/cm<sup>2</sup> UVA or 0.4 J/cm<sup>2</sup> UVB. For the *in vivo* experiments, immediately after the irradiation the cultures were incubated in 3 – 1 medium containing <sup>3</sup>H-Vitamin A1 alcohol. After 24 hours the retinoids were extracted, resolved by HPLC and identified by retention time with in-line scintillation counting. For the *in vitro* experiments, immediately after the irradiation the cultures and harvested. Sonically disrupted cells (0.2 mg/reaction) prepared from irradiated or non-irradiated cultures were used for the *in vitro* assay. The reactions were performed for 1 hour as described in Methods section and retinoids were extracted and analyzed.

Cultured NHEK-O showed a 32% increase in accumulation of Vitamin A2 retinoids 24 hours after irradiation with 15 J/cm<sup>2</sup> of UVA compared to the nonirradiated control. Vitamin A2 alcohol and A2 esters increased 36% and 33%. respectively. No change in the accumulation of Vitamin A1 retinoids was detected (Fig II - 6 A). A greater increase (46%) in Vitamin A2 retinoid synthesis was seen using the in vitro conversion assay; both Vitamin A2 alcohol and ester increased (Figure II – 6 B). Similar to the results obtained with UVA treatment, cultures exposed to 0.4 J/cm<sup>2</sup> UVB accumulated 30% more Vitamin A2 retinoids. Compared to control, Vitamin A2 alcohol and ester increased 40% and 29%, respectively. No change in the accumulation of the Vitamin A1 retinoids was detected (Figure II – 7A). Again, a greater increase (56%) in Vitamin A2 retinoid synthesis was seen using the *in vitro* conversion assay and again increases in both alcohol and ester were found. In contrast to the *in vivo* results, a 25% increase in the Vitamin A1 esters was found in vitro. Because of this discrepancy, the experiment was repeated using an only 0.24 J/cm<sup>2</sup> UVB. Under these conditions, no increase in the <sup>3</sup>H-Vitamin A1 esters were seen *in vivo* or *in vitro*, but increases in <sup>3</sup>H-Vitamin A2 production remained (34% in vivo and 44% in vitro) (Figure II – 7 B).

The observed increases in A2 esters *in vivo* and *in vitro* are most likely driven by increasing substrate – A2 alcohol production. The identity of the activity responsible for increased A1 esters in sonicates from UVB (0.4 J/cm<sup>2</sup>) irradiated cultures is unknown.

### Vitamin A2 limits UV-induced apoptosis more than does Vitamin A1

To determine whether Vitamin A2 esters more effectively reduce UV damage, in the next phase of my study I compared their ability to protect cells from UVA and UVB induced apoptosis. Normal foreskin keratinocytes (NHEK-F) depleted of their internal retinoids by passing them for four times in KGM were used for these experiments; attempts to deplete retinoids from strain NHEK-O resulted in a loss of viability. Cultures grown to one day post confluence in KGM in 6 well plates were supplemented with 0.1  $\mu$ M Vitamin A1 alcohol, 0.1  $\mu$ M Vitamin A2 alcohol, or BSA as a control in media containing 1.5 mM CaCl<sub>2</sub> and 0.5 µM ketoconazole to limit Vitamin A2 conversion from Vitamin A1. After 24 hours at 37°C, cultures were washed once with PBS and exposed to two different doses of UVA (35 J/cm<sup>2</sup>, 40 J/cm<sup>2</sup>) or UVB (0.5 J/cm<sup>2</sup> and 0.6 J/cm<sup>2</sup>). After the exposure the PBS was replaced with the KGM containing the corresponding Vitamin A1 or A2 alcohol or BSA all in presence of 1.5 mM CaCl<sub>2</sub> and 0.5 µM ketoconazole. At 16 hours post UV exposure the cells were harvested and 5000 cells from each sample were assayed for apoptosis by detecting the enrichment of nucleosomes in the cytoplasm using Cell Death Detection ELISA<sup>plus</sup> kit. Non-irradiated replicate cultures were harvested to determine cellular retinoid content.

Based on retention time (Figure II – 8, A) and spectral matching (Figure II – 8, B) of HPLC resolved retinoids, cultures supplemented with Vitamin A1 alcohol produced only Vitamin A1 esters and cultures supplemented with Vitamin A2 alcohol produced only Vitamin A2 esters. The BSA treated cultures had no detectable retinoids. The cultures incubated with Vitamin A1 alcohol accumulated about 4 – 5 times the ester than did cultures incubated with Vitamin A2 alcohol (Figure II – 8, C). Cells cultured in addition of Vitamin A1 and A2 alcohol in the medium have decreased rate of apoptosis compared to those not supplemented with retinoids.

A dose dependent increase in apoptosis was observed in retinoid free cultures exposed to UVA radiation (Figure II – 9, A, B). Vitamin A1 and A2 supplementation reduced the number of apoptotic cells in about equal extend at the low dose of UVA irradiation. At the higher dose Vitamin A2 offered significant protection (p=0.007). Reduction of the apoptotic cells after UVA (40J/cm<sup>2</sup>) irradiation in Vitamin A1 and A2 supplemented cultures was 45 and 74% respectively (Figure II – 9 C).

UVB induced a more robust apoptotic response (Figure II – 10, A, B). The apoptotic response induced by  $0.5 \text{ J/cm}^2$  was reduced in cultures supplemented with either Vitamin A1 alcohol (64%) or Vitamin A2 alcohol (66%). After irradiation with 0.6 J/cm<sup>2</sup>, again only supplementation with Vitamin A2 alcohol significantly (p=0.02) reduced UVB-induced apoptosis – 65%. Vitamin A1 also reduced apoptosis after irradiation with 0.6 J/cm<sup>2</sup> but only 31 % (Figure II – 10 C).
### SUMMARY/CONCLUSIONS

- UVA exposure of keratinocyte cultures causes the preferential loss of Vitamin A1 retinoids in a dose dependent manner. However, UVA exposure will cause the loss of both Vitamin A1 and Vitamin A2 and will do so at doses (15 J/cm<sup>2</sup>) that do not induce apoptosis.
- UVB also causes the preferential loss of Vitamin A1 retinoids in a dose dependent manner. However, in contrast to UVA, cell viability is lost before retinoid depletion.
- Cultures exposed to UVA or UVB are induced to synthesize more Vitamin A2.
- Vitamin A2 retinoids limit UVA and UVB induced apoptosis in cultured epidermal keratinocytes more effectively than do Vitamin A1 retinoids.
- The stability of Vitamin A2 and its enhanced synthesis post-irradiation suggests that these retinoids serve a protective role in UV-exposed keratinocytes.

### FIGURES FOR CHAPTER TWO



В



# Fig II – 1a: Vitamin A1 and A2 esters of cultured NHEK-O after exposure to UVA radiation

The internal ester content of the cells irradiated with different doses UV was determined spectrophotometrically. Shown in the graphs are the dose dependent decreases of the internal Vitamin A1 (A) and A2 (B) esters. Data represent the average  $\pm$  standard deviation for two experiments each with duplicate samples, (n = 4).

1	-	Vitamin A2 ester (16:1, 14:0)
1a	-	Vitamin A1 ester (16:1, 14:0)
2	-	Vitamin A2 ester (18:1, 16:0)
2a	-	Vitamin A1 ester (18:1, 16:0)
~		

- 3 Vitamin A2 ester (18:0)
- 3a Vitamin A1 ester (18:0)

Α



Cells after UVA irradiation (15 J/cm<sup>2</sup>)

# Fig II – 1b: Vitamin A1 and A2 esters of NHEK-O before and immediately after UVA (15 J/cm<sup>2</sup>) exposure

Cultures were grown in 3 – 1 medium until one week post-confluence and then UV irradiated, as described in the Methods section. Immediately after irradiation the cells were harvested, and cellular retinoid content was analyzed by reverse-phase HPLC. The chromatograms show the internal Vitamin A1 and A2 esters in non-irradiated (A) and irradiated (B) cells. Noted by the black arrows are the locations of Vitamin A2 esters.



Α



### Fig II – 2a: Vitamin A1 and A2 esters of cultured NHEK-O after exposure to UVB radiation

The internal ester content of the cells irradiated with different doses UV was determined spectrophotometrically. Shown in the graphs are the dose dependent decreases of the internal Vitamin A1 (A) and A2 (B) esters. Data represent the average ± standard deviation for two experiments each with duplicate samples, (n = 4).

1	-	Vitamin A2 ester (16:1, 14:0)
1 -		Vitamin Ad astan (40.4 44.0)

- 1a Vitamin A1 ester (16:1, 14:0) 2 Vitamin A2 ester (18:1, 16:0)
- Vitamin A1 ester (18:1, 16:0) 2a \_
- 3 Vitamin A2 ester (18:0) -
- \_
- Vitamin A1 ester (18:0) 3a



Cells after UVB irradiation (0.4 J/cm<sup>2</sup>)

# Fig II - 2b: Vitamin A1 and A2 esters of NHEK-O before and immediately after UVB (0.4 J/cm<sup>2</sup>) exposure

Cultures were grown in 3 - 1 medium until one week post-confluence and then UV irradiated, as described in the Methods. Immediately after irradiation the cells were harvested, and cellular retinoid content was analyzed by reverse-phase HPLC. The chromatograms show the internal Vitamin A1 and A2 esters in non-irradiated (A) and irradiated (B) cells. Noted by the black arrows are the locations of Vitamin A2 esters.



# Fig II - 3a: Destruction of <sup>3</sup>H-prelabeled Vitamin A1 and A2 esters in NHEK-O by UVA radiation

The cultures were grown in 3 - 1 medium until one week post-confluence, incubated for 24h with 25nM <sup>3</sup>H-Vitamin A1 alcohol and then UV irradiated with three different doses as described in the Methods. Immediately after irradiation the cells were harvested, and cellular retinoid content was analyzed by reverse-phase HPLC. The chromatograms show the internal <sup>3</sup>H-Vitamin A1 and A2 metabolites in non-irradiated (black) and irradiated (red) cells. Noted by the black arrows are the peaks of Vitamin A2 metabolites. Numbers correspond to the retention times of authentic standards listed in Table I – 2.



# Fig 3b: Destruction of <sup>3</sup>H-prelabeled Vitamin A1 and A2 esters in NHEK-O by UVB radiation

The cultures were grown in 3 - 1 medium until one week post-confluence, incubated for 24h with 25nM <sup>3</sup>H-Vitamin A1 alcohol and then UV irradiated with three different doses as described in the Methods. Immediately after irradiation the cells were harvested, and cellular retinoid content was analyzed by reverse-phase HPLC. The chromatograms show the internal <sup>3</sup>H-Vitamin A1 and A2 metabolites in non-irradiated (black) and irradiated (red) cells. Noted by the black arrows are the peaks of Vitamin A2 metabolites. Numbers correspond to the retention times of authentic standards listed in Table I – 2.





#### Fig II - 4: Restoration of NHEK-O Vitamin A1 to A2 esters pool pot-UV exposure

The cultures were grown in 3 - 1 medium until two days post-confluence and then UV irradiated as described in the Methods section. After irradiation, the cells were supplemented with 3 - 1 medium until the days post-exposure as indicated and cellular retinoids ester content was analyzed by reverse-phase HPLC. The cellular Vitamin A1 and A2 retinoids was determined spectrophotometrically. Time 0 equals immediately after irradiation. Shown in the figure are Vitamin A1 and A2 metabolites presented as fraction of the control (retinoid amount of irradiated cells/amount of none irradiated control cells). Data represent the average  $\pm$  standard deviation for two experiments each with duplicate samples (n = 4).





# Fig II - 5: *In vitro* conversion of Vitamin A1 to A2 in cultured NHEK-O after different time post exposure to UV radiation

The cultures were grown in 3 - 1 medium until three - four days post-confluence and then UV irradiated. At different time post exposure as indicated the cells were harvested by trypsinisation, sonically disrupted and *in vitro* assayed as described in the Methods section. The retinoid metabolites were extracted and analyzed by reverse-phase HPLC. Shown is upregulated Vitamin A1 and A2 conversion. Data represent the average ± standard deviation for two experiments each with duplicate samples (n = 4). UV radiation significantly increased Vitamin A2 synthesis ( $\Rightarrow$ ) 24 h post-exposure. Significance is defined as p<0.05.

Α





#### Fig II - 6: Effect of UVA radiation on Vitamin A1 to A2 conversion

The cultures were grown in 3 – 1 medium until three - four days post-confluence and then UV irradiated. Immediately after the exposure the cells were incubated for 24h with or without 25nM <sup>3</sup>H-Vitamin A1 alcohol. The labeled cells were harvested, and cellular retinoid content was analyzed by reverse-phase HPLC (A). Data represent the average ± standard deviation for five experiments each with duplicate samples (n = 10). Non-labeled cells were harvested by trypsinisation, sonically disrupted and *in vitro* assayed. Retinoid metabolites were extracted and analyzed by reverse-phase HPLC. Data represent the average ± standard deviation for ten experiments each with duplicate samples (n = 20). Shown is Vitamin A2 accumulation *in vivo* (A) and upregulated synthesis *in vitro* (B). UVA radiation significantly increased Vitamin A2 synthesis ( $\Rightarrow$ ) *in vivo* and *in vitro*. Significance is defined as p<0.05.



Α



#### Fig II - 7: Effect of UVB radiation on Vitamin A1 to A2 conversion

The cultures were grown in 3 – 1 medium until three - four days post-confluence and then UV irradiated. Immediately after the exposure the cells were incubated for 24h with or without 25 nM <sup>3</sup>H-Vitamin A1 alcohol. The labeled cells were harvested, and cellular retinoid content was analyzed by reverse-phase HPLC (A). Data represent the average ± standard deviation for two experiments each with duplicate samples (n = 4). Non-labeled cells were harvested by trypsinisation, sonically disrupted and *in vitro* assayed. Retinoid metabolites were extracted and analyzed by reverse-phase HPLC. Data represent the average ± standard deviation for two – three experiments each with duplicate samples (n = 4 – 6). Shown is Vitamin A2 accumulation *in vivo* (A) and upregulated synthesis *in vitro* (B). UVB radiation significantly increased Vitamin A2 synthesis ( $\Rightarrow$ ) *in vivo* and *in vitro*. Significance is defined as p<0.05.



220.00 240.00 250.00 280.00 300.00 320.00 340.00 350 00 380.00

1m

В





### Fig II - 8: Accumulation of Vitamin A1 and A2 esters for 24h in cultured NHEK-F

Cells depleted from the internal retinoid content were grown in KGM medium until three – four days post-confluence and supplemented with Vitamin A1 (0.1  $\mu$ M) or A2 (0.1  $\mu$ M) alcohol or BSA (control). The medium contained also 1.5 mM Ca<sup>++</sup> and 0.5  $\mu$ M ketoconazole. 24h post-treatment with Vitamin A1 and A2 alcohol the cells were harvested and cellular retinoids content was analyzed by reverse-phase HPLC. Cells that were supplemented with Vitamin A1 (0.1  $\mu$ M) alcohol accumulate only A1 esters (A – upper panel) and cells that were supplemented with Vitamin A2 (0.1  $\mu$ M) alcohol accumulate only A2 esters (A – lower panel). Noted by the black arrows are the correct retention times of Vitamin A2 esters. This was confirmed by obtaining the correct absorption spectrum for Vitamin A1 esters (B – upper panel) and A2 esters (B – lower panel). Shown in the bar graph is the cellular content of Vitamin A1 and A2 esters accumulated for 24h by the cells (C).

С



С

Α

**Fig II - 9: Detection of nucleosomes in cytoplasmic fractions of cultured NHEK-F after UVA irradiation** Cells with depleted internal retinoid content were grown in KGM medium until post-confluence and supplemented for 24h with Vitamin A1 (0.1  $\mu$ M), A2 (0.1  $\mu$ M) alcohol or BSA (control). The medium also contained 1.5 mM Ca<sup>++</sup> and 0.5  $\mu$ M ketoconazole. After the incubation period the cells were irradiated with a single dose of UVA radiation – 30 J/cm<sup>2</sup> (A) or 40 J/cm<sup>2</sup> (B). After irradiation the cells were allowed to recover in the corresponding medium for 16 hours and then harvested and subjected to cell death detection ELISA plus assay. The level of apoptotic cells measured by the absorbance for the two UVA treatments is shown in Panels A and B. The dashed line is set at the level of the no retinoid, 0 J/cm<sup>2</sup> control. The protective function of the retinoids is shown in Panel C (Extent of reduction of apoptosis = absorbance of the UV irradiated sample (supplemented with retinoids)/absorbance of the UV irradiated control (no retinoids)). At 40 J/cm<sup>2</sup> only Vitamin A2 significantly reduced apoptosis, compared to the no retinoid control ( $\Rightarrow$ ). Significance is defined as p<0.05.



Fig II - 10: Detection of nucleosomes in cytoplasmic fractions of cultured NHEK-F after UVB irradiation Cells with depleted internal retinoid content were grown in KGM medium until post-confluence and supplemented for 24h with Vitamin A1 (0.1  $\mu$ M), A2 (0.1  $\mu$ M) alcohol or BSA (control). The medium also contained 1.5 mM Ca<sup>++</sup> and 0.5  $\mu$ M ketoconazole. After the incubation period the cells were irradiated with a single dose of UVB radiation – 0.5 J/cm<sup>2</sup>(A) or 0.6 J/cm<sup>2</sup>(B). After irradiation the cells were allowed to recover in the corresponding medium for 16 hours and then harvested and subjected to cell death detection ELISA plus assay. The level of apoptotic cells measured by the absorbance for the two UVB treatments is shown in Panels A and B. The dashed line is set at the level of the no retinoid, 0 J/cm<sup>2</sup> control. The protective function of the retinoids is shown in Panel C (Extent of reduction of apoptosis = absorbance of the UV irradiated sample (supplemented with retinoids)/absorbance of the UV irradiated control (no retinoids)). At 0.5 J/cm<sup>2</sup> both Vitamin A1 and A2 significantly reduced apoptosis compared to the no retinoid control ( $\ddagger$ ). However at 0.6 J/cm<sup>2</sup> only Vitamin A2 significantly reduced apoptosis ( $\ddagger$ ). Significance is defined as p<0.05.

В

Α

С

### **CHAPTER 3**

### ANALYSIS OF THE CAPABILITIES OF VITAMIN A1 AND A2 ACIDS TO ALTER EXPRESSION OF GENES PARTICIPATING IN p53 MEDIATED UV RESPONSE

The data presented in Chapter 2 suggested that Vitamin A2 esters could serve a protective function against UV damage. It was therefore of interest to determine whether Vitamin A2 acid also alters the response to UV. Vitamin A1 acid ameliorates UVB damage through altering gene transcription (27, 24). Presumably the effect of Vitamin A2 acid would also involve its role as a transcription factor ligand (2, 119). To screen for this effect and to determine whether Vitamin A1 and A2 acids elicit different transcriptional responses to UV, gene expression profiling was carried out on 84 genes related to the p53 signaling pathway. P53 responsive genes were chosen due to the documented role that p53 plays in the cellular response to UV damage (24). Vitamin A2 acid and <sup>3</sup>H-Vitamin A2 acid used for these experiments was synthesized by Prof. Kathleen Parker and Erik Stolarzewicz, Department of Chemistry, SUNY at Stony Brook.

### Purification of newly synthesized Vitamin A2

The newly synthesized Vitamin A2 acid was first extracted (15), dried under argon and purified by reverse phase HPLC on a semi-preparative NovaPakC18 column. A 15 minutes linear gradient from 10 nM ammonium acetate in methanol:water (68:32) to methanol:dichloromethane (4:1) followed by a 15 minutes hold at a flow rate of 4 ml/minute was used for the separation. As shown in Figure III –1 this chromatography yielded five peaks with absorbance at 326 nm. Peaks 1, 2, and 3 had spectra matching Vitamin A2 alcohol. Peak 3, which contained the most mass, was collected, dried under argon and further purified by reverse phase HPLC using a SunFire C18 column and the same mobile gradient system, but with a flow rate of 1 ml/minute. Two peaks were eluted both of which contained material with spectra matching Vitamin A2 alcohol (Figure III –2). The major peak of pure Vitamin A2 acid was collected dried under argon and an aliquot was subjected to reverse phase HPLC using an analytical NovaPakC18 column with absorbance detection at 326 nm. The only peak detected had the retention time (11.15 minutes) and spectra (Figure III – 3 A) of Vitamin A2 acid. The absorption

spectrum was confirmed using a separate spectrophotometer (Fig. III – 3 B). The retention time was 1 minute less than the retention time of Vitamin A1 acid (12.23 minutes, data not shown), which corresponds to previous observations.

The identity of newly synthesized Vitamin A2 acid was confirmed by mass spectrometry and the isomer as all-*trans* was confirmed by Nuclear Magnetic Resonance (data not shown). These analyses were performed by Prof. Kathleen Parker and Erik Stolarzewicz in the Department of Chemistry, SUNY at Stony Brook.

### Newly synthesized and purified Vitamin A2 acid is functionally active

To ensure that the purified Vitamin A2 acid is free of any contaminants that might inhibit its function as a transcription factor ligand, HaCaT cells were transfected with vectors containing retinioic acid response elements (RARE) driving CAT expression. The RARE used were those containing direct repeats with half sites separated by one (DR1), two (DR2) or five (DR5) nucleotides, each of which is found to regulate different target genes (64). The sequence containing the DR1 and DR2 RAREs were introduced into pBLCAT2 (Fig. III – 4) by cloning between the HindIII and XbaI restriction sites. Dr. N. Markova from our laboratory kindly provided the construct harboring DR5 RARE also in pBLCAT2 and cloned into the HindIII and XbaI restriction sites. Insert orientation was verified by DNA sequencing carried out by the DNA sequencing facility at Stony Brook University.

Each plasmid DNA was introduced into HaCaT cells by transfection: these cells transfect at high efficiency even when depleted of internal retinoid stores. After glycerol shock, PBS was replaced with KGM supplemented with 10 or 100 nM Vitamin A1 acid, or with 10 or 100 nM Vitamin A2 acid. Cultures grown with 1 mg/ml BSA were used as control. After 40 hours incubation at 37°C, cell extracts were prepared and assayed for CAT activity. Extracts from nontransfected cells were used to measure background which should be equal to the activity observed with extracts prepared from transfectants grown with 1 mg/ml BSA. This was observed in cells transfected with the DR1 and DR5 RARE constructs, but not with the DR2 RARE constructs. The DR2 RARE showed a 68% loss of CAT activity compared to background confounding interpretation of data from this arm of the experiment. Vitamin A1 acid positively regulated activity only in cells transfected with the DR1 RARE construct with significance reached using 100 nM concentrations (Figure III -5). Vitamin A2 acid also positively regulated the CAT activity driven by the DR1 RARE and also required 100 nM concentrations to reach significance. In contrast to Vitamin A1 acid, the A2 acid also drove CAT activity off of the DR5 RARE constructs when supplied at 100 nM.

As Vitamin A2 acid drove transcription off of exogenous promoters, the presence of transcription inhibiting contaminants is unlikely and the newly synthesized retinoids were then used for the series of experiments leading to and including gene expression profiling. The ability of Vitamin A2 acid but not Vitamin A1 acid to drive transcription off of the DR5 RARE supports the notion that dependent upon promoter context and transcription factor expression Vitamin A1 and A2 acids may differentially regulate the transcriptome. Contributing to the observed difference

may be the expression of RAR $\beta$  which in HaCaT cells are expressed in addition to RAR $\alpha$ , RAR $\gamma$  and RXR $\alpha$  normally found in NHEK (120).

# Retinoid depleted NHEK take up and accumulate different levels of Vitamin A1 and A2 acids

Keratinocytes grown in 3 - 1 medium have previously been shown to take up and concentrate Vitamin A1 acid 50-100 X over media concentrations and then to rapidly metabolize it (89). Because it is unlikely that the media concentrations of the retinoid acids will be identical to the cellular concentrations, prior to gene expression profiling, the uptake and metabolism of <sup>3</sup>H-Vitamin A1 acid and <sup>3</sup>H-Vitamin A2 acid was compared.

For these experiments, <sup>3</sup>H-Vitamin A2 acid was synthesized Prof. Kathleen Parker and Erik Stolarzewicz, Department of Chemistry, SUNY at Stony Brook and then purified using the protocol developed for nonlabeled Vitamin A2 acid. <sup>3</sup>H-Vitamin A1 acid was purchased from PerkinElmer Life and Analytical Sciences. The purity of each of the retinoid acids was verified by retention time on reverse phase HPLC with in-line scintillation (Fig III – 6). Cultures were depleted of retinoids by passage in KGM and loss of residual retinoid stores was verified by HPLC analysis of extracted lipids (data not shown). Because specific activity of newly synthesized <sup>3</sup>H-Vitamin A2 acid was low (30 dpm/pmol), <sup>3</sup>H-Vitamin A1 acid was diluted with nonlabeled Vitamin A1 acid to achieve same specific activity for both acids and  $\mu$ M concentrations of each radiolabeled acid was used to monitor cellular concentrations.

Replicate plates of retinoid depleted normal human keratinocytes (strain NHEK-F) were cultured in KGM to one day post-confluence, and then switched to KGM supplemented with 1.5 mM CaCl<sub>2</sub> for 24 hours. As expected, the addition of 1.5 mM CaCl<sub>2</sub>, resulted in an increased cell:cell contact which microscopically mimics that observed in cultures grown in 3 – 1 medium (Figure III – 7) and promotes differentiation as monitored by involucrin and the formation of suprabasal keratinocytes (Figure III – 8). Cultures were then pulsed with <sup>3</sup>H Vitamin A1 (1µM or 0.25µM) or <sup>3</sup>H Vitamin A2 (1µM) acids in high calcium KGM medium; non-labeled cultures were used as control. At 2, 6, and 24 hours media samples were taken and cells were harvested for retinoid extraction and analysis by HPLC with in-line scintillation counting. Even at 1 µM of the retinoid acids, cultures appeared normal microscopically with the predicted formation of suprabasal layers and increased cell:cell contact (Figure III – 9).

Typical chromatograms of the extracted retinoids are shown in Figure III – 10 and the calculated intracellular concentration of the acids is shown in Figure III – 11. As previously observed in keratinocytes cultured in 3 – 1 medium, KGM cultured keratinocytes rapidly concentrated medium retinoid acids and then lost these acids presumably due to oxidative metabolism. Incubation with 1  $\mu$ M and 0.25  $\mu$ M <sup>3</sup>H-Vitamin A1 acid resulted in the accumulation of 100  $\mu$ M and 27  $\mu$ M <sup>3</sup>H-Vitamin A1 acid intracellularly at the 2 hours time point. A reduction of 30% in the intracellular concentration of the A1 acid was observed at 6 hours and further reductions were noted at 24 hours. Similar results were obtained in incubations with 1  $\mu$ M <sup>3</sup>H-Vitamin A2 acid. However, the concentration effect was 25-fold not 100-fold. At 2 hours the intracellular concentration of <sup>3</sup> H-Vitamin A2 acids was about 25  $\mu$ M. This acid was also reduced about 40% during the incubation period. Because the cultured keratinocytes concentrate these retinoids and do so to different extents, in order to achieve physiologic levels intracellularly (~10 nM), Vitamin A1 and A2 acid should be added at 0.25 nM and 1.0 nM, respectively. Because Vitamin A1 retinoids are typically 3 – 4 folds more abundant, comparisons using 1.0 nM Vitamin A1 acid are also warranted.

### Gene expression profiling of Vitamin A1 and A2 acid treated keratinocytes

These sets of experiments were based on the use of the RT Profiler PCR Array System and examined the gene expression profile of 84 genes that are transcriptionally regulated by the p53 protein. This system was chosen because it combines the advantage of the real time PCR sensitivity with the ability of microarrays to detect the expression of many genes simultaneously.

Retinoid depleted normal human keratinocytes (strain NHEK-F) were again cultured in KGM to one day post-confluence, and switched to KGM supplemented with 1.5 mM CaCl<sub>2</sub> for 24 hours. Replicate cultures were then treated for 4 hours with 0.25 nM and 1.0 nM Vitamin A1 acid and 1.0 nM Vitamin A2 acid to allow expression of early retinoid target genes. Cells were then harvested and total RNA was extracted. RNA quality was confirmed by agarose gel electrophoresis with ethidium bromide staining, which showed sharp rRNA band and by an absorption ratio of 260/280 which was 2.0 (Figure III – 12). Next the RNA preps were reverse transcribed to cDNA and used for PCR - Based Gene Expression Profiling. The analysis of the data was performed using the free software provided by the manufacturer. This software uses the delta-delta CT method, which is based on the assumption that the efficiency of the primers for the different genes is identical. That is why this method is approximate. Only genes demonstrating about two fold differences were further evaluated.

Shown in Figure III – 13a-c are scatter plots of the relative change in genes expressed in retinoid-treated versus non-treated control cultures. The graphs were generated using the delta-delta CT method software and are the average of two independent experiments. Treatment with 1 nM Vitamin A1 acid resulted in a relative increase in the mRNA levels of FASLG, E2F1, E2F3 and CDK4 and a decrease in the expression of IFNb. Treatment with 0.25 nM Vitamin A1 acid resulted in an increase in the mRNA levels of E2F1 and TP73 and a decrease in IFNb, and treatment with 1 nM Vitamin A2 acid resulted in an increase in FASLG and E2F1 relative to controls.

Dependent upon the expression levels of each gene, this screening can generate false positives and false negatives. Therefore, the expression levels of these genes and several others (Tables III – 1) that showed 1.5 or 0.5 fold differences in the mRNA expression were measured using real time RT-PCR. Eleven of the twelve genes evaluated showed less than two fold differences compared to control (Fig III – 14 a). The expression of BAI1, BCL2A1 and E2F3 were enhanced ~1.5 fold in the 1 nM Vitamin A1 acid treatment group, the

expression of ESR1 was enhanced 25 - 50% in each treatment group and the expression of IL6 was reduced  $\sim$  40% in each treatment group.

The expression of one gene, FASLG, was increased ~ 9 fold in cultures incubated with 0.25 nM or 1.0 nM Vitamin A1 acid. Fas ligand and the Fas receptor (FasR) are transmembrane proteins. When Fas ligand binds to the FasR of the target cell, the receptor trimerizes, leading to binding of FADD and procaspase 8 which then autocatalyzes leading to a series of proteolytic events and cell death. This pathway is used by cytotoxic T lymphocytes in cell mediated immunity and alternatively is used to generate immune privilege in cornea.

FAS/FASLG driven apoptosis is active in mouse and human skin. The Vitamin A1 acid mediated increase in FASLG is consistent with earlier reports using immortalized and newborn mouse keratinocytes (134) and mouse dermal fibroblasts (99). The negative regulation of FASLG by Vitamin A1 acid in thymocytes was only found at concentrations  $\geq$  100 nM (53, 58, 126) and were postulated to be the result of suppression of AP-1 and NFAT transcriptional activation. In normal human keratinocytes grown in 3 – 1 medium, both Fas and FASLG were shown to be up regulated within 4 hours of UV irradiation (59), suggesting their physiological relevance and their participation eliminating "sunburn cells". In this regard it is noteworthy that PUVA treatment (a combination of 8-methoxypsoralen and UVA radiation) has been used to eliminate highly proliferative cells in the epidermis and that data from FASLG-null mice demonstrate that PUVA induced apoptosis requires Fas/FasL (101).

In contrast to the results obtained with Vitamin A1 acid, treatment with Vitamin A2 acid did not significantly enhance FASLG expression. Thus, while both acids positively regulated some of the tested genes, their function is non-identical. This is not entirely surprising. It is well known that the transcriptional activity of retinoids in general is dependent upon their chemistry and conformation. This dictates binding affinity to and conformational changes in the nuclear receptors with which the retinoids interact and which can lead to differences in the proteins recruited to promoters. Irrespective of the mechanism, the data supports the notion that Vitamin A2 acid has a unique function.

### SUMMARY/CONCLUSIONS

- In cultured NHEK, the uptake and accumulation of Vitamin A2 acid is 4 fold less than Vitamin A1 acid.
- Vitamin A2 acid serves as a transcription factor ligand which uniquely modulates gene transcription; some but not all genes are positively or negatively regulated similarly to Vitamin A1 acid
- The Vitamin A2 and A1 families appear to cooperate in regulating apoptosis. The Vitamin A2 family of retinoids appears to protect keratinocytes against apoptosis, while the Vitamin A1 family of retinoid appears to promote apoptosis.
  - Cells treated with Vitamin A1 acid increase FASLG, while cells treated with Vitamin A2 do not.
  - Cells treated with Vitamin A2 alcohol are more resistant to UV-induced apoptosis.

#### FIGURES FOR CHAPTER THREE



# Fig III - 1: Reverse- phase gradient HPLC resolution of the newly synthesized Vitamin A2 acid

The crude preparation of newly synthesized Vitamin A2 acid was extracted by using Bligh and Dyer extraction procedure dried and resolve on reverse phase semi-preparative NovaPackC18 column. Peaks 1, 2, 3 have retinoid spectrally matching Vitamin A2 acid.



# Fig III - 2: Reverse-phase gradient HPLC resolution of partially purified Vitamin A2 acid peak 3 from the previous separation on NovaPackC18 column

Peak 3 (Figure III – 1) was collected and further purified by reverse phase HPLC using SunFireC18 column. The major peak with retention time between 17.22 - 17.91 minutes corresponds to Vitamin A2 acid.



Fig III - 3: The purified Vitamin A2 acid was next resolved by HPLC using Nova-Pak HR C18 reverse phase column and identified as pure Vitamin A2 acid by retention time and spectral matching (A, B)

Α



### Fig III - 4: Plasmid pBLCAT2

This plasmid was used to clone RARE (DR1, or DR2) sequences between Hind III and Xba I restriction enzyme sites in front of a  $\Delta$  tk promoter.



# Fig III - 5: Capabilities of vitamin A1 or A2 acids to promote transcription through DR1 regulatory sequences

HaCaT cells depleted of retinoids and transfected with pBLCAT2 plasmid carrying DR1 or DR5 RARE were supplemented with 10 nM or 100 nM Vitamin A1 acid; 10 nM or 100 nM Vitamin A2 acid or 1 mg/ml BSA. After 40h of incubation the cultures were analyzed using CAT reporter assay. Shown in the bar graphs is the relative change in expression compared to non-transfected control. Data represent the average  $\pm$  standard deviation for two experiments each with duplicate samples, (n = 4).



**Fig III - 6: Reverse- phase gradient HPLC resolution of** <sup>3</sup>**H-Vitamin A1 and A2 acids** <sup>3</sup>H-Vitamin A2 acid (1) and Vitamin A1 acid (2) standards resolve on NovaPack HR C18 reverse phase column.



KGM with 1.5 mM Ca<sup>++</sup>



KGM without Ca<sup>++</sup>



**Fig III - 7: Normal human epidermal foreskin keratinocytes** Cells were grown in the three indicated media until two days post-confluence.



### Fig III - 8: Involucrin expression of NHEK-F

Phase contrast microscopic appearance of two days post-confluent cells grown in 3 - 1 medium (Panel A and C), KGM supplemented with 1.5mM Ca<sup>++</sup> (Panel B and D), and KGM low calcium (Panel E). The negative controls without primary antibody are shown in A and B.

### **Untreated NHFK cells**





Α



For 24h



**Fig III - 9: NHEK-F treated with Vitamin A1 or A2 acid for different periods of time** Cultures grown to one day postconfuence in KGM incubated for one day with KGM – high Ca<sup>++</sup> and then supplied with Vitamin A1 or A2 acid for the indicated times.



Fig III - 10: Reverse- phase gradient HPLC resolution of <sup>3</sup>H-cellular and medium retinoids Two days post-confluent NHEK-K depleted of internal retinoid stores were supplemented with  $1\mu$ M <sup>3</sup>H-Vitamin A1 (lower panels) or A2 (upper panels) acid for 2h and analyzed by reversephase HPLC. No oxidized metabolites were detected with cellular content (A) or medium (B).



**Fig III - 11: Uptake and metabolism of** <sup>3</sup>**H-Vitamin A1 and A2 acids by NHEK-F** Two days post-confluent cultures depleted of internal retinoids were supplemented with  $1\mu$ M <sup>3</sup>H-Vitamin A1 or A2 acid, or  $0.25\mu$ M Vitamin A1 acid for different periods of time and their cellular <sup>3</sup>H-retinoid content was analyzed by reverse-phase HPLC.



## Fig III - 12: Determination of RNA integrity

Total RNA was isolated from NHEK-F grown in KGM to two days post-confluence and then incubated for 4 hours with:

Line 1 – cells treated with 1 nM Vitamin A1 acid

Line 2 – cells treated with 1 nM Vitamin A2 acid

Line 3 – cells treated with 0.25 nM Vitamin A1acid

Line 4 – control cells without treatment

RNA was electrophoretically separated in a 2% agarose gel.

## Vitamin A1 acid [1nM]



Fig III - 13a: Vitamin A1 acid (1 nM) regulated gene expression

Shown in the graph is relative change of gene expression in two days post confluent NHEK-F grown in KGM medium supplemented with 1.5 mM Ca<sup>++</sup> in presence of 1nM Vitamin A1 acid (Group 1) for 4 h compared to the untreated control (Control group).

## Vitamin A2 acid [1nM]



Fig III – 13b: Vitamin A2 acid (1 nM) regulated gene expression

Shown in the graph is relative change of gene expression in two days post confluent NHEK-F grown in KGM medium supplemented with 1.5 mM Ca<sup>++</sup> in presence of 1nM Vitamin A2 acid (Group 2) for 4 h compared to the untreated control (Control group)

## Vitamin A1 acid [0.25nM]



**Fig III - 13c: Vitamin A1 acid (0.25 nM) regulated gene expression** Shown in the graph is relative change of gene expression in two days post confluent NHEK-F grown in KGM medium supplemented with 1.5 mM Ca<sup>++</sup> in presence of 0.25 nM Vitamin A1 acid (Group 3) for 4 h compared to the untreated control (Control group).
	Vitamin	A1	Vitamin	A2	Vitamin	A1
	[1 nM]	stdev	[1 nM]	stdev	[0.25 nM]	stdev
Gene symbol						
BAI1	1.67	0.20	1.14	0.26	1.39	0.28
BCL2A1	1.37	0.16	1.43	0.56	1.12	0.42
BRCA2	1.41	0.37	1.17	1.02	1.16	0.67
ESR1	1.29	0.88	1.63	0.18	1.25	0.07
FADD	1.63	0.46	1.45	0.20	1.14	0.26
IL6	1.47	0.77	1.07	0.09	1.67	0.80
IFNB1	0.76	0.27	0.90	0.26	0.62	0.05
CDK4	2.19	0.88	2.05	1.30	1.94	1.11
TP73	1.85	0.28	1.84	0.35	3.01	1.21
E2F1	3.76	2.99	2.72	1.31	2.87	2.05
E2F3	2.17	0.57	1.46	0.64	1.85	0.07
FASLG	2.50	1.07	2.15	0.65	1.00	0.22

В

Unigene	GeneBank	Gene Symbol	Description	
Hs.194654	NM_001702	BAI1	Brain-specific angiogenesis inhibitor 1	
Hs.227817	NM_004049	BCL2A1	BCL2-related protein A1	
Hs.34012	NM_000059	BRCA2	Breast cancer 2, early onset	
Hs.95577	NM_000075	CDK4	Cyclin-dependent kinase 4	
Hs.654393	NM_005225	E2F1	E2F transcription factor 1	
Hs.269408	NM_001949	E2F3	E2F transcription factor 3	
Hs.208124	NM_000125	ESR1	Estrogen receptor 1	
Hs.86131	NM_003824	FADD	Fas (TNFRSF6)-associated via death domain	
Hs.2007	NM_000639	FASLG	Fas ligand (TNF superfamily, member 6)	
Hs.93177	NM_002176	IFNB1	Interferon, beta 1, fibroblast	
Hs.654458	NM_000600	IL6	Interleukin 6 (interferon, beta 2)	
Hs.697294	NM_005427	TP73	Tumor protein p73	

Table III - 1: Chosen genes to be assessed by real time RT-PCRShown in the tables are the relative change obtained by PCR - Based Gene ExpressionProfiling experiments (A), and gene description (B).



В

Α



# Fig III - 14: Gene expression in NHEK-F

Real time RT-PCR conformation of changes in gene expression due to treatment with Vitamin A1 or A2 acids. Shown in the bar graphs are genes with less than two fold change (A) and FASLG (B).

### SUMMARY

Vitamin A and its derivatives play an important role in epidermal cell growth and differentiation. Keratinocytes have the ability to enzymatically convert Vitamin A1 alcohol to A2 alcohol. The two molecules differ by the addition of a double bond in the  $\beta$ -ionone ring of the Vitamin A2. The skin is one of the few tissues that produce Vitamin A2 naturally but the biological significance and functions of these retinoids in the skin is not well understood.

Previous work has shown that Vitamin A1 can be as effective as a sunscreen with SPF 20 at limiting ultraviolet (UV) radiation. At the same time it has also been shown that exposure of Vitamin A1 alcohol or ester to UV radiation generates numerous reactive oxygen species (ROS). These ROS have detrimental effect on the cells by damaging a number of cellular targets, including proteins, lipids and DNA. Furthermore *in vitro* experiments have shown that Vitamin A1 esters (retinyl palmitate) and its decomposition products can be photomutagenic agents. Vitamin A2 alcohol is more stable and is depleted more slowly than Vitamin A1 by UV irradiation. It is found in the eye lens of some lizard species where it binds to  $\iota$ -crystallin and serves as a filter that absorbs short wave length radiation and protects the retina from the harmful UV radiation.

Numerous studies have shown that the active form of Vitamin A1 – the retinoic acid (Vitamin A1 acid) is a transcription factor ligand that participates in the regulation of a broad spectrum of cellular functions including the response to UV radiation. Vitamin A1 acid can bind to several different nuclear receptors and influence the expression of genes that, in many instances, have opposite functions dependent upon cell type and pattern of receptors expressed.

In vitro and in vivo studies have shown that Vitamin A2 acid is biologically active and has array of properties that are similar to Vitamin A1 acid. In the light, its stability to photodecomposition and because differences in retinoid chemistry predicts differences in transcriptional impact, our long term goal was to understand the biological function of the Vitamin A2. Our short term goals were to determine the impact of UV radiation on retinoid stability and biosynthesis within keratinocytes and to determine the differential impact of Vitamin A1 and A2 retinoids on the keratinocyte response to UV.

To achieve these goals [1] an *in vitro* assay for conversion of Vitamin A1 to A2 was developed, [2] the reciprocal effects of retinoid status on cellular response to UV were measured and [3] the impact of Vitamin A1 and A2 acid on p53 related gene expressed was assessed. The assay is the first to describe the conditions needed for *in vitro* synthesis of Vitamin A2 alcohol and to demonstrate the plasma membrane as a subcellular location for its biosynthesis. Similar to other desaturase complexes, the converting activity is NADPH dependent and inhibited by ketoconazole. Vitamin A1 to A2 converting activity is under

differentiation control and is upregulated following UV irradiation. The A2 retinoids limit UVA and UVB induced apoptosis more efficiently than the A1 retinoids. This result may be the sum of multiple differences between the retinoids including stability of Vitamin A1 and A2 esters, photodecomposition products and transcriptional changes consequent to A1 and A2 acid nuclear localization. Gene expression profiling of p53 related genes with confirmation by real time PCR demonstrated similarities in the transcriptional response to the two acids with one major difference. FASLG expression was differentially regulated by Vitamin A1 and A2 acid are non-identical and suggest that Vitamin A2 acid has a unique and dedicated role in skin biology. For instance, under certain conditions Vitamin A2 acid can bind to nuclear retinoic acid receptor (RAR) and have similar effects on the gene expression as Vitamin A1 acid that could trigger cell growth arrest. Contrarily in a different setting it can bind the orphan nuclear receptor and inhibit the apoptosis and stimulate the growth of the cells (136).

In the cultured keratinocytes Vitamin A2 esters are more stable than Vitamin A1 esters after UV irradiation. Using "cell death detection ELISA plus assay" it was possible to show that Vitamin A2 esters provide better protection from UV induced apoptosis compared to Vitamin A1 esters.

#### DISCUSSION

The skin is the primary barrier to the environment. It is a specialized organ that protects the body from the harmful effects of different factors of physical, chemical and biological origin. To perform this complex function the skin has elaborated specialized architecture and complex signaling systems employing a wide array of molecular species. Among its numerous unique properties, the skin has developed the ability to convert Vitamin A1 to Vitamin A2. In studies with different species, these two families of retinoids have been shown to be able to perform a variety of functions; several of which enhance the protective quality of the skin. The biology and the function of Vitamin A1 in the skin has been the subject of numerous studies and is much better understood compared to Vitamin A2.

Vitamin A2 was first described in human skin by Vahlquist in 1980 (128). However, since that time there have been only a limited number of reports on this vitamin. From these reports we know that Vitamin A2 retinoids can bind with comparable affinities to nuclear receptors to transactivate genes (119). It has also been shown that Vitamin A2 acid but not Vitamin A1 acid inhibits the activity of retinol dehydrogenase-4 (RoDH-4) *in vitro* (54). In this dissertation an *in vitro* assay for conversion of Vitamin A1 alcohol to Vitamin A2 alcohol was described for the first time and functions important to skin biology were identified.

Critical for epidermal maintenance and differentiation are enzymes catalyzing fatty acid, ceramide and retinol desaturation. We believe that similar to fatty acid desaturases such as  $\Delta$  5- (22),  $\Delta$  6- (46) and  $\Delta$  9- (76) desaturases Vitamin A1 to A2 converting activity is a part of a membrane bound enzyme complex. The desaturase enzyme complexes may include NADH cytochrome *b*(5) reductase and cytochrome *b*(5) or may include p450 (CYP) enzymes. These desaturase complexes facilitate coupled reactions that transfer electrons from NAD(P)H to a terminal desaturase. The first component of these electron-transport chains is a cytochrome *b*(5) reductase, which accepts electrons from NAD(P)H and transports them to the cytochrome *b*(5) heme group. The next reaction transfers electrons from cytochrome *b*(5) to the terminal desaturase.

Desaturation that leads to changes in biological function is exemplified in ceramide formation. The biosynthesis of ceramide (*N*-acylsphingosine) which is a bioactive lipid involved in cell growth, differentiation and apoptosis has been shown to require the introduction of a 4,5-*trans*-double bond in dihydroceramide (*i.e. N*-acylsphinganine). This desaturation is necessary for its biological activity (38). The enzyme responsible for the double bond formation – dihydroceramide desaturase has a mechanism of action that resembles the mechanism of  $\Delta$  9-desaturase (stearoyl-CoA desaturase) and uses either NADH or NADPH as a cofactor (72).

Ketoconazole a known inhibitor of p450 enzymes inhibits Vitamin A2 biosynthesis in cultured cells (121) and inhibits the Vitamin A1 to A2 converting activity detected in homogenates, suggesting that p450 enzymes may be involved in the desaturation of the  $\beta$ -ionone ring of Vitamin A1. A possible participant in electron transport is NADPH:cytochrome p450 reductase. In plants NADPH:cytochrome p450 reductase catalyzes the transfer of electrons from NADPH to cytochrome b(5), which then donate reducing equivalents to desaturate lipids (17). There is 38% homology between the plant and the mammalian NADPH:cytochrome p450 reductase (105). Protein-protein interactions between mammalian NADPH-cytochrome p450 reductase and cytochrome b(5) enzymes as well as with some cytochrome p450 enzymes have also been demonstrated. The same work also shows that p450 enzymes can interact and form complexes with cytochrome b(5) enzymes suggesting that complexes of these proteins may be involved in desaturation (106).

p450 enzymes have been studied extensively. Several different p450 enzymes share properties with the Vitamin A1 to A2 converting activity including enhanced expression by UV radiation (CYP1A1, CYP1B, CYP4A11, CYP2S1), positive regulation by differentiation (CYP 2 family) and plasma membrane association (CYP2D6, CYP2C11, CYP2E1). It is not yet known whether these enzymes or other CYPs share all properties of the conversion activity, nor whether these enzymes would function similarly within the context of the epidermal keratinocyte. However, all enzymes are inhibited by ketoconazole as is Vitamin A2 biosynthesis in normal and transformed keratinocytes.

A group of p450 enzymes that are responsive to stress signals such as UVA and UVB radiation and may be involved in Vitamin A2 synthesis are CYP1A1, CYP1A2, and CYP1B. These enzymes are known to be upregulated through the aryl hydrocarbon receptor. The ability of this receptor to up regulate target genes increases in differentiated keratinocytes and it has also been shown that UV radiation impacts aryl hydrocarbon receptor signaling and causes induction of CYP1A1 and CYP1B1at the level of transcription (115). It also has been shown that CYP4A11 protein synthesis is up regulated after UV irradiation (41).

Another gene family that is expressed preferentially in extra hepatic tissues in humans and specifically in differentiated keratinocytes is the CYP 2 family of genes. Since CYP2S1 can convert Vitamin A1 acid to its 4-hydroxy and 5,6-epoxy form, it was suggested that it could play an important role in regulating epithelial differentiation and the production of molecules that affect the competency of the epidermal barrier. It was shown that cutaneous CYP2S1 gene expression also was induced by ultraviolet irradiation (31).

Our data demonstrate that Vitamin A1 to A2 conversion is under differentiation control. However, it should be noted that in culture a normal stratum granulosum does not develop. Therefore our data only indicate an increase in Vitamin A2 biosynthesis with differentiation in cells similar to those in the spinous layer of the epidermis. These data and the interpretation are in consistence with the finding of Torma and Vahlquist (124). Also cancers that originate from supra basal layers such as squamous cell carcinoma (SCC) have upregulated synthesis of Vitamin A2, while, cancers that originate from basal layers such as basal cell carcinoma (BCC) do not show any up regulation of Vitamin A2 synthesis. The concentration of Vitamin A2 in keratoacanthoma and SCC is 6-7 times elevated compared to the normal skin levels (130).

We have found that at least one enzymatic activity for Vitamin A1 to A2 conversion is associated with the plasma membrane. Although most of the p450 enzymes are associated with the endoplasmic reticulum membrane, there is a flow of vesicles from these membranes to the plasma membrane via the Golgi apparatus. Some of the p450 enzymes that have been shown by immunofluorescence and immunoperoxidase labeling to reach the plasma membrane in rat and human hepatocytes are members of the CYP2D subfamily (62, 75), CYP2C11 (93), or CYP2E1 (33, 137). Also shown is NADPH-cytochrome c reductase activity associated with the plasma membrane (61).

In contrast to the Vitamin A1 to A2 converting activity, no other retinoid metabolic enzyme has been found associated with the plasma membrane compartment. For instance LRAT (52), ARAT (52, 97) and the Vitamin A1 alcohol dehydrogenases of the short-chain dehydrogenase/reductase (SDR) family (51, 65) are associated with the microsomal fraction, while alcohol dehydrogenases, (66) and the Vitamin A1 aldehyde dehydrogenases (63, 142) are found in the cytosol. This enzyme distribution makes direct competition for substrate (Vitamin A1 alcohol) unlikely and suggests a mechanism that controls substrate distribution.

Also in this work the biological function of Vitamin A2 was examined. First we explored the role of the Vitamin A2 retinoids as molecules capable of limiting UV-induced cell damage. The data showed that not only was Vitamin A2 more effective than Vitamin A1 at preventing UV-induced apoptosis, but that in UVA and in UVB irradiated cells Vitamin A2 synthesis was enhanced. One possible explanation for this effect is that the cells need Vitamin A2 as a protective molecule. We believe that the protection of the cells is provided by both, the greater ability of Vitamin A2 retinoids to absorb UV light without generating toxic decomposition products and by the signaling properties of Vitamin A2 acid.

Some studies have shown that Vitamin A1 retinoids offer protection against UV radiation by absorption (112). Vitamin A is a common example of a conjugated system, with alternating single and double bonds (48), which forms the basis of chromophores – the light absorbing part of a molecule. Molar absorptivity is used to determine and compare the relative strength of light absorption by different chromophores. The molar absorptivity ( $\epsilon$ ) is very large for strongly absorbing chromophores such as retinoids (>10,000) and is small for a weakly absorbing systems (10 to 100). Each additional double bond in the conjugated system shifts the absorption maximum about 30 nm to longer wavelengths. Vitamin A2 alcohol ( $\lambda_{max}$ =352nm) maximal absorption is 26 nm shifted to longer wavelength due to the additional double bond increases the molar absorptivity (132) of Vitamin A2 alcohol ( $\epsilon_{352}$ =41322) compared to Vitamin A1 alcohol ( $\epsilon_{352}$ =26240) (90).

In agreement with these findings we found that the A2 retinoids limited UVA and UVB-induced apoptosis more effectively than the A1 retinoids. Irradiation with UVA (35 or 40 J/cm<sup>2</sup>) or UVB (0.5 or 0.6 J/cm<sup>2</sup>) of cells devoid of retinoids caused an increase of apoptosis 16 hours after post-irradiation. This increase was significant with the higher UVA or UVB doses. With retinoid supplementation we observed two effects. First, both Vitamin A1 and Vitamin A2 reduced apoptosis in retinoid depleted control cells (p<0.05). Second, both Vitamin A1 and Vitamin A2 decreased the extent of UV-induced apoptosis. At the lower doses of UVA (35 J/cm<sup>2</sup>) and UVB (0.5 J/cm<sup>2</sup>) both Vitamin A1 and A2 reduced apoptosis .Vitamin A2 treated cultures reduced the number of apoptotic cells by 77% (UVA) and 66% (UVB) and Vitamin A1 reduction of the number of apoptotic cells was 69% and 64%, respectively. As predicted by its absorption maximum (352 nm), Vitamin A2 offered better protection against UVA than UVB; its maximal absorption spectrum coincides with the UVA wavelength. At the higher irradiations doses (40 J/cm<sup>2</sup> UVA and 0.6 J/cm<sup>2</sup> UVB) Vitamin A2 was able to provide protection, which was at the same significant extent (p<0.02)compared to the irradiated cultures without intracellular retinoids. At these higher doses Vitamin A1 also offers protection but to a much lesser extent (45% – UVA and 31% – UVB reduction of the number of apoptotic cells).

The fact that Vitamin A2 offered better protection may also be explained by the more rapid photodecomposition of the Vitamin A1 retinoids. Although the photodecomposition products were not the subject of our study, their presence and potential cytotoxicity should not be excluded. Photodecomposition of Vitamin A1 retinoids have been studied extensively because of their application in cosmetics (21) and as a UV blockers (6). Even though in some studies Vitamin A1 has been shown to have antioxidant activities (82) under certain conditions it can have pro-oxidant activity. This dual character has also been observed for carotenoids (143). Multiple studies have shown that Vitamin A1 alcohol and esters are subject to photodecomposition (21, 47, 138, 139). UVA irradiation (14 J/cm2) of retinyl palmitate in ethanol resulted in 14 identified photodecomposition products and formation of reactive oxygen species (36). Some of these decomposition products have been shown to be photomutagenic (68, 69). There is also discrepancy between the positive photomutagenicity results for retinyl palmitate in combination with UVA when tested in a mouse lymphoma assay (69) and the negative results obtained in S. typhimurium TA102 (21). This discrepancy may be explained by the mode of action of retinyl palmitate via a clastrogenic mechanism (36).

Also, studies in solution and animal models (111, 127) showed similarities in the photochemical behavior of Vitamin A1. However Vitamin A1alcohol was protected in animal models by binding to RBP or CRBP and this resulted in slower photoegradation compared to the unprotected retinyl esters (116).

Despite the abundance of Vitamin A1 data, little is known about the photophysics, photochemistry, and photobiology of Vitamin A2 alcohol and esters in solution. Although it is known that Vitamin A2 decreases less than A1 after UV irradiations (3, 12, 13), the identity of the Vitamin A2 decomposition products has not been reported. It has also been found that Vitamin A2 can function as an UV

filter (95, 102) and can act as an antioxidant due to its capabilities to quench oxygen, free radicals and singlet oxygen (102). These findings are in agreement with our results and indicate that Vitamin A2 offers better protection against UV irradiation compared to Vitamin A1. Most probably, Vitamin A2 retinoids offered better protection against UV due to both: its high absorptivity and its minimal cytotoxicity.

Because Vitamin A1 and A2 are found at a 4:1 molar ratio in human epidermis and in our cultures, in future studies of UV induced apoptosis it would be of interest to determine the effect of varying the intracellular concentrations of A1 and A2, and thereby to determine if the cytotoxic effect due to photodecomposition of Vitamin A1 after UV irradiation as a result of its higher intracellular concentration.

As both A1 and A2 acids can serve as a transcription factor ligands differences in their transcriptional abilities were evaluated. There are several methods that can be used. Microarrays accommodate an enormous dynamic range of gene expression in a single processing event. However, they yield many false positive and false negative results (26) and interpretation requires multiple experimental and biologic replicates. That is why quantitative real time RT-PCR is used routinely to verify changes in gene expression and this has been shown to be especially important for low abundance messages (94). These validation experiments have often shown quantitative differences between gene expression levels detected with the microarray analysis and guantitative RT-PCR. For example in microarray analyses of STAT gene expression in the rat hippocampus after focal cerebral ischaemia and reperfusion, changes in the gene expression of STAT2, STAT5b and SOCS4 were 5.8, 3.4 and 67 fold respectively. In contrast, the validation experiments using quantitative real time RT-PCR showed increases of 15, 20 and 20-fold, respectively (39). In other studies changes in expression found by microarray were actually altered in the opposite direction when evaluated by quantitative real time RT-PCR assessment (131).

Failures like those described, led to development of a gene expression screening system that is based on real time PCR. The RT Profiler PCR Array System is one of these systems and was used in this work. It combines the sensitivity of real time PCR with the ability to detect the expression of many genes simultaneously. Even though this system allows for more accurate determination of the expression of genes with different mRNA abundance simultaneously, it still has to manage the expression of multiple genes that have different priming efficiency. This array uses an approximation method (delta-delta Ct) to evaluate the fold change in gene expression and assumes that the efficiency with which the targets and the reference (housekeeping) gene transcripts anneal to its primers is the same. It also assumes that all the genes will be amplified with 100% efficiency; this is rarely the case. This is especially critical for genes that have very low mRNA abundance per cell. Due to the differences in the efficiency with which they are primed or amplified false positive or false negative results could arise. For instance in a study on the involvement of MAP kinase signaling in the degradation of extracellular matrix in osteoarthritis

with the RT Profiler PCR Array System, it was demonstrated that MAPK13 and MAPK14 gene expression increased 239 and 1783 fold, respectively. Validation of these results by quantitative real time RT-PCR showed increases of only 4 and 20 fold respectively (98).

Again, it is imperative to validate findings by quantitative real time RT-PCR that gives more accurate results by taking into account the efficiency of detection of the target and the reference (housekeeping) gene and use it in the formula for the calculation of the fold change in gene expression (84).

Using the RT Profiler PCR Array System as the initial screening device we found 12 genes whose expression increased more than 1.5-fold or decreased to less than 0.5 times that of control. The change in the expression of these genes was validated by quantitative real time RT-PCR and three different types of retinoid responding genes were detected: one in which A1 and A2 acids both up regulated gene expression, one in which A1 and A2 retinoids both down regulated gene expression, and one in which the A1 acid significantly up regulated gene expression, but the A2 acid failed to do that. This last group includes only one gene, FASLG, which was significantly (p=0.03) up regulated by 1nM Vitamin A1 acid (8.12±0.24, 11.26±0.34 fold) compared to 1nM Vitamin A2 acid (0.42±0.06, 1.82±0.04 fold). The positive regulation by Vitamin A1 acid is consistent with previous reports (134). As Vitamin A1 acid is concentrated 4-fold more than Vitamin A2 acid, its relatively high potency may be concentration driven. However, it is also possible that these two retinoids alter transcription differently. The data obtained from the treatment with 0.25 nM Vitamin A1 acid showed significant variation in the biological duplicates (2.21±0.19, 15.13±0.29) fold) and is confounding. It is not known whether these differences in FASLG expression are due to small changes in the intracellular Vitamin A1 acid concentration or to other transcriptional regulators sensitive to small differences in the culture confluence. Separate aspect of the gene expression analysis is the translation of the message. Not always more abundant mRNA translates into more protein. It will be important to examine in future studies by Western blotting analysis if the upregulated transcription of FASLG in cells treated with Vitamin A1acid leads also to upregulation of translation of FASLG protein.

It is not unlikely that Vitamin A1 and A2 acids have different abilities to promote transcription. The differences in their chemical structure alter their binding affinities for at least some of the RAR and RXR nuclear receptors. Although it has been shown that Vitamin A1 and A2 acids bind to the RARs with similar affinities and induce transcriptional activation with the same dose dependency (119) it has been shown also that Vitamin A2 acid binds to RXR $\alpha$ with higher affinity than Vitamin A1 acid. Also the ability of Vitamin A2 acid to activate transcription mediated by RXR $\alpha$  homodimers was two to three fold higher than that of Vitamin A1 acid and these authors showed also that Vitamin A2 acid transactivates at least one RXR $\alpha$  heterodimer more effectively than does Vitamin A1 acid (100). The differences in binding and transactivation could be due to conformational differences between the two families. However, other factors may be involved. In attempt to develop agonists and antagonists of Vitamin A1 acid with higher affinity for the different nuclear receptors which in turn can be used as alternative drugs, it was discovered that smaller number of hydrophobic contacts confers preference for the RXR isotype selectivity over RAR (5). The formation of double bond in the  $\beta$ -ionone ring takes away two hydrogen atoms. This results in lower number of hydrophobic contacts that may contribute and explain the higher affinity of Vitamin A2 to RXR.

The complexity of the action of Vitamin A1 and A2 acids may be even more profound if we take into account other nuclear receptor besides RARs and RXRs through which retinoids could modulate gene expression. For example it has been recently shown that PPAR $\beta$ /RXR heterodimers bind Vitamin A1 acid and transactivate genes. It is possible that differences in the binding of Vitamin A1 and Vitamin A2 acids to the nuclear receptors are responsible for the protection against UV induced damage by differential induction of transcription.

Binding of Vitamin A1 and A2 acids to RAR/RXR versus PPAR<sub> $\gamma$ </sub>/RXR are further regulated by the proteins that deliver retinoids to these transcription factors. In cells that express a high CRABP-II/FABP5 ratio, Vitamin A1 acid is directed to RAR/RXR resulting in growth inhibition. In cells that have a low CRABP-II/ FABP5 ratio Vitamin A1 acid is directed to PPAR $\beta/\delta$ , up-regulating survival pathways (107, 136, 71). Thus, it is also necessary to explore the relative binding of Vitamin A1 and A2 acids to CRABP-II and FABP5.

The differential transcriptional activity of Vitamin A1 and A2 acids may be further facilitated by nuclear receptor coregulators. They can act by remodeling the chromatin structure for example by acetylation (p160 family, CBP/p300), methylation (CARM1, PRMT) or at the level of the preinitiation complex (TATA box-binding protein associated factors, positive factors-PC, etc.) and facilitate gene transcription.

In summary dependent upon the expression of binding proteins, nuclear receptors, nuclear coactivators/corepresors the same ligand (for instance Vitamin A1 or A2 acid) can have different effects in different cell types. Because each of these proteins may be regulated by differentiation, the same ligand may have different effects in the same cell type but at different stage of differentiation.

Based on our findings we propose that Vitamin A2 retinoids protect cells from the damaging effect of UV radiation in two ways. First, they serve as a UV protective shield by absorbing the harmful radiation. This facilitates protection by lowering the effect of UV radiation on important molecules such as DNA. Vitamin A2 retinoids protect the basal and suprabasal layers of the skin. In the basal layer this helps prevent UV induced mutations in the stem cell compartment that can lead to malignant transformation. In addition Vitamin A2 decreases UV induced apoptosis and spares the cells required to maintain epidermal integrity and permeability barrier. Second, Vitamin A2 acid may act as transcription factor that modifies cell response to UV radiation.

In future studies it would be of interest to determine whether Vitamin A2 retinoids exposed to UVA/B radiation generate less or less toxic photodecomposition products than Vitamin A1 retinoids which may lessen the genotoxic UV damage. It would also be of interest to determine whether Vitamin

A2 acid blunts the effect of Vitamin A1 acid on gene transcription initially by evaluating its ability to suppress the observed Vitamin A1 acid enhanced transcription of FASLG. Ultimately the relative impact of Vitamin A2 retinoids on sun-protected and sun-exposed skin will be required to determine the protective and therapeutic potential of this retinoid family.

# **FUTURE STUDIES**

It has been shown that compared to Vitamin A1 esters, Vitamin A2 esters more effectively protect cultured epidermal keratinocytes from undergoing apoptosis after UV radiation. The stability of Vitamin A2 and its enhanced synthesis post-irradiation further suggests that these retinoids serve a protective role in UV-exposed keratinocyte. Therefore it would be of interest to

- Determine whether Vitamin A2 esters prevent DNA strands break and thymidine dimer formation to lessen genotoxic UV damage.
- Determine whether Vitamin A2 esters exposed to UVA/B generate less or less toxic photodecomposition products than Vitamin A1 esters.

Furthermore, as Vitamin A2 acid is transcriptionally active and differs from Vitamin A1 acid in the up regulation of FASLG, it would be of interest to

- Determine whether Vitamin A2 acid blunts the effect of Vitamin A1 acid on gene transcription initially by evaluating its ability to suppress the observed Vitamin A1 acid enhanced transcription of FASLG
- Determine whether Vitamin A1 and A2 acid differentially alter the transcription of UVA or UVB exposed keratinocytes
- Expand gene expression profiling beyond that of p53 related genes to include genes encoding nuclear receptors and coregulators

## REFERENCES

1. Alberts, B., Bray, D., Lewis, J., Raff, M., Roberts, K., Watson, J. D., (1994) *Molecular Biology of the Cell*, Third edition: 162-165.

2. Allenby, G., Bocquell, M. T., Saunders, M., Kazmer, S., Speck, J., Rosenberger, M., Lovey, A., Kastner, P., Grippo, J., Chambon, P., Levin, A., (1993) Retinoic acid receptors and retinoic acid X receptors: Interactions with endogenous retinoic acids, *Proceedings of the National Academy of Science*, 90: 30-34.

3. Anderson, E., Rosdahl, I., Torma, H., Vahlquist, A., (1999) Ultraviolet radiation depletes cellular retinol and alters the metabolism of retinoic acid in cultured human keratinocytes and melanocytes, *Melanoma Research*, 9 (4): 339-346.

4. Andersson, E., Rosdahl, I., Torma, H., Vahlquist, A., (2003) Differential effects of UV radiation on nuclear retinoid receptor levels in cultured keratinocytes and melanocytes, *Experimental Dermatology*, 12 (5): 563-571.

5. Angel, R., de Lera, Bourguet, W., Altucci, L., Gronemeyer, H., (2007) Design of selective nuclear receptor modulators: RAR and RXR as a case study, *Nature Reviews Drug Discovery*, 6: 811-820.

6. Antille, C., Tran, C., Sorg, O., Carraux, P., Didierjean, L., Saurat, J.-H., (2003) Vitamin A exerts a photoprotective action in skin by absorbing ultraviolet B radiation, *Journal of Investigative Dermatology*, 121: 1163 - 1167.

7. Assefa, Z., Laethem, A. V., Garmyn, M., Agostinis, P., (2005) Ultraviolet radiation-induced apoptosis in keratinocytes: On the role of cytosolic factors, *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA)*, 1755 (2) 25: 90-106.

8. Atkinson, P.H., Summers, D.F., (197I) Purification and Properties of HeLa Cell Plasma Membrane, *The Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 216: 5162 - 5175.

9. August (2002) Ultraviolet radiation: global solar UV index, *World Health Organization*, Fact sheet number 271.

10. Barua, A.B., (1991) Methods Enzymology, 189: 136 - 145.

11. Barua, A. B., Olson, J. A., (1998) Reversed-phase gradient high-performance liquid chromatographic procedure for simultaneous analysis of very polar to

nonpolar retinoids, carotenoids and tocopherols in animal and plant samples, *Journal of Chromatography B: Biomedical Sciences and Applications*, 707 (1-2): 69-79.

12. Berne, B., Nilsson, M., Vahlquist, A., (1984) UV irradiation and cutaneous vitamin A: an experimental study in rabbit and human skin, *Journal of Investigative Dermatology*, 83 (6): 401-404.

13. Berne, B., Vahlquist, A., Fischer, T., Danielson, B. G., Berne, C., (1984) UV treatment of uraemic pruritus reduces the vitamin A content of the skin, *European Journal of Clinical Investigation*, 14 (3): 203-206.

14. Blaner, W. S., Olson, J. A., (1994) Cellular biology and biochemistry of the retinoids, *The Retinoids: Biology, Chemistry, and Medicine*, 2nd ed. M. B. Sporn, A. B. Roberts, D. S. Goodman, editors. Raven Press, New York: 283-318.

15. Bligh, E.G., Dyer, W.J, (1959) A rapid method of total lipid extraction and purification, *Canadian Journal of Biochemistry and Physiology*, 37: 911 - 917.

16. Boudjelal, M., Wang, Z., Voorhees, J. J., Fisher, G. J., (2000) Ubiquitin/proteasome pathway regulates levels of retinoic acid receptor  $\gamma$  and retinoic X receptor  $\alpha$  in human keratinocytes, *Cancer Research*, 60 (15): 2247-2252.

17. Brankova, L., Ivanov, S., Alexieva, V., (2007) The induction of microsomal NADPH:cytochrome P450 and NADH:cytochrome b(5) reductases by long-term salt treatment of cotton (*Gossypium hirsutum L*.) and bean (*Phaseolus vulgaris L*.) plants, *Plant Physiology and Biochemistry*, 45 (9): 691-695.

18. Carloty, M. E., Rossatto, V., Gallarate, M., (2002) Vitamin A and Vitamin A palmitate stability over time and under UVA and UVB radiation, *International Journal of Pharmaceutics*, 240: 85 - 94.

19. Chambon, P., (1996) A decade of molecular biology of retinoic acid receptor, *FASEB Journal*, 10: 940-954.

20. Chaturvedi, V., Qin, J-Z., Stennett, L., Choubey, D., Nickoloff, B. J., (2004) Resistance of UV-induced apoptosis in human keratinocytes during accelerated senescence is associated with functional inactivation of p53, *Journal of Cellular Physiology*, 198: 100-109.

21. Cherng, S-H Qingsu Xia, Lonnie R. Blankenship, James P. Freeman, Wayne G. Wamer, Paul C. Howard, and Peter P. Fu (2005) Photodecomposition of Retinyl Palmitate in Ethanol by UVA Light-Formation of Photodecomposition Products, Reactive oxygen Species, and Lipid peroxides, *Chemical Research in Toxicology*, 18: 129 - 138.

22. Cho, H. P., Nakamura, M., Clarke S. D., (1999) Cloning, Expression, and Fatty Acid Regulation of the Human  $\Delta$ -5 Desaturase, *The Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 274 (52): 37335–37339.

23. Chouinard, N., Rouabhia, M., (1999) Effects of all-trans retinoic acid on UVB-irradiated human skin substitute, *Journal of Cellular Physiology*, 181: 14-23.

24. Chouinard, N., Valerie. K., Rouabhia. M., Huot. J., (2002) UVB-mediated activation of p38 mitogen-activated protein kinase enhances resistance of normal human keratinocytes to apoptosis by stabilizing cytoplasmic p53, *Biochemical Journal*, *365* (1): 133-145.

25. Chytil, F., (1983) Vitamin A and skin, *Principles of Cutaneous Pharmacology*, 1187-1199.

26. Cole, S. W., Galic, Z., Zack, J. A., (2003) Controlling false-negative errors in microarray differential expression analysis: a PRIM approach, *Bioinformatics*, 19 (14): 1808–1816.

27. Darwiche, N., Bazzi, H., El-Touni, L., Abou-Lteif, G., Doueiri, R., Hatoum, A., Maalouf, S., Gali-Muhtasib, H., (2005) Regulation of ultraviolet B radiationmediated activation of AP1 signaling by retinoids in primary keratinocytes, *Radiation Research*, 163: 296-306.

28. Decraene, D., Agostinis, P., Pupe, A., De Haes, P., Garmyn, M., (2001) Acute response of human skin to solar radiation: regulation and function of the p53 protein, *Journal of Photochemistry and Photobiology B: Biology*, 63: 78-83.

29. De LeenHeer, A. P., Lambert, W. E., Claeys, I., (1982) All-trans-retinoic acid: measurement of reference values in human serum by high performance liquid chromatography, *Journal of Lipid Research*, 23: 1362-1367.

30. Devery, Y., Gottlieb, R. A., Lau., F., Karin, M., (1991) Rapid and peripheral activation of the c-*jun* gene during the mammalian UV response, *Molecular and Cellular Biology*, 11 (5); 2804-2811.

31. Du, L., Hoffman, S. M.G., Keeneya, S. D., (2004) Epidermal CYP2 family cytochromes P450, *Toxicology and Applied Pharmacology*, 195: 278–287.

32. Eckhoff, C., Nau, H., (1990) Identification and quantitation of all-trans and 13*cis*-retinoic acid and 13-*cis*-4-oxo-retinoir acid in human plasma, *Journal of Lipid Research*, 31: 1445-1454.

33. Eliasson, E., Kenna, J. G., (1996) Cytochrome P450 2E1 is a cell surface autoantigen in halothane hepatitis, *Molecular Pharmacology*, 50 (3): 573-582.

34. Fisher, G.J., Datta, S. C., Talwar, H. S., Wang, Z.Q., Varani, J., Kang, S., Voorhees, J. J., (1996) Molecular basis of sun-induced premature skin ageing and retinoid antagonism, *Nature*, 379: 335-339.

35. Fisher, G. J., Taiwar, H. S., Lin, J., Lin, P., McPhillips, F., Wang, Z.Q., Li, X., Wan, Y., Kang, S., Voorees, J. J., (1998) Retinoic acid inhibits induction of c-jun protein by ultraviolet radiation that occurs subsequent to activation of mitogen activated protein kinase pathways in human skin *in vivo*, *Journal of Clinical Investigation*, 101 (6): 1432-1440.

36. Fu, P.P., Xia, Q., Yin, J.J., Cherng, S. H., Yan, J., Mei, N., Chen, T., Boudreau, M. D., Howard, P. C., Wamer, W. G., (2007) Photodecomposition of vitamin A and photobiological implications for the skin, *Photochemistry and Photobiology*, 83 (2): 409-24.

37. Furr, H. C., (2004) Analysis of retinoids and carotenoids: problems resolved and unsolved, *The Journal of Nutrition*, 134 (1): 281S-285S.

38. Geeraert, L., Mannaerts G. P., Van Veldhoven, P. P., (1997) Conversion of dihydroceramide into ceramide: involvement of a desaturase, *Biochemical Journal*, 327: 125–132.

39. Getchell, T. V., Liu, H., Vaishnav, R. A., Kwong, K., Stromberg, A. J., Getchell, M. L., (2005) Temporal Profiling of Gene Expression During Neurogenesis and Remodeling in the Olfactory Epithelium at Short Intervals After Target Ablation, *Journal of Neuroscience Research*, 80: 309–329.

40. Godar, D. E., (1999) UVA1 radiation triggers two different final apoptotic pathways, *The Journal of Investigative Dermatology*, 112 (1): 3-12.

41. Gonzalez, M. C., Marteau, C., Franchi, J., Migliore-Samour, D., (2001) Cytochrome P450 4A11 expression in human keratinocytes: effects of ultraviolet irradiation, *British Journal of Dermatology*, 145 (5): 749-757.

42. Haung, C., Ma, W.Y., Hanenberger, D., Cleary, M. P., Bowden, G.T., Dong, Z., (1997) Inhibition of ultraviolet B-induced activator protein-1 (AP-1) activity by aspirin in AP-1-luciferase transgenic mice, *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 272: 26325-26331.

43. He, Y-Y., Pi, J., Huang, J-L., Diwan, B. A., Waalkes, M. P., Chignell, C. F., (2006) Chronic UVA irradiation of human HaCaT keratinocytes induces malignant transformation associated with acquired apoptotic resistance, *Oncogene*, 25: 3680-3688.

44. Heck, D. E., Gerecke, D. R., Vetrano, A. M., Laskin, J. D., (2004) Solar ultraviolet radiation as a trigger of cell signal transduction, *Toxicology and Applied Pharmacology*, 195: 288-297.

45. Hollstein, M., Sidransky, D., Vogelstein, B., Harris, C. C., (1991) p53 mutations in human cancers, *Science*, 253: 49–53.

46. Hyekyung, P., Manabu, C., Nakamura, T., Clarke, S. D., (1999) Cloning, Expression, and Nutritional Regulation of the Mammalian  $\Delta$ -6 Desaturase, *The Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 274 (1): 471–477.

47. Ihara, H., Hashizume, N., Hirase, N., Suzue, R., (1999) Esterification makes retinol more labile to photolysis, *Journal of Nutritional Science and Vitaminology*, 45 (3): 353-358.

48. IUPAC Compendium of Chemical Terminology, 2<sup>nd</sup> Edition (1997), 1994, *66*: 1099.

49. Jagger, J., (1961) A small and inexpensive ultraviolet dose-rate meter useful in biological experiments, *Radiation Research*, 14: 394 - 403.

50. Jiang, W., Ananthaswamy, H. N., Muller, H. K., Kripke, M. L., (1999) p53 protects against skin cancer induction by UV-B radiation, *Oncogene*, 18: 4247-4253.

51. Jurukovski, V., Markova, N.G., Karaman-Jurukovska, N., Randolph, K. R., Su, J., Napoli, J. L., Simon, M., (1999) Cloning and characterization of retinol dehydrogenase transcripts expressed in human epidermal keratinocytes, *Molecular Genetics and Metabolism*, 67: 62-73.

52. Jurukovski, V., Simon, M., (1999) Reduced lecithin:retinol acyltransferase activity in cultured squamous cell carcinoma lines results in increased substratedriven retinoic acid synthesis, *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta*, 1436: 479-490.

53. Kang, H. J., Song, M. R., Lee, S. K., Shin, E. C., Choi, Y. H., Kim, S. J., Lee, J. W., Lee, M. O., (2000) Retinoic acid and its receptors repress the expression and transactivation functions of Nur77: a possible mechanism for the inhibition of apoptosis by retinoic acid, *Experimental Cell Research*, 256 (2): 545-54.

54. Karlsson, T., Vahlquist, A., Kedishvili, N., Törmä, H., (2003) 13-*cis*-retinoic acid competitively inhibits 3 alpha-hydroxysteroid oxidation by retinol dehydrogenase RoDH-4: a mechanism for its anti-androgenic effects in sebaceous glands? *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications*, 303 (1): 273-278.

55. Klaidman, L. K., Leung, J. D., Adams Jr., (1995) High-performance liquid chromatography analysis of oxidized and reduced pyridine dinucleotides in specific brain regions, *Analytical Biochemistry*, 228: 312-327.

56. Klotz, L. O., Pellieux, C., Briviba, K., Pierlot, C., Aubry, J. M., Sies, H., (1999) Mitogen-activated protein kinase (p38-,JNK-, ERK-) activation pattern induced by extracellular and intracellular singlet oxygen and UVA, *European Journal of Biochemistry*, 260: 917-922.

57. Kulms, D., Schwarz, T., (2002) Molecular mechanism involved in UV-induced apoptotic cell death, *Skin Pharmacology and Applied Skin Physiology*, 15: 342-347.

58. Lee, M. O., Kang, H. J., Kim, Y. M., Oum, J. H., Park, J., (2002) Repression of FasL expression by retinoic acid involves a novel mechanism of inhibition of transactivation function of the nuclear factors of activated T-cells, *European Journal of Biochemistry*, 269 (4): 1162-1170.

59. Leverkus, M., Yaar, M., Gilchrest, B., (1997) Fas/Fas ligand interaction contributes to UV-induced apoptosis in human keratinocytes, *Experimental Cell Research*, 232 (2): 255-262.

60. Lin, J. Y., Fisher, D. E., (2007) Melanocyte biology and skin pigmentation, *Nature*, 445 (7130): 843-850.

61. Loeper, J., Descatoire, V., Maurice, M., Beaune, P., Belghiti, J., Houssin, D., Ballet, F., Feldmann, G., Guengerich, F. P., Pessayre, D., (1993) Cytochromes P-450 in human hepatocyte plasma membrane: recognition by several autoantibodies, *Gastroenterology*, 104 (1): 203-216.

62. Loeper, J., Descatoire, V., Maurice, M., Beaune, P., Feldmann, G., Larrey, D., Pessayre, D., (1990) Presence of functional cytochrome p-450 on isolated rat hepatocyte plasma membrane, *Hepatology*, 11 (5): 850-858.

63. López-Fernández, L. A., del Mazo, J., (1997) The cytosolic aldehyde dehydrogenase gene (Aldh1) is developmentally expressed in Leydig cells, *FEBS Letters*, 407 (2): 225-229.

64. Mangelsdorf, D. J., Umesono, K., Evans, R.M., (1994) *In The Retinoids: Biology, Chemistry and Medicine*, 2<sup>nd</sup> edition. Ed. MB Sporn, AB Roberts, DS Goodman. Raven Press: td. New York, pp 319-349.

65. Markova, N. G., Pinkas-Sarafova, A., Karaman-Jurukovska, N., Jurukovski, V., Simon, M., (2003) Expression pattern and biochemical characteristics of a major epidermal retinol dehydrogenase, *Molecular Genetics and Metabolism*, 78 (2): 119-135.

66. Martras, S., Alvarez, R., Gallego, O., Domínguez, M., de Lera, A. R., Farrés, J., Parés, X., (2004) Kinetics of human alcohol dehydrogenase with ring-oxidized retinoids: effect of Tween 80, *Archives of Biochemistry and Biophysics*, 430 (2): 210-217.

67. Matsumura, Y., Ananthaswamy, H.N., (2002) Short-term and long-term cellular and molecular events following UV irradiation of skin: Implications for molecular medicine, *Expert Reviews in Molecular Medicine*, *4* (26): 1-22.

68. Mei, N., Xia, Q., Chen, L., Moore, M. M., Chen, T., Fu, P. P., (2006) Photomutagenicity of anhydroretinol and 5,6-epoxyretinyl palmitate in mouse Lymphoma cells, *Chemical Research in Toxicology*, 19: 1435-1440.

69. Mei, N., Xia, Q., Chen, L., Moore, M. M., Fu, P. P., Chen, T., (2005) Photomutagenicity of retinyl palmitate by ultraviolet A irradiation in mouse Lymphoma cells, *Toxicological Sciences*, 88 (1): 142-19.

70. Meunier, L., Voorhees, J. J., Cooper, K. D., (1996) in vitro retinoic acid modulates expression of the class II major histocompatibility complex and function of antigen-presenting microphages and keratinocytes in ultraviolet-exposed human skin, *The Journal of Investigated Dermatology*, 106 (5): 1042-1046.

71. Michalik, L., Wahli, W., (2007) Guiding ligands to nuclear receptors, *Cell*, 129 (4): 649-651.

72. Michel, C., van Echten-Deckert, G., Rother, J., Sandhoff, K., Wangi, E., Merrill, A. H. Jr., (1997) Characterization of Ceramide Synthesis: A Dihydroceramide Desaturase Introduces the 4,5-trans-Double Bound of Sphingosine at the Level of Dihydroceramide, *The Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 272 (36): 22432–22437.

73. Moor, T., (1967) Effects of vitamin A deficiency in animals, *The vitamins* (Eds. Sebbrell, W. R. Jr.& Harris, R. S) *Academic press*, New York: 245-266.

74. Mrass, P., Rendl, M., Mildner, M., Gruber, F., Lengauer, B., Ballaun, C., Eckhart, L., Tschachler, E., (2004) Retinoic acid increases the expression of p53 and proapoptotic caspases and sensitizes keratinocytes to apoptosis: A possible explanation for tumor preventive action of retinoids, *Cancer Research*, 64: 6542-6548.

75. Muratori, L., Parola, M., Ripalti, A., Robino, G., Muratori, P., Bellomo, G., Carini, R., Lenzi, M., Landini, M. P., Albano, E., Bianchi, F. B., (2000) Liver/kidney microsomal antibody type 1 targets CYP2D6 on hepatocyte plasma membrane, *Gut*, 46 (4): 553-561. 76. Nakashima, S., Zhao, Y., Nozawa, Y., (1996) Molecular cloning of  $\Delta$ -9 fatty acid desaturase from the protozoan *Tetrahymena thermophila* and its mRNA expression during thermal membrane adaptation, *Biochemical Journal*, 317: 29-34.

77. Napoli, J. L., (1996) Retinoic acid biosynthesis and metabolism, *FASEB Journal*, 10: 993-1001.

78. Napoli, J. L., (1986) Retinol metabolism in LLC-PK1 cells, *The Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 261 (29): 13592-13597.

79. Newcomer, M. E., (1995) retinoid-binding proteins: structural determinations important for function, *FASEB Journal*, 9: 229-239.

80. Olson, J. A., (1968) Some aspects of vitamin A metabolism, *Vitamins and Hormones*, 26:1-63.

81. Olson, J. A., (1967) The metabolism of vitamin A, *Pharmacologic Review*, 19 (4): 559-596.

82. Palace, V. P., Khaper, N., Qin, Q., Singal, P. K., (1999) Antioxidant potentials of vitamin A and carotenoids and their relevance to heart disease, *Free Radical Biology and Medicine*, 26 (5-6): 746-761.

83. Petrulis, J. R., Perdew, G. H., (2001) Monitoring nuclear import with GFPvariant fusion proteins in digitonin - permeabilized cells, *BioTechniques*, 31: 772-775.

84. Pfaffl, M. W., (2001) A new mathematical model for relative quantification in real-time RT-PCR, *Nucleic Acids Research*, 29 (9): e45.

85. Pinkas- Sarafova, A., Markova, N. G., Simon, M., (2005) Dynamic changes in nicotinamide pyridine dinucleotide content in normal human epidermal keratinocytes and their effect on retinoic acid biosynthesis, *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications*, 336: 554-564.

86. Qin, J-Z., Bacon, P., Panella, J., Sitailo, L, A., Denning, M. F., Nickoloff, B. J., (2004) Low-dose UV-radiation sensitizes keratinocytes to TRAIL-induced Apoptosis, *Journal of Cellular Physiology*, 200 (1): 155-166.

87. Randolph, R. K., Simon, M., (1993) Characterization of retinol metabolism in cultured human epidermal keratinocytes, *The Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 268 (13): 9198 – 9205.

88. Randolph, R. K., Simon, M., (1998) Dermal fibroblasts actively metabolize retinoic acid but not retinol, *The Journal of investigated Dermatology*, 111(3): 478-484.

89. Randolph, R. K., Simon, M., (1997) Metabolism of al-*trans*-retinoic acid by cultured human epidermal keratinocytes, *Journal of Lipid Research*, 38: 1374-1383.

90. Redfern, C. P. F., (1998) Retinoid Protocols, *Methods in Molecular Biology*, Volume 89, ISBN: 0-89603-438-0.

91. Reynolds, N. J., Fisher, G. J., Griffiths ,C. E. M., Tavakkol, A., Talwar, H. S., Rowse, P.E., Hamilton, T. A. Voorhees, J. J., (1993) Retinoic acid metabolites exhibit biological activity in human keratinocytes, mouse melanoma cells, and hairless mouse skin *in vivo*, *The Journal of Pharmacology and Experimental Therapeutics*, 266: 1636-1642.

92. Rheinwald, J.G., Green, H., (1975) Serial cultivation of strains of human epidermal keratinocytes: the formation of keratinizing colonies from single cells, *Cell*, 6: 331 – 344.

93. Robin, M.A., Maratrat, M., Le Roy, M., Le Breton, F. P., Bonierbale, E., Dansette, P., Ballet, F., Mansuy, D., Pessayre, D., (1996) Antigenic targets in tienilic acid hepatitis. Both cytochrome p450 2C11 and 2C11-tienilic acid adducts are transported to the plasma membrane of rat hepatocytes and recognized by human sera, *The Journal of Clinical Investigation*, 98 (6): 1471-1480.

94. Rogojina, A.T., Orr, W. E., Song, B. K., Geisert, E. E. Jr., (2003) Comparing the use of Affymetrix to spotted oligonucleotide microarrays using two retinal pigment epithelium cell lines, *Molecular Vision*, 6 (9): 482-496.

95. Roll, B., Amons, R., De Jong, W.W., (1996) Vitamin A2 bound to cellular retinol-binding protein as ultraviolet filter in the eye lens of the gecko *Lygodactylus picturatus*, *The Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 271 (180): 10437-10440.

96. Rollman, O., Wood, E. J., Olsson, M. J., Cunliffe, W. J., (1993) Biosynthesis of 3,4-didehydroretinol from retinol by human skin keratinocytes in culture, *Biochemistry Journal*, 293: 675-682.

97. Ross, A.C., (1982) Retinol esterifcation by rat liver microsomes. Evidence for a fatty acyl coenzyme A: retinol transferase, *The Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 257: 2453-2459.

98. Ruettger, A., Schueler ,S., Mollenhauer, J. A., Wiederanders, B., (2008) Cathepsins B, K, and L are regulated by a defined collagen type II peptide via activation of classical protein kinase C and p38 MAP kinase in articular chondrocytes, *The Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 283 (2): 1043-1051.

99. Saitoh, A., Kawanabe, T., Weidong, H., Kayagaki, N., Kawamura, T., Yagita, H., Okumura, K., Shimada, S., (2000) Selective upregulation of fibroblast Fas ligand expression, and prolongation of Fas/Fas ligand-mediated skin allograft survival, by retinoic acid: the skin as a retinoide-inducible immune privilege site, *Journal of Investigative Dermatology*, 115 (2): 154-61.

100. Sani, B. I., Venepally, P. R., Arthur A., Levin, A. A., (1997) Didehydroretinoic acid: retinoid receptor-mediated transcriptional activation and binding properties, *Biochemical Pharmacology*, 53: 1049-1053.

101. Santamaria, A. B., Davis, D. W., Nghiem, D. X., McConkey, D. J., Ullrich, S. E., Kapoor, M., Lozano, G., Ananthaswmy, H. N., (2002) p53 and Fas ligand are required for psoralen and UVA-induced apoptosis in mouse epidermal cells, *Cell death and differentiation*, 9: 549-560.

102. Schalch, W., (1992) Carotenoids in the retina--a review of their possible role in preventing or limiting damage caused by light and oxygen, *EXS*, 62: 280-298.

103. Seliskar, M, Rozman, D., (2007) Mammalian cytochromes P450-importance of tissue specificity, *Biochimica and Biophysica Acta*, 1770 (3): 458-466.

104. Shantz, E. M., (1948) Isolation of Pure Vitamin A2, *Science*, New Series 108 (2807): 417-419.

105. Shet, M. S., Sathasivan, K., Arlotto, M. A., Mehdy, M. C., Estabrook, R. W., (1993) Purification, characterization, and cDNA cloning of an NADPH-cytochrome P450 reductase from mung bean, *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences U S A*, 90 (7): 2890-2894.

106. Shimada, T., Mernaugh, R. L., Guengerich, F.P., (2005) Interactions of mammalian cytochrome P450, NADPH-cytochrome P450 reductase, and cytochrome b(5) enzymes, *Archives of Biochemistry and Biophysics*, 435 (1): 207-216.

107. Schug, T. T., Berry, D. C., Shaw, N. S., Travis, S. N., Noy, N., (2007) Dual transcriptional activities underlie opposing effects of retinoic acid on cell survival, *Cell*, 129 (4): 723-733.

108. Smith, M. L., Ford, J. M., Hollander, M. C., Bortnick, R., Amundson, S., Seo, Y. R., Deng, C-X. Hanawalt, P. C., Fornace, A. J., JR (2000) p53-Mediated DNA Repair Responses to UV Radiation: Studies of Mouse Cells Lacking *p53*, *p21*, and/or *gadd45* Genes, *Molecular and Cellular Biology*, 20 (10): 3705–3714.

109. Soprano, D., Blaner, W. S., (1994) Plasma retinol-binding protein. *In The Retinoids: Biology, Chemistry, and Medicine*. 2nd ed. M. B. Sporn, A. B. Roberts, and D. S. Goodman, editors. Raven Press, New York: 257-282.

110. Sorg, O., Tran, C., Carraux, P., Didierjean, L., Falson, F., Saurat, J. H., (2002) Oxidative stress-independent depletion of epidermal Vitamin A by UVA, *The Journal of Investigative Dermatology*, 118 (3): 513-518.

111. Sorg, O., Tran, C., Carraux, P., Didierjean, L., Saurat, j. H., (1999) Retinol and retinyl ester epidermal pools are not identically sensitive to UVB irradiation and antioxidant protective effect, *Dermatology*, 199: 302-307.

112. Sorg, O., Tran, C., Carraux P., Grand, D., Hugin, A., Didierjean, L., Saurat, J.-H., (2005) Spectral properties of topical retinoids prevent DNA damage and apoptosis after acute UV-B exposure in hairless mice, *Photochemistry and Photobiology*, 81: 830 - 836.

113. Stryer, L., (1995) *Biochemistry* Fourth edition: 622-624.

114. Svobodova, A., Walterova, D., Vostalova, J., (2006) Ultraviolet light induced alteration to the skin, *Biomed Pap Med Fac University Palacky Olomouc Czech Republic*, 150 (1): 25-38.

115. Swanson, H. I., (2004) Cytochrome P450 expression in human keratinocytes: an aryl hydrocarbon receptor perspective, *Chemico-Biological Interactions*, 149: 69–79.

116. Tang, G., Webb, A. R., Russell, R. M., Holick, M. F., (1994) Epidermis and serum protect retinol but not retinyl esters from sunlight-induced photodegradation, *Photodermatology, Photoimmunology and Photomedicine*, 10 (1): 1-7.

117. Tashtous, B. M., Jacobson, E. L., Jacobson, M. K., (2008) UVA is the major contributor to the photodegradation of tretionin and isotretionin: Implications for development of improved pharmaceutical formulations, *International Journal of Pharmacology*, 352 (1-2): 123-128.

118. Thaller, C., Eichele, G., (1990) Isolation of 3,4-didehydroretinoic acid, a novel morphogenetic signal in the chick wing bud, *Nature*, 345: 815-819.

119. Torma, H., Asselineau, D., Andersson, E., Martin, B., Reiniche, P., Chambon, P., Shroot, B., Darmon, M., Vahlquist, A., (1994) Biologic activities of retinoic acid and 3,4-didehydroretinoic acid in human keratinocytes are similar and correlate with receptor affinities and transactivation properties, *Journal of Investigative Dermatology*, 102: 49-54.

120. Torma, H., Rolland, O, Vahlquist, A., (1999) The vitamin A metabolism and expression of retinoid-binding proteins differ in HaCaT cells and normal human keratinocytes, *Archives of Dermatological Research*, 291: 339-345.

121. Torma, H., Stenstrom, E., Andersson, E., Vahlguist, A., (1991) Synthetic retinoids affect differently the epidermal synthesis of 3,4-didehydroretinol, *Skin Pharmacology*, 4 (4): 246-253.

122. Torma, H., Vahlquist, A., (1985) Biosynthesis of 3-dehydroretinol (Vitamin A2) from all-trans retinol (Vitamin A1) in human epidermis, *Journal of Investigative Dermatology*, 85: 498-500.

123. Torma, H., Vahlquist, A., (1988) Identification of 3-dehydroretinol (vitamin A2) in mouse liver, *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta*, 961 (2): 177-182.

124. Törmä, H., Vahlquist, A., (1991) Retinol uptake and metabolism to 3,4didehydroretinol in human keratinocytes at various stages of differentiation, *Skin Pharmacology*, 4 (3): 154-157.

125. Torma, H., Vahlquist, A., (1990) Vitamin A esterification in human epidermis: a relation to keratinocytes differentiation, *Journal of Investigative Dermatology*, 94 (1): 132-138.

126. Tóth, R., Szegezdi, E., Reichert, U., Bernardon, J. M., Michel, S., Ancian, P., Kis-Tóth, K., Macsári, Z., Fésüs, L., Szondy, Z., (2001) Activation-induced apoptosis and cell surface expression of Fas (CD95) ligand are reciprocally regulated by retinoic acid receptor alpha and gamma and involve nur77 in T cells, *European Journal of Immunology*, 31(5): 1382-1391.

127. Tran, C., Sorg, O., Carraux, P., Didierjean, L., Saurat, J. H., (2001) Topical delivery of retinoids counteracts the UVB-induced epidermal vitamin A depletion in hairless mouse, *Photochemistry Photobiology*, 73 (4): 425-431.

128. Vahlquist, A., (1980) The identification of dehydroretinol (vitamin A2) in human skin, *Experientia*, *36*: 317-318.

129. Vahlquist, A., (1999) What are natural retinoids? *Dermatology*, 199: 3-11.

130. Vahlquist, A., Anderson, E., Coble, B-I., Rollman, O., Torma, H., (1996) Increased concentrations of 3,4-Didehydroretinol and Retinoic Acid-Binding Protein (CRABPII) in Human Squamous Cell Carcinoma and Keratoacanthoma But Not in Basal Cell Carcinoma of the Skin, *The Journal of Investigative Dermatology*, 106 (5): 1070-1074. 131. Veeriah, S., Miene, C., Habermann, N., Hofmann, T., Klenow, S., Sauer, J., Bohmer, F., Stefan Wolfl, S., Pool-Zobel, B. L., (2008) Apple polyphenols modulate expression of selected genes related to toxicological defense and stress response in human colon adenoma cells, *International Journal of Cancer*, 122: 2647–2655.

132. Visible and Ultraviolet spectroscopy, http://www.cem.msu.edu/~reusch/VirtualText/Spectrpy/UV-Vis/spectrum.htm.

133. Wang, Y., Rosenstein, B., Goldwyn, S., Zhang, X., Lebwohl, M., Wei, H., (1998) Differential regulation of *p53* and *Bcl-2* expression by ultraviolet A and B, *Journal of Investigative Dermatology*, 111: 380–384.

134. Weidong, H. E., Yuing, Z., Fangji, S., Saitoh, A., Shimada, S., (2000) Factors influencing the expression of Fas and Fas ligand on newborn murine keratinocytes and fibroblasts, *Chinese Medical Journal*, 113 (9): 833-835.

135. Werten, P. L., Roll, B., Van Aalten, D. M. F., DeJong, W., W., (2000) Gecko ι-cristaline: How cellular retinol binding protein became an eye lens ultraviolet filter, *PNAS*, 97 (7): 3282-3287.

136. Wolf, G., (2008) Retinoic acid as cause of cell proliferation or cell growth inhibition depending on activation of one of two different nuclear receptors, *Nutrition Reviews*, 66 (1): 55-59.

137. Wu, D., Cederbaum, A.I., (1992) Presence of functionally active cytochrome P-450IIE1 in the plasma membrane of rat hepatocytes, *Hepatology*, 15 (3): 515-524.

138. Xia, Q., Yin, J. J., Cherng, S-H., Wamer, W. G., Boudreau, M.D., Howard, P. C., Fu, P. P., (2006) UVA photoirradiation of retinyl palmitate--formation of singlet oxygen and superoxide, and their role in induction of lipid peroxidation, *Toxicology Letters*, 163: 30 - 43.

139. Xia, Q., Yin, J. J., Wamer, W. G., Cherng, S-H., Boudreau, M.D., Howard, P. C., Yu, H., Fu, P. P., (2006) Photoirradiation of retinyl palmitate in ethanol with ultraviolet light-formation of photodecomposition products, reactive oxygen species, and lipid peroxides, *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 3 (2): 185-190.

140. Xu, G., Marcusson, J. A., Hemminki, K., (2001) DNA Photodamage Induced by UV phototherapy lamps and sunlamps in human skin in situ and its potential importance for skin cancer, *Journal of Investigative Dermatology*, 116: 194–195. 141. Yan, J. J., Xia, Q., Cherng, S-H., Wamer, W. G., Howard, P. C., Yu, H., Fu, P. P., (2005) Photo-induced DNA damage and photocytotoxicity of retinyl palmitate and its photodecomposition products, *Toxicology and Industrial Health*, 21 (7-8): 167-175.

142. Yoshida, A., Hsu, L. C., Davé, V., (1992) Retinal oxidation activity and biological role of human cytosolic aldehyde dehydrogenase, *Enzyme*, 46 (4-5): 239-244.

143. Young, A. J., Lowe, G.M., (2001) Antioxidant and prooxidant properties of carotenoids, *Archives of Biochemistry and Biophysics*, 385 (1): 20-27.